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ABSTRACT 

 

The movement for forest conservation began in the United States shortly after the Civil War. A 

variety of people became interested in preserving and perpetuating the forests about that time. 

They included scientists and scientific groups alarmed over forest depletion, both because of the 

indirect effects of the forests in perpetuating water flow, and for fear of a timber scarcity; 

recreational and aesthetic groups, desiring to preserve areas of unique scenic beauty; and men 

disturbed by violation of public land laws and the corrupt alliance of economic interests and 

politics. In the Pacific Northwest—Washington and Oregon—recreational groups made efforts to 

preserve the Crater Lake and other scenic areas in the Cascades. 

The efforts of the conservationists were crowned with success in 1891, when a bill permitting the 

President to set aside forest reserves was passed. Through the work of local groups, four such 

reserves were set aside in the Pacific Northwest between 1891 and 1893. Two, the Cascade 

Range Reserve and the Pacific Forest Reserve, were set aside primarily to preserve scenic areas. 

Two others, the Bull Run Forest Reserve and the Ashland Forest Reserve, were set aside to 

protect city watersheds. In 1897, through recommendations of the National Academy, three other 

reserves were set aside in the state of Washington—the Olympic, the Rainier, and the 

Washington Forest Reserves. 

The years 1897 to 1905 were spent by the national government in trying to get an efficient forest 

administration. The federal forests were under three bureaus with conflicting jurisdiction. 

General control of the reserves was under the General Land Office, while the Geological Survey 

and the Bureau of Forestry had specialized functions in connection with the reserves. 

Administration under the Land Office was corrupt and inefficient, and conservationists desired 

transfer of the forests to a bureau staffed by professional foresters. After an eight-year fight, the 

reserves—now called the National Forests—were placed under the Forest Service in 1905, with a 

professional forester—Gifford Pinchot—heading the bureau. 

During those years, a number of local problems were met in the Northwest. A grazing policy, 

which later became a model for the national policy, was established in the Cascade Range in 

1897. In Washington, several reserve boundaries were redrawn and the reserves reduced in size, 

in response to local pressures. In both Washington and Oregon, a number of new reserves were 

created after survey by the bureau of Forestry and the Geological Survey. Local sentiment varied 

greatly toward given reserves; in general, support or opposition depended on whether the reserve 

helped or hindered local interests. 

Administrative decentralization of the National Forests began in 1905 and was completed in 

1908. Under the district foresters, the local administration had a great deal of self government. 

The first two district foresters, E. T. Allen and C. S. Chapman, put administration of the forests 

on a professional basis; made the beginning of a policy for timber management and helped 

establish a grazing policy for all the forests in the district. 

The period between 1905 and 1913 was marked in the region by a series of attacks on the Forest 

Service by a coalition of conservative politicians and land looters. The people, as a whole, 



however, supported the Forest Service, and efforts to undermine or end the federal forest policy 

failed. More important than these attacks was the growing cooperation—the triple alliance—of 

state, federal and private timberland owners, expressed through a variety of guild asociations, 

among which the Western Forestry and Conservation Association was the most important. By 

1913 the Northwest set a model for the rest of the country in cooperative fire protection, and was 

ready to extend their work into other forest problems. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PREFACE 

 

There are three approaches possible in studying the history of forest conservation. It may be 

studied as part of a world movement, as Fernow studied it in his History of Forestry; or from the 

standpoint of the nation, as did John Ise and Jenks Cameron; or from the standpoint of a given 

region, as did Charles McKinley in his administrative study of Federal land resource policies in 

the Pacific Northwest. 

As a world movement, forest conservation offers an interesting story. Forest conservation 

practices were well established in Europe by the beginning of the nineteenth century; and that 

century marked the spread of the movement to the overseas colonies of Europe and to the new 

countries of the world. Developments in governmental forest control and management in the 

United States were paralleled by similar developments in Canada, New Zealand, Australia, and 

India. There was a great deal of interdependence in the movement, for science recognizes no 

national boundaries. Much of the early forestry work in India was done by the German forester, 

Diedrich Brandis. Foresters in France, England, and Italy were influenced by the publication in 

1864 of a book by an American, George Perkins Marsh's Man and Nature. Bernhard Eduard 

Fernow was born and educated in India, Germany, and became the leader of the movement in 

both the United States and Canada. Gifford Pinchot owed much of his training to Brandis and 

Fernow, studied carefully the Indian system of forest control as a model, and himself initiated 

forestry practices in the Philippines. Californians and Oregonians looked to the Australian 

system of range and forest management for solutions to American problems. The comparative 

history of the movement offers interesting possibilities for research. 

Yet though the movement was a world one, its fortunes varied from country to country. Such 

matters as federal or unitary governments; political, historical or cultural traditions; and 

differences in soil, topography and climate all effected the movement. The movement for forest 

conservation started in Canada at almost exactly the same time, and with the same men and 

voluntary association taking part, as in the United States; but the movement there has followed a 

different course. Each country has its own history of forest administration. 

The third approach is the regional one, which is used in the present study. Federal policies of 

resource management have never had a uniform impact on all parts of the United States. The 

government is federal rather than unitary, with local governments jealous of their own powers. 

The country has a variety of physiographic provinces, so laws of general application may not 

work equally well in all parts of the country. A standard and often quoted example is the poor 

suitability of land laws framed in the humid east to the semi-arid Rocky Mountain West. Finally, 

land policies are apt to become partisan political issues, aligning party against party, section 

against section or state against state. For example, continued Federal control of Indian and public 

grazing lands was a vital issue during the Congressional election of 1954, in Montana, Oregon 

and Wyoming. 

From a second point of view the regional approach is useful. Administration in all federal 

bureaus having to do with resource management is to some degree decentralized. Each of the 

administrative districts have powers of self-rule, that is, of making decisions without going to 



Washington for approval. In administration of national forests, the Pacific Northwest—the states 

of Oregon and Washington—was recognized as an administrative region to some extent as early 

as 1897; and complete decentralization took place in 1908. The amount of authority delegated to 

the Forest Service is large—larger, perhaps, than that of any other bureau. Just as the states serve 

as social laboratories for working out experiments in legislation, so the administrative regions 

serve as technical laboratories for working out plans that may have a nation-wide application. 

And just as the story of government in the United States cannot be told without reference to the 

states, so the story of resource management must take into account the regional units, as well as 

the central agency. 

In undertaking a regional study, two things must be borne in mind. First, the region does not 

exist in isolation. Its relation to the national picture, and to other regions must be recognized. A 

regional study referring only to the region itself is apt to be antiquarian in nature; one related to 

the nation will illuminate both regional and national developments. 

Second, the sub-regions within the region must also be recognized. The state itself is an 

administrative unit, in government and in resource management. Two adjoining states in the 

same Federal administrative regions may have widely differing policies in handling their own 

resources, and in reaction to a Federal program. Oregon and Washington are in the same Federal 

forest region, where policies are made by the state regional office in Portland. But the states have 

different systems of handling their state-owned timber land. In Washington, management of the 

land is a political matter; in Oregon, it is on a professional and non-political basis. In addition, 

sub-regions based on physiography, climate, industry, and culture must be recognized. Such 

differing areas as the arid east side, and humid west side, of the Cascade mountains; the long-

settled Willamette valley and the booming Puget Sound country; and the dominance of Portland 

as a metropolis, all provided local variations within the region. 

I have been indebted to three groups of people in writing this thesis. The History Department of 

the University of Washington, especially Charles M. Gates, W. Stull Holt, and Max Savelle, 

have continually encouraged me, and by suggestion and criticism given the work form and 

substance. I am also indebted to Northern Montana College for leave of absence from my 

teaching duties. 

Librarians and archivists, both in the east and the northwest, have given freely of their time and 

help in running down material. I am especially indebted to Harold Pinkett and Helen Finneran of 

the Natural Resources Division of the National Archives who helped direct my search in that 

vast collection. 

Members of the United States Forest Service have helped me in a great many ways. They have 

given me a great deal of information on persons and personalities; the time of which I am writing 

is not far in the past, and many still recall the period under discussion. They have also given me 

some idea of the high professional code under which they operate. Finally, if there is any 

evidence that in this thesis I have enough technical knowledge to distinguish a tamarack from a 

cockleburr, it is due to having learned it from association with that group. 

 



CHAPTER 1 

BACKGROUND OF THE FOREST CONSERVATION 
MOVEMENT, 1860-91 

 

I 

Accordingly when later on in the nineties, the movement was in due course brought to 

success and signalized a victory, it should be remembered that it was a victory not of any 

one, but of many—a culminating victory—shared in by one and all alike, who, through 

the preceding years, had taken a part in the slow-moving process of molding popular 

thought along the lines of the movement. [1] 

The history of forest conservation before 1890 can be divided into three periods. The first period, 

that from 1607-1776, was marked by rapid exploitation of the forest resources, accompanied by 

attempted crown regulation of forest use, and by flagrant breaking of the regulations. The second 

period, from 1776-1860, was that of almost unrestricted exploitation and waste of the forest 

resources by westward moving pioneers and by growing businesses. Forest resources were 

wasted, both because of inadequate land laws and a feeling that the supply was inexhaustible. 

The period 1860-90 was marked by a two-fold trend; first, an ever more rapid use and 

exploitation of the timber resources, caused by the rapid spread of population into the trans-

Mississippi West, new developments making for larger business units, and technical 

developments in the lumber industry; and, second, the growing awareness of groups throughout 

the country that the process of wasting resources must come to an end, and the efforts of these 

groups to bring about a new and sane management of the nation's timber resources. The first two 

periods are, for our purposes, not necessary to the story; but the third must be touched on, as a 

necessary prologue to the main theme. 

II 

It should be remarked in the beginning that no single group or individual can be given full credit 

for the growth and success of the movement for forest conservation. This was rather the result of 

action and thought by several groups, working either independently or together, for a variety of 

things concerned with forest and forest influences. The movement involved a complex 

interaction of federal and state action; scientific and transcendental thinking; and rural and urban 

groups. Scholars writing on the subject have resembled the blind men viewing the elephant; 

each, in dealing with his particular segment of the beast, has imagined it to be the whole. [2] 

The process of disposal of the public domain increased after the Civil War at an increased rate. 

The Homestead Act and its numerous subsidiary acts were used widely by both bona fide settlers 

and by those who perverted the laws for their own purposes. Much land was donated through the 

public domain in the form of educational grants, at first in the form of two sections to each 

township, and later in separate liberal grants for education. In aid of transportation, 94 million 

acres were granted; for roads and canals, 10 million acres; and 65 million acres were given as 

swamp lands. [3] 



TABLE 1 

THE PUBLIC DOMAIN, HOW DISPOSED OF PERCENTAGES 

 

 

The story of the public domain is a familiar one, and the phases of our primary concern are in 

regard to timber lands. There existed no good law in regard to timber lands, designed to get a 

land unit large enough for continuous logging operation into the hands of the operators. Land 

laws had been designed with the small owner in mind, and the homestead laws were primarily 

for agriculturalists. An exception was grants to railroads and to wagon road companies, many of 

them in timbered country. 

Two laws passed to fill this need had little success. The Timber and Stone Act and the Timber 

Cutting Act were both passed in 1878. The Timber Cutting Act authorized citizens of the states 

of the Rocky Mountain West to cut timber without charge on the public domain for mining or 

domestic use; while the Timber and Stone Act provided that timber lands in the states of 

California, Oregon, Washington and Nevada might be sold in areas not to exceed 160 acres per 

person. In such sale, the entryman would make affidavit that the timber or stone was for personal 

use and that the entry was not made for speculation or any other commercial purpose. [4] 



The new land laws did little to better the situation, and like the old laws, were the subject of 

abuse. There was wholesale abuse of the Timber Cutting Act by corporations and lumbermen. 

Land office agents concerned with timber trespass were few and inactive; and often the Registers 

and Receivers of the local land offices were in sympathy with the depredators. Trespass cases 

were often settled out of court after 1882, with minor amounts recovered in proportion to the 

losses. The Timber and Stone Act was used by large corporations rather than by bona fide 

settlers; often large corporations entered the land and required their laborers to make entries and 

convey over to the corporation their entries at $2.50 per acre. The value of a single large tree 

would pay for the entry, and many more entries besides. 

Other laws were also abused. Much timber land was homesteaded, or commuted, in order to get 

the timber. Much of the best timber land in California was taken up as swamp land. The states, 

with a few exceptions, sold their school lands readily to operators; and many of the wagon road 

and railroad grants came into the hands of lumbermen. Under the Indemnity Act of 1874 

railroads, when their grants conflicted with bona fide settlers' claims, were permitted to select in 

lieu other lands; and often valuable tracts of timber lands were substituted for lands of less value. 

Furthermore, railroads were permitted to cut timber for ties on their right of way; but often 

trespassed far beyond the limits of their right of way to cut timber for commercial use. Despite 

protests against this exploitation—coming from the west as well as the east—the Department of 

the Interior was either reluctant or impotent during much of this time to curb the exploitation. [5] 

Though exploitation continued, there came also to be concern over the devastation of the public 

domain. The precise root of the feeling is difficult to arrive at; that is, the main current of thought 

can be arrived at, but the precise mixture of various strands of thought are hard to unravel. To 

some extent the conservation movement was aesthetic in nature, expressing a desire to preserve 

areas of unique scenic beauty from the herds of the flocksmen or the saws of the lumbermen. Of 

such origin was the efforts of interested groups to create Yellowstone, Yosemite, and Crater 

Lake National Parks, and the later desire to preserve park areas in the region of Grand Canyon 

and Mt. Rainier—the desire to have parks for the people as a whole, rather than private ones for 

use of wealthy landowners. Although suggested by George Catlin, and probably others, Henry 

David Thoreau gave the belief its most popular expression in The Maine Woods: 

The kings of England formerly had their forests "to hold the king's game" for sport or 

food, sometimes destroying villages to create or extend them; and I think they were 

impelled by a true instinct. Why should not we, who have renounced the king's authority, 

have our national preserves, in which the bear and panther, and some even of the hunter 

race, may still exist, and not be "civilized off the face of the earth," our forests, not to 

hold the king's game merely, but to hold and preserve the king himself also, the lord of 

creation—not for idle sport or food, but for inspiration and our own true recreation? or 

shall we, like the villains, grub them all up, poaching on our own domains? [6] 

Thoreau undoubtedly read Catlin's statement, but this does not necessarily imply he was indebted 

to Catlin for the thought; the idea was in the air at the time. See Hiram Martin 

Chittenden, History of Yellowstone National Park (Stanford, 1933), pp. 69-70. 



Thomas G. Manning, in a paper read at the American Historical Association Meeting of 1952, 

stressed the national park movement as an expression of the nationalistic spirit of the country 

after the Civil War. 

This feeling had long been latent in Americans, but was hastened by the rapid urbanization and 

development of industry in the post civil war period. The growth of cities, and the changes in the 

landscape occasioned by city growth and large scale exploitation of resources, led groups to seek 

means to preserve the wilderness values. One aspect of this search was the city park movement, 

which went hand in hand with the national park movement. Another was the movement for 

associations of sporting clubs, walking clubs, and fishing clubs, for organized activity in the lines 

of interest of its group. A third was the desire to protect the environs of the city itself, as a 

hinterland in which the city dwellers could seek recreation. [7] 

The recreational spirit was not without its utilitarian aspect as well. The fact that scenic beauty 

helps to attract travelers and tourists was early realized by local boosters in the West. Such cities 

as Colorado Springs, Colorado, and Las Vegas, New Mexico, grew up largely because of their 

attraction to tourists, where they could enjoy the mountain scenery. Civic associations in 

Colorado, Oregon, and California, as well as in the east, boosted the tourist trade by bragging up 

the beauties of the country; and thus became interested in preserving the natural beauties that 

surrounded them. [8] 

A record factor was the growing socialization of the country. Two aspects of this are of 

application here. On the part of agrarian groups, this was indicated in a growing desire to have 

revision of land laws, in order to prevent fraud and aid the settlers in the lands of the west. 

Probably of more importance for the cause of conservation was the growth of public ownership 

in cities. In most cities such utilities as water supply, public markets, city parks, and so on were 

originally operated by private individuals. But the privately owned utilities gave unsatisfactory 

service, and caused interruptions of service. In the face of these conditions, decisions were made 

for the city to build, own and operate their own services. These decisions were not made on the 

basis of any underlying social or economic philosophy, but solely a practical decision, 

recognizing the need for service. [9] 

In the public land states most cities got their water supplies from the wooded districts, on the 

public lands. These lands might well be prey to the flocks of the herdsman, the saw of the 

lumbermen, or the fires of campers. Just as efforts to get a municipal water supply enhanced the 

power of the municipal government, so it enhanced the power of the federal government no 

qualms were felt as to federal encroachment if the end to be gained was justified. 

Fundamentally, however, the movement was scientific in nature. The era was one dominated by 

interest in natural science, though often mingled, like the thinking of Thoreau, with a species of 

transcendentalism. There came a new appreciation of the value of the landscape, when love of 

soil replaced land hunger. The interest was not primarily aesthetic or romantic, though it had 

elements of these in them; it was scientific and realistic, the thinking of geographers, landscape 

planners and scientists. 



The movement was that of a variety of people and groups. George Perkins Marsh was probably 

the first to sense the destruction that was going on, weigh the losses and point out an intelligent 

plan of action. Taking the rise and fall of kingdoms as his theme—a subject ever of interest to 

the American public—he argued the cause was a waste of natural resources. Other popular 

writers followed the same line of argument, such as Nathaniel Shaler, John Muir, and Frederick 

Law Olmsted. By 1890 the idea that there was an intricate and complex relationship between 

soils, water and forests was a matter of common knowledge among most of the American 

people. [10] 

Of more importance in giving basis for the popular writers were the scientific reports made 

during this period. The period after the Civil War marked the establishment by government and 

states of bureaus for scientific study of land management—the Geological Survey, the 

Agricultural Experiment stations and the land grant colleges of the West. In addition there rose a 

large number of professional organizations on state and national level concerned with natural 

resources. Growing urbanization gave rise to recreational and scientific organizations concerned 

with preservation of wild life and of wilderness values, such as the Boone and Crockett Club, the 

Sierra Club, the Audubon Society, and the American Forestry Association. The organizations not 

only acted as propaganda bureaus for dissemination of their points of view, but also gathered in 

the field a considerable body of facts to support their generalizatons, and give a round basis for 

reform. 

III 

With these diverse bases, the movement gained headway during the period from 1860-1891. To 

trace a clear course is difficult, since the work involved work on three levels—the state, the 

federal, and the associational or guild. It may be well to trace these separately, bearing in mind 

their association and mutual interaction. 

The federal government was committed to the disposal of the federal domain; therefore, it was 

logical that the first governmental group to take action should be the states. In these the western 

states led the way. In Colorado, Colonel Edgar Ensign, an Iowa lawyer who migrated to the state, 

and attended the state constitutional convention of 1876, succeeded in getting a provision written 

into the constitution for management of its forest lands. The constitution directed the legislature 

to provide for the protection and management of the state forest lands. The state did nothing to 

implement this proposal at the time, though it did petition Congress to vest possession of the 

federal forest lands in the state in state hands, for control of waters valuable in irrigation. In 1885 

a state forestry commission was appointed, with Ensign in charge. Ensign did some work on the 

county level in controlling burning and educating the people as to the dangers of fire; but the 

commission lapsed for lack of funds. 

In California in 1885 a forest commission was established, headed by Abbot Kinney, a fruit 

grower, business man and town promoter. In 1887 forest experiment stations were established in 

various parts of the state, and John Gill Lemmon, a botanist who had had training under Asa 

Grey, was appointed California State Forester. Like that of Colorado, however, the state ventures 

suffered from lack of finances. Other states, such as Ohio, Minnesota, and Wisconsin, followed 

suit in establishing forest commissions. [11] 



Other action was taken as well. The Hatch Act, and the Morril Act, establishing agricultural 

colleges and experiment stations, exercised an educational influence in states where these were 

established. Working closely with the governmental forest agencies, they served a definite 

purpose in educating the people and breaking them from old, and destructive methods of land 

use. The universities made experiments in tree planting, and laid some little basis for the practice 

of forestry. In general, forestry men from universities had charge of forestry exhibits at the 

World Fairs. All these found popular interest. 

Action began, too, on the level of voluntary associations concerned with forestry and forest 

preservation. The American Academy for the Advancement of Science, in 1873, appointed a 

committee "to memorialize Congress and the several state legislatures upon the importance of 

promoting the cultivation of timber and the preservation of forests and to recommend proper 

legislation for securing these objects." [12] They acted as a pressure group, working on both 

federal and state governments until 1880, but with little success. More important was the 

founding of the American Forestry Association in 1875, which became the chief professional 

organization of those interested in forestry. Its membership was nationwide, though its center of 

gravity remained in Washington, D. C., and in the midwest. Many local associations sprang up, 

the most important probably being the Colorado Forestry Association. 

The associations worked on several levels. Their chief function was perhaps their role in 

educating the people, and acting as a clearing house for information. As with all learned 

societies, in their conclaves papers were read and ideas exchanged, so some nucleus of ideas as 

to forest conservation was gathered. They also served as a potent pressure group, on both state, 

federal, and local level. [13] 

Most of the timbered states passed state fire laws during this time—though there is much 

evidence that they were largely unenforced. [14] Memorials and bills by the dozen poured into 

Congress from state legislatures, civic and professional groups, and friendly congressmen, 

requesting reform of the land laws governing timber or requesting creation of national forests. 

Here again, no single section of the country was predominent; such diverse states as Vermont, 

Ohio, Minnesota, South Dakota, New Mexico, Colorado, and California were represented. [15] 

Edgar Ensign, in his survey of mountain forest conditions in the West, found that there was 

wide-spread discontent in all the states of the Rocky Mountain west with administration of the 

timber land laws. [16] Yet the bills for the most part died in committee. 

Nevertheless, as time went on some work was accomplished. Some of the administrative officers 

in charge of the public domain, notably Carl Schurz, James Williamson and Lucius LaMar, took 

steps to curb the worst abuses of the land laws, and instigated suits against some of the worst 

offenders. [17] More important than this was their printed reports, which did much to alarm the 

public over exploitation of the country. Within Congress itself, some congressmen became 

alarmed over the situation; such men as Pettigrew of North Dakota, Lacy of Arkansas, and Plant 

of Kansas sponsored bills calling for establishment of a rational timber policy. By 1876, through 

the work of the Smithsonian Institute, the New York State Agricultural Society and the 

Department of Agriculture, enough congressmen were convinced of its desirability to establish a 

commissioner of forestry for the nation. Appropriations were meagre, and authority small; but 

successive commissioners utilized the office for collecting statistical information on forests. In 



1886, with the appointment of Bernhard Edouard Fernow to head of the division, new impetus 

was given to governmental work. 

Fernow became the leader of the movement both on the governmental and the associational 

level. A Prussian by birth, educated as a forester, he came to the United States to visit an 

American girl to whom he had become engaged. The visit lasted thirty years, and he became a 

prime mover in the forestry movement, both in the United States and in Canada. He became 

associated as a mining engineer with Abram Hewitt and Rossiter Raymond; worked on their 

forested property in Pennsylvania; and joined the forestry associations which were springing up 

in the area. He rose to head the American Forestry Association, and in 1886 became head of the 

Division of Forestry in the Department of Agriculture. The Division had only an advisory and 

educative function, and no power of administration over forests; but Fernow made it something 

more than a supernumerary department. It became a clearing house for information of forest and 

forest statistics, and offered a means of correlating the activities of associations and federal 

activity. 

As an administrator, Fernow had some great strengths and also some weaknesses. With teutonic 

thoroughness, he traveled over the United States—at his own expense—to view at first hand the 

forests of the nation. Quietly and unobtrusively, he got the numerous associations on national 

and state levels to working for a forest policy together; and on the national level, he got the 

support of a bloc of congressmen who would introduce bills looking toward such a policy. As an 

administrator, however, he aroused some antagonism. Though foreign born, he was acutely 

aware of the necessity of the democratic process, and desired to move no faster than the people 

would stand for and only in accustomed channels. To men like Pinchot, he seemed overly 

cautious. He had little taste for engaging in the inter-bureau rivalry of Washington, and against 

the more dynamic new administrators, such as Gannett of the Geological Survey, he appeared at 

a disadvantage. [18] 

Action on the federal level was slow in coming. Both state and federal policies on land looked to 

disposal, as a means of economic development of the country. The emphasis of a century had 

been, not conserving the wealth of the country, but encouraging each generation to use and 

develop the riches available. There was, in the country, little exact knowledge of forest 

management; such principles as were known were, for the most part gained from European 

observation, and were not necessarily applicable to this country. So much timber was available 

that there seemed no need of restoration; and those who warned of a timber famine were 

regarded for the most part as prophets of doom. The states were jealous of their sovereign rights; 

the federal government was one of limited powers; private individuals insisted on the same rights 

that had been that of their ancestors; and a constructive forest program commensurate with these 

conflicting needs and opinions was hard to arrive at. Added to this was the general moral 

letdown and flabbiness of the government in the post-civil war era. Yet there is every evidence 

that the states and the people in general were far ahead of Congress in sensing the need for a 

forest policy. Congress, and especially the Senate, where the members were not popularly 

elected, were dominated by economic man, more interested in private gain than in public good. 

Many members had a personal and immediate interest in exploitation of the public domain, and 

were reluctant to brook any interference with this freedom. [19] 



Congress yielded slowly to the pressure from those who favored forest legislation. Bill after bill 

was introduced in almost every congress years after 1876; some the product of members of 

Congress, some the result of petitions from state legislatures or municipalities or individuals, in 

Colorado, New Mexico, and California, some written by Fernow or other members of forestry 

associations and presented through friendly congressmen. Some of the bills looked to a 

comprehensive forest policy; others petitioned for withdrawal of specific areas in the mountains 

of Colorado, New Mexico, Montana, and California as forest reserves. Only one of the bills got 

out of committee. As one historian has written: 

At the time the Western States were urging the reservation of public lands and when the 

Forestry Congress proposed their transfer to the states, the Federal Government made no 

move to withhold them from disposal and only occasional gestures to protect them from 

fires and depreciation. [20] 

Almost by accident, the work of all these groups finally reached fruition in 1891. In that year a 

group of scientists, including Edgar Ensign, Edward Bowers, Fernow, and others, conferred with 

Secretary of the Interior Noble, on the matter of reserving and protecting the public forest lands. 

Against some formidable opposition on the part of John Wesley Powell, they managed to 

persuade Noble of the desirability of the legislation. On midnight of March 3, 1891, the 

Secretary managed to get a rider on a bill, then in conference committee, giving the President the 

power to set aside forest reservations. No record debate was made, and the bill became law on 

March 3, 1891. [21] 

IV 

In the early movement for forest conservation, from 1860 to 1890, the Pacific Northwest—

Oregon and Washington—played but little part. Nevertheless, the changes that took place, both 

in the area itself and in its sub-regions, during this time had a significant effect on the fortunes of 

the movement there. 

First, there were important changes in transportation and communication which affected the 

district. In the period from 1840 to 1880 the area had been isolated from the main area of the 

United States. There had developed over this time because of the isolation and because of certain 

common ideals and attitudes the immigrants had brought with them, a set of cultural and social 

attitudes that Lancaster Pollard describes as "area-kinship." The settled areas were small, and the 

region was dominated by Portland. This city dominated the social and cultural life in the 

Willamette Valley and to The Dalles on the east, and its hinterland extended over the area both 

east and west of the mountains. 

During the 80's the railroads reached the west coast in this region, with terminals at Portland, 

Seattle, and Tacoma. The railroads ended the region's isolation, bringing in people of a different 

regional and cultural background than those already there. Oregon experienced a population 

increase of 80 per cent in the decade from 1880 to 1890; Washington, 380 per cent. 

In Oregon the new population was rapidly assimilated and did not affect the cultural pattern a 

great deal. The bulk of the newcomers settled in the Willamette Valley among the old 



Oregonians and rapidly became a part of the community. Such was not the case in Washington. 

Not only was the increase greater, but within the Puget Sound area a great number were drifters 

and people on the move, with a much more confused political and social background than in the 

Willamette Valley. The Willamette Valley had a great deal of stability; the Puget Sound area a 

boom psychology. [22] 

There were significant shifts in industry also during this time. Most important in regard to 

conservation were the changes in the lumber and the grazing industry. Passage of the first bill to 

establish a conservation policy in the United States, in 1891, coincided with the shift of the 

lumber industry from the lake states to the Puget Sound area. Several things brought about the 

shift; probably the two most important factors were cutting over of the pineries in the lake states 

and completion of transcontinental railroads. The chief cutting was in the State of Washington, in 

the Puget Sound area, where railroads, water transportation, and pure stands of old growth 

Douglas fir attracted loggers from the lake states. By 1889 lumber production in Washington 

equaled that of Minnesota, and by 1909 led that of the United States. [23] 

The sheep industry also became important during this time. The sheep industry in Oregon had 

had an early start in the Willamette Valley. The sheep were of fine quality, and as early as the 

decade 1860-70 sheep were exported from Oregon to other areas, where they commanded a 

premium price. As farms grew in the valley, summer range was resorted to in the mountains, and 

sheep husbandry shifted from the farm variety to the range system. By the 1870's sheep grazing 

was well established in the Blue Mountains. About the same time the area in the foothills of the 

Cascades, in Wasco County near The Dalles, was utilized, and as settlement progressed further 

south on the east side, first the foothills, then the middle elevations, and finally the mountain 

meadows were utilized. Sheep grazing started on the east side of the Cascades in Washington 

about the same time, beginning in the Yakima Valley, and extending up along the east side of the 

Cascades to the Colville Indian Reservation. [24] 

The period from 1870 to 1890 was the period of the great sheep trails, when the range lands of 

Wyoming, Idaho, and Montana were stocked with sheep from Oregon and Washington and 

California. Sheep were driven overland from the coast states to the new range land in the Rocky 

Mountain west in great numbers annually. Exact statistics are hard to arrive at; the figure of 3 to 

4 million exported from Oregon alone during this period is probably a conservative one. [25] 

Both states were plagued by the usual evasions and perversions of the land laws that were typical 

of most of the public land states. This story is a familiar one, and need not be elaborated on. 

Bearing in mind that the general tendency was the same, some specific circumstances peculiar to 

each state should be recounted, in regard to the school land. 

Oregon was hampered by weak laws protecting her school lands—a circumstance which gave 

rise to one of the most publicized land scandals in the west. By a law passed in 1887, it became 

mandatory for the state to sell her unsurveyed school lands at $l.25 per acre. Other state land, 

such as swamp land, had also come into the hands of speculators at less than its real value 

through land rings in close touch with the state legislature, and by 1890 there was some 

sentiment opposing this tendency. [26] 



In Washington the situation was somewhat different. This state profited by the work of William 

Henry Harrison Beadle, the Surveyor-General of Dakota Territory. Beadle had become alarmed 

at the waste of the school land in the older states, and had insisted that Dakota, and the other 

states included in the Omnibus Bill of 1889 as well, have in their state constitutions clauses 

protecting their state land. By the constitution of these states, the school land could not be sold 

for less than its appraised value, and for not less than $10 per acre. [27] 

Although the Pacific Northwest was not among the prime movers for a program of forest 

conservation, it was not immune from the currents of intellectual life. Here the first influence to 

be felt came from the Willamette Valley urban centers. In this, the oldest settled part of the 

Northwest, the needs of a forest policy were evident. People here as elsewhere read the scientific 

reports dealing with the forests, and speculated pro and con the effects of grazing on the forests 

reported by Muir. With growing cities came the desire to protect the city water supplies against 

the axe of the woodsmen or the herds of the flockowner. And in Oregon, as elsewhere in the 

country, some elements in the population became tired of fraud in the administration of land 

laws. 

The first movements in the northwest came from recreational groups. Blessed with an unequaled 

natural heritage, Oregonians took full advantage of their chief assets, the mountains and the sea. 

Summer excursions were made by road or steamboat to resort towns along the coast, where 

swank resorts of almost Newportian elegance catered to the Portlander society, and where others 

might rent summer cabins or camp in the dunes. [28] The mountains, too, had their share of 

devotees. In buckboards, on horseback or bicycles, or on foot, people headed for the hills in 

summer—fishing for trout or salmon in the Santiam or the Clackamas, the scene of Rudyard 

Kiplng's most famous fishing exploit; [29] camping in the wilds of the Cascades, or gathering 

huckleberries in old burns or mountain meadows. Summer hotels sprang up, where people might 

hike, fish, or rock on the front porch and enjoy the natural beauty around them. [30] For those to 

whom the heights called, Cloud Cap Inn was built in 1889, anchored to the rock on the very 

slopes of Mount Hood. 

Of the mountain lovers, none was more enthusiastic than William Gladstone Steel, who had 

come to Portland from the treeless plains of Kansas. Combining the love of nature of a Thoreau 

with the booster spirit of a Babbit, he spent his spare time in boosting the mountain scenery of 

the Pacific Northwest. He took the lead in forming the Oregon Alpine Club, organized in 1887. 

This club and its successor, the Mazamas, played much the same role in the forest conservation 

movement and park movement in Oregon that the Sierra Club did in California. The Alpine 

Club's membership had its headquarters in Portland, and included among its members many 

important Portland business men, bankers, and city officials, such as Henry W. Corbett, Henry L. 

Pittock, William Ladd, and George Mitchell. The membership was not limited to Portland, 

however; Hood River, Salem, The Dalles, and other cities in the hinterland of Portland were 

represented among its members. Of especial importance were Malcolm Moody of The Dalles, 

the second man to ascend Mt. Adams and later to be Oregon's representative in Congress, and 

the Langille family of Hood River and Cloud Cap Inn, who were to play an important part in the 

movement for forest conservation. 



Steel's chief claim to fame has come as a result of his activities in relation to Crater Lake. He 

visited the lake in 1885. Impressed by the natural beauty of the area, and encouraged by the 

success of Montana and California groups in reserving areas of unique scenic beauty from entry, 

Steel began a campaign for reservation of the lake and its surrounding country. Singlehanded, 

and at his own expense, he circulated a petition asking for the area to be made a public park. The 

petition was signed by a large share of Oregon's office-holders and wealthy men, and on January 

30, 1886, the area was withdrawn from entry. No provision was yet made to make it a park, 

however; that campaign took another sixteen years. [31] 

Two years after the reservation of the Crater Lake area, another attempt was made to withdraw 

an area of scenic beauty, this time by John B. Waldo. Waldo was the son of an Oregon pioneer, 

and a one-time state judge. He was a mountain lover, who spent his summers exploring the 

mountains and lakes in the Cascades. Each year he would leave the valley in early summer, and 

head for the wildest and remotest parts of the Cascades, either alone or with such friends as John 

Minto, the State Horticulturist, or William Gilbert, the Federal District Court Justice. A man of 

wide learning, and possessor of a large library, he had become concerned about the permanent 

losses to the country by the policy of land disposal. 

In 1889 Waldo was elected to the Legislative Assembly of Oregon. Inspired by the writings of 

Thoreau, and probably by the examples of Colorado and of California, he introduced House Joint 

Memorial No. 8, "praying Congress to set aside and forever reserve, for the uses therein 

specified, all that portion of the Cascade Range throughout the State, extending twelve miles on 

each side, substantially, of the summit of the range." 

The projected reserve had a variety of purposes. One clause in the memorial stated: 

That the altitude of said strip of land, its wildness, game, fish, water and other fowl, its 

scenery, the beauty of its flora, the purity of its atmosphere, and healthfulness, and other 

attractions, render it most desirable that it be set aside and kept free and open forever as a 

public reserve, park, and resort for the people of Oregon and of the United States. 

However, the memorial also cites the value of the forests, waterflow, the indirect effects of the 

forests on climate, and use of the area as a game preserve. 

The projected management of the reserve was ingenious. It stands out as an early and unique 

attempt at federal-state partnership in managing resources, and was markedly in contrast to the 

prevalent manner of withdrawing areas without making provision for their administration. In 

addition to the reason already cited, the memorial cited the value of the forests in protecting the 

sources of streams, the indirect influences of the forests on climate, and use of the area as a game 

preserve. The management was to be in the hands of a board, headed by the governor of the 

state, and consisting of six men named by the governor, and six by the President of the United 

States. The commissioners would also serve as state game commissioners. They would guard the 

game, and could give leases of not over fifteen years duration, for resorts in the reserve, provided 

that no resort be over 40 acres in area or be closer than five miles to another. The commission 

would report to the legislature each session, making recommendations as to improvement of the 

area and recommend legislation to protect the fish, game and natural beauty. Grazing would be 



prohibited in the area except by stock in transit or by campers' saddle and pack stock. No market 

shooting or fishing would be permitted within the reserve. Mines could be worked, but claims 

would be declared void if assessment work ceased for a period of two years; and railroads 

crossing the area could take the timber and stone needed for construction of the line, and no 

more. The boundary was to be established by survey. 

On introduction the memorial was referred to a special committee, consisting of one member 

from each of the counties on either side or the range bordering the proposed reservation. 

Amendments were made in committee, largely to please the grazing interests. The Jackson 

County delegation demanded that grazing land in that county in the extreme southern part of the 

state be withdrawn from the projected reserve, and the adjacent portions of Klamath County 

were withdrawn also. Also the prohibition of grazing was postponed for a period of ten years, 

allowing sheepmen to find new ranges. As amended, the memorial was recommended for 

passage, and passed by a unanimous vote. 

In the Senate, however, the memorial met a different fate. The sheep interests had gathered their 

forces, and the measure, after being referred to the Committee on Public lands, was tabled. [32] 

It remained for William Gladstone Steel to revive the idea after the passing of the act of 1891. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 2 

RESERVES IN THE NORTHWEST, 1891-97 

 

The act of 1891 was taken advantage of promptly in Colorado, New Mexico, California, and 

Wyoming. Groups in these states, such as the Sierra Club and the Colorado Forestry Association, 

had long desired such a law, which made possible the creation of those reserves the West had 

agitated for during the last decade. Within two years of the passage of the enabling law, 16 

reserves in the western states, plus one in Alaska, were established with an area of over 17 

million acres. As Fernow wrote: 

The reservations were established usually on the petition of citizens residing in the 

respective states and after a due examination, the forestry association acting as an 

intermediary. [1]  

The mechanics of the act were simple. Memorials or petitions by interested persons or groups 

were sent in, to the Secretary of the Interior, the Commissioner of the General Lend Office, or 

the President; all of these eventually came into the hands of the Commissioner. The area under 

question was examined by Special Agents of the Land Office, who collected information not 

only on the desirability of reserving the area, but also of public sentiment in reference to the 

proposed withdrawal. If the reports were favorable, notice of the impending withdrawal would 

be published in a newspaper printed in the area for a period of six weeks, to allow full expression 

of public opinion on the matter. Then, if in the opinion of the Commissioner and the Secretary, 

the withdrawal seemed justified, they would make their recommendation to the President, and 

the withdrawal would be made. [2] 

In the Pacific Northwest there were no such groups as existed in Colorado and in California, 

working closely with the eastern forestry associations. The Oregon Alpine Club, which might 

well have become the prime mover in such matters, had no eastern connection, and what James 

High has called an "obscure rider" to another bill passed without notice. [3] Nevertheless, there 

existed forces, in city needs and in recreational desires, which led to use of the bill within a short 

time. 

I 

Ashland, Oregon, was at this time the largest town insouthwestern Oregon. Located in a fertile 

intermontane valley near BearCreek, the largest tributary of Rogue River, her physical assets 

wereconsiderable. The town was on the line of the Oregon and Californiarailroad, and had 

therefore direct connection with both Portland andCalifornia. The climate was mild and adapted 

to fruit growing; peachgrowing had been tried with such success that a packing and canningplant 

had located there. A woolen mill, a saw mill, a grist mill and afive-stamp quartz mill were 

located in the city; and cultural life wasenriched by the presence there of one of the state normal 

schools. Stockraisers in the foothills, and prospectors in the mountains, made thistheir supply 

center. Ashland's proximity to Crater Lake, and thepresence near the city of soda springs and hot 

springs, were gaining hersome repute as a tourist center. An ample supply of pure water 

wasavailable from Bear Creek, which headed in the mountains to the south,in the basins around 



Ashland Butte, a snow-covered peak of 8,000 feetelevation, some twelve miles to the south. The 

population of the cityhad doubled in a period of ten years, from 842 in 1880 to 1,784 in 1890.[4] 

In 1889, the water works were enlarged and relocatedat a higher elevation, to take care of the 

increased city needs. Butthere was need to protect the water supply. With this in mind, at ajoint 

meeting of the mayor and City Council and the Board of Trade in1892, a petition was drafted 

and sent to Senator J. N. Dolph of Oregon.The petition requested that a forest reserve be created 

in Township 40and part of Township 39 S, R 1E, W.M., to the south of the city, fromwhich area 

they obtained their water. The area to be reserved, theywrote, was timber land, and they needed it 

to protect their water supplyfrom "timber land speculators and other types of vandals." 

Dolphforwarded the letter to the President, who sent it to the Land Officefor consideration. 

The petition languished for some time; as will beseen, the question of the type and number of 

reserves to be created inthe Cascades became a tangled one. About a year later Max Pracht, 

anemployee of the Treasury Department, investor in suburban developmentcalled Peachblow 

Paradise Orchards, and perpetual writer of letters tothe editor, wrote again, asking for a reserve, 

lest timber landspeculators locate in the area and "mulct" the people of Ashland. Noprotests to 

the reserve were filed, and the reserve was proclaimed onSeptember 28, 1893, the same day that 

the Cascade Reserve was created.[5] 

II 

Portland, also, began to take action at this time. Asthe largest and most rapidly growing city in 

the state, she, too, wasconcerned about her water supply. The water supply had been 

fromsprings, wet weather creeks, and the Willamette River, all of which wereunsatisfactory. By 

a legislative act of 1885, the city was authorized topurchase or construct a more suitable system 

and a Water Committee wasformed to consider the matter. 

Various sources were considered; but, finally, on therecommendation of C. B. Talbot, a civil 

engineer, it was decided to getwater from the Bull Run River, thirty miles east of the city. Talbot, 

toinsure getting the water, filed a claim on the stream for water rights,but there was the need to 

safeguard it further. [6] 

Probably as a result of discussion of the problem attheir monthly meeting, Henry Failing, 

Chairman of the Water Commission,wrote to the Commissioner of the Land Office in January, 

1892, askingthat a reserve be created. A pipeline, he said, was under constructionfrom Portland 

to the head works, where a flow of 7,000 gallons perminute, ample for the city's needs, could be 

obtained. Cutting of timberin the area, he feared, would destroy the purity and diminish the 

flowof the water; consequently a reserve should be established. Thecommunication was 

apparently forwarded through Senator Dolph. At ameeting of the Water Committee on March 2, 

1892, Chairman Failingreported that Senator Dolph had recommended the withdrawal of the 

areaby Presidential order, by which action it could only be restored toentry through act of 

Congress. Dolph also reported that he had endorsedthe request and sent it to Senator Mitchell 

and Representative Hermanfor their signatures. [7] 



On March 12, Thomas H. Carter, Commissioner of theGeneral Land Office, wrote to the 

Secretary of the Interior, citing thecommunication from the Water Committee, and asking that 

the area bereserved under the act of March 3, 1891. Meantime the Water Committeereceived 

support from the Oregon Alpine Club, which had just awakened tothe fact that they had a golden 

opportunity to reserve the Mt. Hoodarea. (Their activities will be described in detail in 

connection withformation of the Cascade Reserve.) On April 30 Frank Dodge wrote to C.E. 

Loomis, Special Agent of the Land Office in charge of investigatingthe area, describing the area 

and urging the withdrawal of it to protectit from invasion by sheepmen, whose habits of "light-

burning" wouldendanger the water supply. Loomis made his examination some time 

betweenApril 30 and May 21. He found the area suitable for reserve purposes; noobjections to 

the withdrawal were filed at that time, and on June 17,1892, the area was withdrawn from entry 

as the Bull Run TimberlandReserve. [8] 

III 

Meantime another reserve had been created to thenorth. Some time in 1891, Cyrus A. Mosier, a 

Special Agent of theGeneral Land Office stationed in Seattle, received orders to examine thearea 

around Mt. Rainier, and to sound out how the people felt about sucha withdrawal. [9] On a trip to 

the PugetSound cities, to sample public opinion, he found the time opportune,since there had 

been heavy floods. In meetings, he used the followingpoints as arguments for creating the 

reserve: (1) that the reserve wouldnot be noticed, since abundant timber was available; (2) that 

privatelyowned timber would become enhanced in value by the withdrawal; (3) thatdenuding the 

land toward the headwaters would cause floods and soilerosion; (4) and that by reserving the 

land at the foot of the mountain,the mountain would remain unsullied in her setting. [10] 

Mosier made some preliminary trips to the mountain in1891, and followed them up in 1892. On 

July 21-30 of that year, hetraveled by way of Eatonville to Longmeier; in August to the 

headwatersof the Puyallup River; in September to Cowlitz Pass, and in lateSeptember over 

Naches Pass to Yakima. His report, accompanied byphotographs, gives a good account of the 

topography, flora and fauna ofthe area, of the progress of irrigation in Yakima and of thelight-

burning habits of sheepmen; but its chief theme is the beauty ofthe mountain. [11] 

In his official report he proposed withdrawal of some967,680 acres, lying between the meridians 

121 and 122. Hisrecommendation includes statements to the effect that the withdrawalwould 

prevent floods, and that no agricultural lands were involved; buthis main point was the unique 

scenic beauty of the area. Botanists,zoologists, and geologists, he pointed out, would benefit by 

thewithdrawal. There would no objections to it by the people of the state,because "it is the wish 

of the people of Washington that these and othersuch lands be set aside for national park 

purposes." They felt "thepatriotic pride and desire to protect unique natural beauty manifestedby 

the people in the establishment of Yosemite and Yellowstone NationalParks." [12] 

A number of letters came to the office of theCommissioner supporting the proposed withdrawal. 

These included T. R.Kemp of Seattle; J. Hampton, Land Commissioner of the Kirkland Land 

andLumber Company; Byron Phelps, County Treasurer of King County; and F. A.Twichell, 

County Auditor. The Board of Trustees of the Seattle Chamberof Commerce also wrote favoring 

it, stressing the fact that denuding theland would cause floods. No opposition to the reserve was 



received, withthe possible exception of the Commercial Club of Tacoma. In a letter toPresident 

Harrison, they wrote that they were for the reserve, butagainst having the name "Rainier" appear 

in it. The area was withdrawnFebruary 20, 1893—under the name of the Pacific Forest Reserve. 

[13] 

IV 

There had been little protest against proclamation ofthe Pacific, the Bull Run and the Ashland 

reserves; the reserves werecomparatively small, their purpose was obvious, they had been 

created atthe wish of the people living in the vicinity, and sentiment, so far ascan be judged, was 

well-nigh universally for them. The case wasdifferent with the Cascade reserve. The very 

magnitude of the reserve,an area 234 miles long and covering an area of 4,492,800 acres, made 

itinevitable that some protest should arise from users of the area. Moreimportant was the fact that 

an element of fraud entered in; that a landring, taking advantage of the genuine desire for forest 

reserves, wasable, through manipulation of the land laws, to enrich itself at thepublic expense. 

There had long been a desire in Oregon that Mt. Hood,like Crater Lake, be withdrawn as a park. 

Creating reserves before 1891had taken congressional action, which was slow, and 

apparentlyOregonians had missed the significance of the act of March 3, 1891.People were 

awakened to its significance by an article in the MorningOregonian for March 25, 1892. R. G. 

Savery, a Special Agent for theGeneral Land Office, was interviewed, and said that the land 

could beeasily reserved. The text of the law was published. Savery stated thathe had sufficient 

data to make recommendations on Mt. Hood, and would bein Washington, D. C., in May and 

June to present the recommendations inperson. He asked for communications from people living 

in the vicinity inorder that local sentiment on the proposal might be evaluated, andsuggested that 

the Alpine Club, the Chamber of Commerce, and othergroups collect such information. Above 

all, there was need to do it atonce, before settlers took up the land. [14] 

By April 14, the Alpine Club had taken up the idea.Two Land Office agents were working on the 

reservation project, R. G.Savery on the Mt. Hood area and C. E. Loomis on the Bull Run 

Reserve,petitioned for by the Portland Water Commission. The plans were for theWater 

Commission and the Alpine Club to meet and ask for a reserve toinclude both Mt. Hood and the 

Bull Run water site. They also got aidfrom the town of Hood River, where S. F. Blythe of that 

city headed acommittee to get the headwaters of Hood River reserved. The lumbermen,Blythe 

reported, were working toward the headwaters of the river, andthese should be protected as a 

source of irrigation water for thevalley. The Hood River group asked the assistance of the Alpine 

Club,and stated that they were circulating a petition among the people ofthat valley. [15] 

Meantime, another group came on the scene. A group ofland speculators, led by Stephen A. D. 

Puter, saw their chance to profitby loopholes in the land laws. Under the Oregon state laws, state 

schoolland could be sold at $1.25 per acre and the language of the law made itmandatory that it 

be so sold on demand by a purchaser. The law calledfor one fourth the payment down. Also 

under federal law, the state wasentitled to indemnity for all unsurveyed school sections within 

areserve or reservation of any kind. Hence, by buying school land at$1.25 per acre, in advance of 

creation of a reserve, speculators coulduse this as base to exchange for valuable timber land 

worth $2.50 peracre. Reviving the idea expressed in Waldo's Memorial, that a reserve becreated 



to include the whole crest of the Cascade Mountains in Oregon,they took the proposal, and a 

linen map with the suggested boundary onit, to W. G. Steel, who was already busy promoting the 

Mt. Hood Reserve,and suggested that he ask for the whole range, rather than a part of it.Steel 

swallowed the bait, and in his usual energetic fashion beganrounding up petitions for the larger 

reserve. [16] 

By mid-April the organized campaign was under way. OnApril 13, a petition was mailed to the 

General Land Office from thepeople of Klamath County, asking that the office create further 

reservesaround Crater Lake "for the double purpose of protecting the scenery andto protect the 

timber and underbrush of said lands." 

Fifty-two people from Klamath Falls and vicinitysigned it, including the county judge, the sheriff 

and his deputies, thecounty attorney and the county surveyor. Another group got in touchwith the 

American Forestry Association, which forwarded a petition forsuch a reserve to Senator 

Mitchell, who in turn endorsed it and sent itto the Secretary of the Interior on April 14. [17] 

On April 27, another petition was prepared. Addressedto the President of the United States, it 

pointed out that the CascadeRange forms a continuous watershed from north to south in Oregon; 

thatthe mountains are covered with timber and underbrush, "because of whichthe snows of 

winter are carried into summer, and an enormous reservoirof moisture maintained, by means of 

which the climate of the state is soregulated that droughts on the Western slope are utterly 

unknown." Thesources of the streams, the memorial continued, should be maintained;the region 

was valueless for agriculture, and but poorly mineralized.Protection was needed against 

sheepmen, who used this for summer range,and started fires to increase the area of range land, 

therebyendangering the water supply. They petitioned, therefore, for withdrawalof at least the 

Mt. Hood, Bull Run and Crater Lake areas, and if thePresident saw fit, for the remaining portions 

of the Cascade Range. 

The petition, prepared by the Oregon Alpine Club, andsigned by the Club's president, George 

Markle, a Portland banker, andits secretary, G. Perrot, had a long list of endorsers. It included 

suchstate officials as Sylvester Pennoyer, the Governor; the Secretary ofState, the State 

Treasurer, State Printer, State Auditor, andSuperintendent of Public Instruction; and other 

worthies, such as HarveyScott, editor of the Oregonian; The Postmaster and the Mayor 

ofAshland; John B. Waldo; W. B. Gilbert, U. S. Circuit Court Justice; andW. L. Boise, Chairman 

of the Republican State Committee. W. G. Steelsigned it on July 20, and G. W. Farnsworth and 

R. E. Baker of KlamathFalls on September 7. A second petition of the same tone was signed 

byH. W. Corbett, newly elected President of the Alpine Club, and George H.Himes, Secretary, 

and endorsed by William Ladd, Justice of the StateSupreme Court; John Gates, Mayor of 

Portland; Daniel McCleary, Presidentof the Portland Board of Trade; and J. T. Apperson, 

President of theOregon City Board of Trade. Other signers included the mayors of OregonCity, 

The Dalles, and Salem; The Dalles Board of Trade; F. L. Mays, U.S. Attorney, and Binger 

Herman. In July R. G. Savery investigated thearea and found sentiment overwhelmingly for the 

reserve. [18] 

In November, two petitions were filed byhomesteaders, one containing 85 names, the other well 

over 100. Statingthat the reserve would interfere with their homesteading, they assertedthat the 



desire for the reserve was solely on the part of "a few wealthyResidents of the City of Portland 

and its environments." They felt thatten statute miles from timber line on Mt. Hood was all that 

should beallowed for the reserve. About the same time, too, there apparently camein some 

protests from the Bohemian Mines, in the southern part of thestate. [19] 

Aware of these protests, and perhaps also aware thatthe full reserve would redound to the benefit 

of timber speculators, theOregon Alpine Club filed a second petition, endorsed by the 

PortlandChamber of Commerce, in January, 1893. They had found that the entirerequested 

reserve would interfere with mining in the Cascades, theysaid, and asked that the reserves be 

limited to Mt. Hood and CraterLake. [20] Meantime, however, Senator J. N.Dolph, who had 

come out strongly for the reserves as early as June,1892, [21] had communicated with the 

Oregon State Senate on January 25,1893, asking their pleasure in the matter of reserves. The 

Senateproduced, by unanimous consent, a Joint Resolution in favor of thereserve. Stating their 

full endorsement of the principle of establishingtimber reservations under the act of March 3, 

1891, they asked for theimmediate establishment of the Crater Lake and Mt. Hood reserves, and 

asked: 

the enlargement and extension of each said reservation so as to include the whole crest of 

the Cascade Mountains in Oregon, with a convenient space on each side thereof, just as 

soon as the same can be intelligently done after a proper but thorough investigation by 

the Interior Department of any vested interest as maybe in such a territory. [22] 

Meantime, Steel became aware that if the entirere serve was created there would be fraud. In a 

letter to E. A. Bowers ofthe General Land Office, on May 1, 1893, he asked for creation of 

theMt. Hood and the Crater Lake reserve, stating: 

The desire is universal in this state, except among afew timber sharks, who hope to 

benefit by the withdrawal of the entireCascade Range, for the immediate establishment of 

both thesereservations. 

He had, it was true, at first circulated a petitionfor the withdrawal of the whole range, but 

subsequently his attentionhad been called to the fact that "we were being made the innocent 

toolsof designing men to work an injury on the state." His objection towithdrawal of all was due 

first to the fact that it would interfere withthe mines. [23] 

There came other demands for the smaller reservesalso, from John H. Cradlebaugh, publisher of 

the Hood River Glacier, andC. W. Kimball of Roseburg, who like Steel felt that the large 

reservesplayed in the hands of the "lieu" land sharks. [24] However, either the Land Office 

ignored theserequests or felt that arguments for the entire reserve outweighed thosefor the 

smaller ones; at any rate, on September 28, 1893, the CascadeRange Reserve, reaching from the 

Columbia River nearly to the Californiaborder, was created. [25] 

V 

During the period 1891-97 no further importantlegislation was passed in regard to administration 

of the forestreserves. The forests remained reserved areas, not open to settlement,exploitation or 



speculation, but vulnerable as before to fire and theftsave for such limited protection as the 

special agents of the LandOffice could give them. It took six years to remedy this situation. Inthe 

absence of specific legislation, the Secretary of the Interiorconstrued the reservations as 

withdrawn not only from sale and entry,but from any use whatsoever. The Department felt itself 

powerless toprotect or to utilize the area. 

After proclamation of the Cascade Range Reserve, itwas tacitly agreed that no further reserves 

would be created until amodus operandi was established. Fernow, head of the Division 

ofForestry and of the American Forestry Association, had since 1887brought up bills annually 

for passage but they had generally failedunder the weight of political maneuvering. The problem 

of a system wasnot easy to settle; the relative merits of using the General Land Officeto run the 

reserves, or of creating a new bureau; the type of permanentregulations to prevent fire, regulate 

timber cutting, and fashiongeneral policies; whether the army could be used for protection of 

theforests in lieu of a protective force; all these matters were pondered.Above all, there was the 

usual apathy of Congress towards forestlegislation. 

In 1893 some action was taken toward getting acomprehensive forest bill. Through 

Representative McRae of Arkansas,chairman of the Committee on Public Lands, Fernow 

succeeded in getting abill introduced that he had himself drafted. The McRae bill providedthat 

new reserves should only be created to improve the forest withinthe reserved area, and to secure 

favorable conditions of water flow or acontinuous supply of timber. The Secretary of the Interior 

would makeprovision for protection of the timber from depredation, and make rulesand 

regulations regarding occupancy, timber cutting, and protection ofthe forest cover. Timber would 

be sold to the highest bidder, afterappraisal, at not less than its appraised value, and notice of 

suchsales would be published for thirty days in a newspaper of generalcirculation in the area. 

The sales would be for cash. Troops might beused to protect the reserves, and agricultural lands 

within the reservemight be restored to entry by the President, on recommendation of theSecretary 

of the Interior after sixty days public notice. 

The bill was strongly supported by the AmericanForestry Association, the Secretaries of the 

Interior and ofAgriculture, and the General Land Office, and was reported fromcommittee 

favorably. In debate, however, it met with opposition fromvarious western groups. Binger 

Hermann of Oregon led the attack, andpointed out some justifiable weaknesses in the bill. He felt 

thatgrazing and mining lands should also be excluded from the reserves atthe discretion of the 

Secretary, as well as agricultural land. Also, hefelt the Secretary of the interior had too much 

power to sell timber. Asupplementary amendment, added in committee at the suggestion of 

EdwardBowers, Assistant Commissioner of the Land Office, had provided that theSecretary 

could sell timber outside the reserves, as well as in, on thesame terms; and this, Hermann 

thought, would lead to overcutting.Hermann favored permitting sale of only dead and mature 

timber, andlimiting the area of timber sold to a single individual to 320 acres. Healso felt that in 

a large state such as Oregon, publication of noticesof timber sales and of removal of agricultural 

lands from the reservesshould be printed in the newspaper nearest the area affected. His viewson 

cutting were backed by Doolittle of Washington, who could find noredeeming feature in the bill 

except the use of the army as a guard. [26] No action was taken on the bill in 1893. 



The bill came up again in 1894. Again it was attackedby Hermann, as favoring the large millmen 

at the expense of the smallerones. [27] Amended in committee, it providedfor the sale of dead 

and mature timber only; permission to prospectorsin the reserve; and two newspapers to 

advertise timber sales orelimination of agricultural lands. These essentially met 

Hermann'sobjections; and he backed the bill, as did most of the westerncongressmen, as a fair 

compromise, and the bill passed the House. 

In the Senate the bill was amended somewhat. Moneyfrom timber sales was to be put in a 

separate account. A provision wasadded that if a bona fide entryman should locate on land and 

obtain apatent he might relinquish it to the government, and in lieu thereof geta tract of the same 

size from the public domain. The bill passed theSenate in 1895, but through a fluke did not 

become law. It was sent backto the House to iron out the differences in the bills, but McRae 

hadbeen called home due to the illness of his daughter and was unable topilot it through 

committee. It was referred to the Public LandsCommittee and from lack of time died there. [28] 

Such was the situation in 1896. During this time, thereserves had been merely withdrawn areas, 

not subject to entry but notprotected from trespass or depredation. In 1892 the Secretary of 

theInterior had suggested that federal troops be used to prevent trespassof sheep in the reserved 

areas, as was done in Yosemite and GeneralGrant National Parks; but this use of troops was held 

to be unconstitutional.[29] Meantime, the problems caused by lack ofany rules for governing the 

reserves multiplied. There were too fewspecial agents available to carry on the work of 

surveying new reservesand preventing trespass on old. [30] Manyrecreational groups had 

petitions before the Secretary asking for newreserves; but without the laws to administer them he 

was unwilling to goahead. [31] 

The reserves had also evoked in some regions powerful hostility.Sheepmen in Oregon, for 

example, resented closing of the CascadeMountains to grazing, and petitioned for the reopening 

of the area topasturage. Counter memorials were presented by citizens with otherinterests, who 

called attention to the motives of the sheepmen andpointed out that maintenance of the forests 

was essential to the protection of citywatersheds and of water for irrigation. One typical letter 

ran: 

I wish to say . . . that I have lived in Oregon all my life and I haveseen the government 

looted of its coal lands, its timber lands and swamplands and pretty nearly everything of 

any value which it contained untilnow the only asset left is the land and timber contained 

in thisreserve. The timber lands of the Cascade Reserve, Mr. President, shouldbe held 

inviolate for all time to come. They are the common heritageof the people. These forests 

act as reservoirs to hold in storage therains and snowfalls which go to make up our 

navigable streams and watercourses, and are of vital importance to the people who 

inhabit thiscountry. [32] 

William Gladstone Steel, writing to Fernow, stated that there was needfor passage of the McRae 

bill, which the bulk of the people werebehind. He stated that the greatest need was for small 

sales, of 160acres or less, to fill local needs of settlers. [33] 



Moreover, at this time, there occurred a split in the forestry ranksthemselves. Fernow, as head of 

the government Bureau of Forestry,desired to continue his program of gradualism, educating the 

public, and creating no further newreserves until Congress had completed plans for 

administering theexisting ones. However, a number of men interested in forestry,including 

Robert Underwood Johnson, editor of Century Magazineand chief spokesman of John Muir in 

the east; Charles Sprague Sargent ofHarvard; and Gifford Pinchot, forester at the Vanderbilt 

estate atBiltmore, North Carolina, wanted more action. They felt that Fernow'sfabian policies 

were too slow. More could be accomplished, they thought,by having a commission of experts 

appointed to examine the reserves andmake recommendations for governing them. Fernow 

opposed this plan ongrounds that such action might well antagonize the public, that it 

woulddiscover nothing new, and that it would put his own plans for getting aforestry bill through 

the next session of Congress in danger. Theactivists were aided, however, by petitions from the 

New York Chamber ofCommerce, the New York Board of Trade, and the City Council of 

LosAngeles, asking for action to save the reserved areas. After someacrimonious discussion, a 

majority of the American Forestry Associationvoted in favor of such a commission, and 

Congress gave anappropriation of $25,000 to the National Academy of Sciences for carrying 

outsuch an investigation. [34] 

The commission consisted of Charles S. Sargent, professor ofhorticulture at Harvard University; 

Henry L. Abbot, Army engineer;Alexander Agassiz, curator of the Harvard Museum of 

Comparative Zoology;Arnold Hague, geologist; and Gifford Pinchot, at the time a 

consultingforester. They traveled through the west in the summer of 1896,accompanied through 

part of their tour by John Muir. [35] Theirpurposes, as expressed in their letter of authorization 

by Hoke Smith,Secretary of the Interior, was to determine: 

(1) Is it desirable and practicable to preserve from fire and tomaintain permanently as 

forest lands those portions of the public domainnow bearing wood growth, for the supply 

of timber? 

(2) How far does the influence of forest upon climate, soil and waterconditions make 

desirable a policy of forest conservation in regionswhere the public domain is principally 

situated? 

(3) What specific legislation should be enacted to remedy the evils nowconfessedly 

existing? [36] 

The President desired an early report from the commission; but thecommission had difficulty in 

arriving at a unanimous decision. The commission was in agreement as to the creationof a 

number of new reserves, and also creation of Mt. Rainier and GrandCanyon National Parks. 

Beyond that, there was wide differences ofopinion. Hague and Pinchot were in favor of making a 

public statement atthe time of creation of the new reserves, that a plan for administrationwas 

under way. The majority of the commission refused to make such astatement. Sargent favored 

use of the army to police the reserves, butthis proposal was opposed by Pinchot and by Hague. 

The final report ofthe commission was largely the product of Sargent; Pinchot furnished 

thedescriptions of the reserves, and discussion as to depredations by fireand sheep in the west 

was largely the product of John Muir. [37] 



The recommendations of the commission were wide. The first part of thereport discussed the role 

of forests in regulating stream flow, reducingfloods and continuing the flow during the dry 

season. Here theirconclusions, made without any background of information from thiscountry, 

were based on European sources. They felt that the bounds ofnational forests should be extended, 

and that a forest administrationshould be formed as soon as possible to save the forests from 

illegaltimber cutting, fire, and pasturage.Fires, they reported, were often started by "shepherds 

who make fires inthe autumn to clear the ground and improve the growth of forage plantsfor the 

following year." In Oregon and in California, they reported"great bands of sheep, often owned by 

foreigners . . . driven in springinto the high Sierra and Cascade ranges," carrying desolation with 

them,eating "every blade of grass, the tender, growing shoots of shrubs andseedling trees," 

loosening the soil, producing conditions favorable toflood, and by destruction of sod and 

undergrowth hastening theevaporation of water and the melting of snow in the spring. On the 

eastside of the Cascades, great flocks, wintering in the sheltered valleysof the Snake River, and 

seeking summer range in eastern Oregon,destroyed herbage and forests in the mountains; and 

sheep herds ineastern Washington and Oregon were driven every summer across Idaho 

andWyoming, "eating bare as they go the pastures of ranchmen and carryingruin in their path." 

Since the commercial value of the sheep wassmall—the figures given by the commission were 

5,958,348 inWashington, Oregon and California, with an annual wool clip of fivemillion dollars 

value—the commission felt that their value wasminor as compared with the damage done to the 

forest. The forests,therefore, should be freed from their presence. [38] 

The recommendations called for extension of the reserve system andprotection of the reserves by 

armed forces until legislation for theirprotection was passed. They desired that the legislation 

enable theSecretary of the Interior to make rules for use of the forests,including mining, cutting 

timber, and rights of way for highways,irrigation ditches and flumes. Grazing was not 

mentioned. The commissionrecommended the creation of thirteen new reserves, three of them in 

thestate of Washington; the Washington reserve, 3,594,240 acres in extent,consisting of the 

region from the Canadian border to a little below theforty-eighth degree of latitude, and from the 

120th—122ndmeridian; the Olympic reserve, an area of 2,188,800 acres on the 

OlympicPeninsula; and the Mt. Rainier reserve, enlarging the Pacificreserve to 2,234,880 acres 

by extension to the west and to the south asfar as the Columbia River. [39] 

The formal committee report was not printed until May 1, 1897, and hadlittle effect on the 

formation and governing of the reserves. It waswidely read, however, and created an ill 

impression on many of thepeople in the region who read it. The tone of the report 

wasunfortunate; it was dogmatic, opinionated, undiplomatic, andpretentious. Local pride or 

prejudices were treated in a roughshodmanner. The statement that Mt. Rainier "is no longer 

called Tacoma beyond the limitsof that city" was hardly calculated to win friends among local 

patriots.Brushing off the wool industry as unimportant, when it was in fact thelivelihood of a 

good number of people in Oregon and California, withpowerful supporters in Congress, was 

unwise. No press conferences orpublic meetings had been held during the western trip to get 

publicopinion behind them. To many, the report seemed to be the work ofeastern theorists and 

crackpots—this despite the fact that twomembers of the commission, Brewer and Hague, had a 

wide and peculiaracquaintance with the west. 



Moreover, to many the statements contained in the report were inaccurateor biased. The trip was 

not a thorough examination of the forests, butas Fernow accurately called it, a "junket"; it was 

ahit-and-miss affair, rather than a real examination. Of thethirteen new reserves they 

recommended be created, five—theBighorn and Teton in Wyoming, the Black Hills of South 

Dakota, and theOlympic and Washington of Washington—were not visited by thecommission; 

rather, they relied on other reports. Sheepmen disputed thestatements on damage done by grazing 

in the forests. Finally, thestatements on waterflow and snow melt, citing as authority 

Europeanstudies, seemed to some local scientists like John Minto unsound andpseudo-scientific. 

John Minto, himself, from local observation, had reached other conclusions. [40] 

Even before the report was published,however, the President took action. On January 29 Sargent 

sent a report to ProfessorWolcott Gibbs of the National Academy, describing and 

recommendingcreation of thirteen new reserves, the description of which Pinchot hadworked out 

a few days before. Gibbs sent the report to the Secretary ofthe Interior, who sent it to Cleveland 

with the suggestion that he makeWashington's birthday an occasion for proclaiming the 

reserves.Cleveland, fearful that his successor, McKinley, would reverse thereserve policy, 

proclaimed the reserves on February 22, 1897. [41] 

The withdrawals raised a storm of protest in many parts of the west.The Forester analyzed the 

causes for the protests as being: 

(a) Unnatural irritation at the idea that Eastern influences arepresuming to assert 

themselves in regard to the Western states. (b)Natural irritation at the manner in which 

the reservations were made,without consultation with Western Representatives. (c) 

Reasonableobjection to the inclusion of agricultural lands within the bounds ofthe 

reservation. (d) Unreasonable objection to the whole forest reservation idea as impeding 

licentioususe of the public domain by everybody. [42] 

In the Pacific Northwest, the protest centered around the Puget Soundregion. The Seattle 

Chamber of Commerce likened the action of thegovernment to the oppressions of George III on 

the colonists. [43] The State Legislature sent memorials askingfor instant cancellation of the 

reserves. [44] Puget Sound newspapers editorially denounced the reserves as 

hinderingdevelopment of the country. [45] 

The largest and most articulate group protesting the reserves were the miners. At the time, Puget 

Sound thought that it would have a great future in producing precious metals. Prospecting had 

begun in the 1880's in the northern Cascade near Monte Cristo. At first the prospecting was a 

local affair; but in1887 the Rockefeller interests decided it was worth their attention, and bought 

out the local claimants. They poured a great amount of money into the prospect, building a 

smelter at Everett and constructing a railroad from Everett up to Monte Cristo, at a terrific cost in 

money, and displaying considerable engineering ability. Local people with money to spend 

staked claims in the vicinity; Milwaukee, Portland and Chicago capital was attracted to the 

region; and at Silverton a syndicate of English, Scottish, and Welsh capitalists set up operations 

as the Stilaguamishand Sultan Mining Company. By 1897, when the bubble was at its largest, no 

less than seventy-six concerns, incorporated for amounts varyingfrom fifty thousand to five 

million dollars, were interested in theseand other mines in the northern Cascades. Several million 



dollars worthof ore bad been shipped to Everett by the end of 1896 for processing;and more 

millions had been spent in exploration. The Washington reserveincluded this area. Though the 

report of the committee stated that thearea was unsettled, actually forty thousand mineral claims 

were locatedin the reserve. [46] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 3 

FOREST ADMINISTRATION, NATIONAL AND LOCAL, 
1897-1905 

 

I 

Protests over the National Academy reserves finally caused Congress to take action to create 

forest administration. Congress adjourned March 4, 1897, without having passed the government 

appropriation bill; therefore, it was necessary for the President to call a special session for that 

purpose. The result was that the forestry bill of 1897 was, like that of 1891, a rider on another 

bill, in this case appended to an appropriation for survey of the reserves by the Geological 

Survey. It was essentially the McRae Bill, with certain important additional clauses. 

The bill specifically reaffirmed the power of the President to create new reserves under section 

24 of the act of 1891; but modified that act to state that the reserves could only be created for 

specific purposes, to improve or protect forest land within the reservation, or to establish 

favorable conditions of water flow or a continuous supply of timber within the area. To appease 

those who had protested the new reserves, those reservations made by Cleveland in February, 

1897, were suspended for a period of nine months, thus giving that period as an open season for 

filing claims on them. 

Protection and administration of the reserves was placed under the Department of the Interior, 

which worked through the General Land Office. The Secretary might make rules for sale of 

timber and prospecting on the reserves. No mention was made of grazing. No money was 

appropriated for the Department to work with, however, until July, 1898, when $75,000 was 

appropriated to that end. The Geological Survey, however, was given an appropriation of 

$150,000 for survey of the reserves, and was able to begin work in the field season of 1897. 

The act of 1897 was not devoid of clauses that had unexpected consequences. One such was the 

non-export clause, which in effect confined forest reserve lumber shipments to the state where 

the lumber was cut, working hardship on good utilization of lumber where the domestic needs 

were disproportionate to available timber supplies. Another, more important, was the homestead 

claim situation brought about by the "Forest Lieu" clause, which permitted homesteaders to 

select in lieu of their unperfected bona fide claims or patents within reservations other lands from 

unsurveyed areas of the public domain. Inside a few years Congress restricted selections to 

vacant non-mineral land and surveyed public lands open to homestead entry; but while the 

valuable land in homestead areas was opened, and while the President's proclamation was 

suspended, many homesteaders and corporate interests secured good timber in lieu of worthless 

lands. [1] 

By 1898 the forestry organization of the Land Office was set up. The Land Office Commissioner 

had issued rules and regulations, stating general policies that would prevail, a year earlier; and in 

1898 the organization was completed. The reserves were divided into eleven districts, generally 

with the state as a unit. Each district was headed by a superintendent; under each superintendent 



were a number of supervisors, generally one in charge of each forest; and under each supervisor 

a number of rangers, charged with patrol work and general protective measures, supervision of 

timber cutting, and of grazing. 

Meanwhile, other agencies of the Department of theInterior were busy. For the general 

investigative work, the specialagents of the Land Office were used to investigate timber land 

frauds orother matters pertaining to the forests. They worked directly under theCommissioner of 

the Land Office. The Geological Survey began its initialsurveys; the work was under Henry 

Gannett, Geographer of the Survey, andby 1898 it had a large force in the field. The work, of 

course, was notfinished within a year, or for $150,000; eventually 1-1/2 milliondollars were 

spent, and by 1905, when the work was turned over to theForest Service, only one third of the 

survey was complete. [2] 

II 

The year 1898 marks the end of an era in the forestconservation movement. The period 1860 to 

1891 was that of education ofthe people, culminating in the bill of 1891; from 1891 to 1897, 

forestswere established, forest conservation became a live issue with thepeople, and there was a 

search for a policy of forest administration.The years 1898 to 1905 marked the period in which 

management of theforests, of sorts, began, and in which took place a heated debate 

overmeasures, plans and principles. 

Under the act of 1897, the Secretary of the Interiorhad final power in reserve matters; but, 

practically, the work was doneby the Commissioner of the General Land Office, and matters 

notdelegated to the Secretary did not need to go above the Commissioner.Below this, the field 

force consisted of superintendents, supervisors,and rangers, named in order of rank. The rangers 

did the field work,patrol work, fire fighting, timber scaling, and so on, the work varyinggreatly 

with the type of reserve. Their average salary was $60 permonth, though in some cases it rose to 

$90. Each reserve was managed bya supervisor, to whom the rangers reported, who received 

from $1,200 to$2,500 per year. Above the supervisors were the superintendents, at$2,000 per 

year and expenses, though this position was abolished by1902. [3] 

The variety of reserve work required that ideally theforest officer be intelligent and have 

technical training. This,however, was not the case. Superintendents were always appointed 

throughpolitical influence, without regard to fitness; some were fairly goodmen, but the majority 

were worse than useless. Such was the case alsowith supervisors; as E. T. Allen wrote, 

They have included lawyers, doctors, editors, realestate dealers, postmasters, and even a 

professional cornet player.Some have been so dishonest and depraved that they disgraced 

theservice; all have been technically disqualified, yet many are excellentmen, and by 

intelligence, honesty and executive ability, make up fortheir lack of timber knowledge. 

Rangers included bartenders, "superannuated wardpoliticians and immature boys," whose 

weaknesses the few good men couldnot redeem. [4] 



In Washington and in Oregon, the system was typical.Superintendent S. B. Ormsby, with 

headquarters at Salem, administeredthree supervisor districts; one, the northern division, the 

Cascadeforest, and the Bull Run reserve; second, the central, Cascades; andthird, the southern 

part of the Cascade Reserve and the Ashland Reserve.Under the supervisors were a total of 40 

rangers. In Washington, thesuperintendent was D. B. Sheller, with headquarters in Tacoma. 

Under hissupervision were four supervisor districts and 23 rangers. [5] Of the superintendents, 

Ormsby was actuallyin league with the lieu land sharks, and was indicted on such charges inthe 

Oregon land fraud trials. Sheller, a one-time state representative,was not himself dishonest so far 

as any evidence is available, but hesuffered from lack of support from the Land Office. 

Another factor that made for difficulty was the factthat there often existed a corrupt alliance 

between the registers andreceivers of the local Land Offices and the mining, timber and 

landinterests. Registers and receivers were the subjects of Senatorialpatronage; and senators 

often in their views reflected, or wereassociated with, the dominent economic views of the area. 

Thus, there islittle doubt that the Land Office men in the Whatcom and Skagit Countyarea, and 

on the Olympic Peninsula, were in sympathy with the entrymenwho made claims of homesteads 

having from 5 to 12 million feet on them.In Roseburg, the receiver was the brother of the 

manager of theBooth-Kelly Lumber Company; in La Grande, he was related to the managerof 

the Grande Lumber Company. [6] 

But there were other events in 1898 which had a greatinfluence on the forestry movement. 

Bernhard Edouard Fernow, who hadbeen head of the Bureau of Forestry since 1886, resigned at 

the end of1898 to establish a forestry school at Cornell. He was succeeded byGifford Pinchot. 

William McKinley died in 1901, and was succeeded byTheodore Roosevelt. These changes 

made for a different tempo in theforestry movement. 

Fernow's work had been primarily that of a pioneer.Under his influence and direction, forestry 

organizations had sprung upin various parts of the country; education in forestry had 

madeadvances; and the first important national forest legislation had beenpassed. His had been 

fabian tactics, characterized by tact andhorse-sense, working slowly with Congress in order not 

to antagonize abody dominated by economic man. As Jenks Cameron has written, in thebest 

evaluation of his work: 

. . . Dr. Fernow was not only the true pioneer ofAmerican Forestry but the man who 

established it on a firm and enduringfoundation by hard work and sane work during its 

pioneer years. Heplanted the tree and tended it during its crucial years. Those who 

cameafter him had only to watch it grow. [7] 

In Pinchot the movement had a leader of a differenttype. Born to wealth and social position, 

Pinchot had become interestedin forestry at an early age. After studying forestry abroad, he 

became apracticing forester on the estate of George Vanderbilt in theAppalachians, in 1893. He 

became a leader in the fight against Fernow'sfabian policies, feeling that something more 

aggressive was needed, andwas to some extent responsible for the appointment of the 

NationalAcademy Committee in 1896. The Committee's findings resulted in theformation of the 

Cleveland reserves; but the errors of the Committeereport, especially in its arbitrary 

recommendations on the reserves, andits strictures on sheep grazing, were soon apparent. 



Pinchot wassufficient of an opportunist to disassociate himself with the views ofthe commission 

on the latter issue which came to be popularlyassociated, curiously enough, with Dr. Fernow, 

who had opposed thecreation of the Committee. [8] 

Pinchot set to work at once to make the most of hisnew position. The situation in regard to the 

public forests waspeculiar. The Department of the Interior, through the Land Office, hadcharge 

of the reserves, but it had no foresters; the officials incharge, as has been mentioned, were 

politicians, not foresters. TheBureau of Forestry, on the other hand, had the few foresters in 

thecountry but no forests to work on. Pinchot set to work to increase boththe number of foresters 

and the number of forests under his jurisdiction. 

To make the Bureau more valuable and to give the menin it practical experience, he began a 

campaign to interest privateforest owners in forestry—a campaign begun by Fernow, but 

carriedon with increasing tempo by Pinchot, who had none of Fernow's scruplesabout using 

public funds to aid private owners by drawing up workingplans for them. Profiting by the 

criticisms of men like John Minto, hetook to the woods himself to examine local conditions and 

sent men intothe woods, "to look and see and measure and count." Traveling in thewest, he met 

men who were able to help him in his work; Edmond Meany,who influenced by Fernow, had 

started forestry instruction at theUniversity of Washington; Judge Thomas Burke, whom he 

probably becameacquainted with through Henry Stimson, and who aided him in the PugetSound 

area; John Waldo, John Minto, and Malcolm Moody, the latterbecoming one of his strongest 

supporters in the Congress; Will Cowles ofthe Spokesman-Review, with whom Pinchot had 

attended Yale, and who gavePinchot good editorial support in his campaign. [9] 

He also set to work to increase the number offoresters. Since forestry was in its infancy in this 

country, there hadbeen but few places for training them. Instruction of a sort wasavailable in 

various places—the Universities of Washington,Michigan, California, and Montana, for 

example—but the training washardly of a professional nature. 

However, in 1897 Pinchot opened a school forprofessional training on the Vanderbilts' Biltmore 

estate; in 1899Fernow established a professional school at Cornell; and in 1900,through a grant 

from Pinchot's father, the Yale Forestry School wasstarted. Pinchot also started a system of in-

service training, takingyoung men who desired to make forestry their career, and paying them 

25a month and expenses in the field, to do the field work for the Bureau.The response to the 

program was great, and young men from all over thecountry responded. It offered a life of 

service, in a country longdominated, and tired of being dominated, by the interests, a varied 

lifein the out-of-doors, and a new profession. Most of the applicants camefrom the east, but all 

sections of the country were represented. InTacoma, for example, Edward T. Allen, a reporter on 

the TacomaLedger, one of the chief mouthpieces for the lumber interests, quithis job and went to 

work as a student assistant; and in [10] Baltimore George Cecil, working in hisfather's shoe 

factory, read an article in the Saturday EveningPost and decided that his soul wasn't fettered to 

an office stool.[11] Pinchot managed to inspire the new menwith his own idealism. As one of his 

men wrote, He personally plannedmuch of the organization and administration that has stood the 

test offifty years. 



He attracted to himself an exceptionally able,devoted, and zealous group of young men, 

who entered this new professionof forestry because of Pinchot's leadership. He even 

endowed andorganized the curriculum of the Forest School that trained most of thefirst 

batches of technical foresters to enter the Forest Service.Pinchot was such an 

extraordinary organizer and executive that he gotthe Forest Service with its young crew 

started on ways that have beenits strength ever since. [12] 

The lumbermen were willing and ready to work with theBureau. The more far-seeing 

lumbermen, with the end of free timber insight, were ready to abandon out-and-get-out principles 

in favor ofscientific management. More accurately, they were willing to considerconservative 

lumbering for the future, at such a time as it becameeconomically feasible; in the case of the 

Weyerhauser interests, whenwhite pine sold at $14 per thousand. Meantime, the work of the 

Bureauwas valuable to them in getting, free of cost, information on managementof the forests, 

such as taper and volume tables for Douglas fir andwhite pine, utilization of western hemlock, a 

predominant tree in theNorthwest, but one which suffered from the bad reputation of 

easternhemlock; reproduction of broadleaf pine in the south, and utilizationof cypress. Firms 

such as Weyerhauser and the Weyerhauser subsidiaries,and owners like W. T. Radir and Frank 

Haines Lamb, asked for informationfrom the Bureau and cooperated in its work. Bureau men 

were sent to allparts of the country, and by the competence of their work laid afoundation of 

good feeling for the future between the forestadministration and the lumber men. [13] 

As time went on, the Bureau of Forestry began to takeover more and more of the functions 

regarding the reserves. Managementof the reserves by the Department of the Interior was poor, 

not onlybecause of the poor quality of the men among the Land Office personnel,but also 

because of poor leadership within the department. The Secretaryof the Interior, Ethan Allen 

Hitchcock, was personally honest, buthumorless and suspicious, and a poor administrator, He 

had been hard toconvince of lieu land fraud in regard to the reserves, but onceconvinced, he 

sought to apply the laws with the assured fervor of an OldTestament prophet, angering many 

legitimate interests whose operationswere held up by his strict application of land laws in the 

west. Norwere the Land Office Commissioners, in whose hands lay much of the work,any better. 

Binger Hermann, whose term extended from 1897 to 1903, haspuzzled most writers including 

Gifford Pinchot and John Ise. His votingrecord in Congress shows a fair awareness of the 

problems involved inconservation, and as a Commissioner he seemed far more aware than 

hissuperior, Hitchcock, about the possibilities of fraud in regard to lieuland, with which problem 

he deals in the annual reports to theCommissioner. However, he was hopelessly slow in his 

work, and used hisoffice as a means of rewarding political henchmen. His successor, W. 

A.Richards, though undoubtedly better, was still inefficient and LandOffice work was still done 

by laborious hand copying of documents untilBallinger brought modern clerical methods to the 

office. [14] Within the department only the GeologicalSurvey was organized on a professional 

basis. 

Later, as the weaknesses of the Interior organizationand personnel became more apparent, the 

Bureau of Forestry took on moreand more work. In 1897, a man from the Agriculture 

Department, FrederickV. Coville, was borrowed to make recommendations for 

grazingadministration in the Cascades. By 1901 men of the Bureau determinedgrazing allotments 

in the national forests. The Geological Survey askedaid of the Forest Service, and they assigned 



such men as Henry Graves,H. B. Ayres, H. D. Langille, and J. B. Leiberg to work with the 

Survey.By 1902 the Bureau began doing the most important boundary work, ontheir own and at 

their own expense. 

The boundary work, for the future of the movement,became the most important work of the 

Bureau. The language of theappropriation for boundary work permitted the Bureau to "make 

andcontinue investigations on forestry, forest reserves, forest fires andlumbering." Both 

Roosevelt and Pinchot desired new reserves; and soonafter Roosevelt became President it was 

arranged between Gannett andPinchot that Pinchot might change the boundaries Gannett 

suggested. Muchof the work concerning boundaries was work against time; a large groupof 

timber locators were scouting the forests of the west for thechoicest bodies of government 

timber, which, once located, would beclaimed fairly or fraudulently, under one or another of the 

public landlaws. Various examinations were made in 1902 by the Bureau; and in 1903the work 

was organized in districts, under the general direction of F.E. Olmsted. E. T. Allen had charge of 

the work in Colorado, Montana, andIdaho; Albert Potter in California; and H. D. Langille in 

Washington andOregon. 

The work was hard and exacting. The boundary menworked, on foot or horseback, carrying 

supplies by packhorse or on theirown backs, wherever the work led them. They often worked 

against time,to get their recommendations written up and wired in before the highlycompetent 

land thieves moved in ahead of them. One of their duties wasto meet with members of the public, 

to explain to the persons concernedthe exact purpose of the reserves. [15] Theycollected a great 

deal of information, not only about the reserves to becreated, but about the people concerned, 

and the public sentiment inregard to the reserves; and their reports remain the best sources 

ofinformation as to how the reserves were regarded by the people at thetime. They are important, 

but neglected, primary documents in thehistory of forest conservation. 

Two of these men deserve special mention. John D.Guthrie has written, 

Bill Kent is almost a legendary character of Americanforestry. His individuality, his 

adventures, and the stories about himbespeak the lusty days that marked the early days of 

the ForestService. 

W. H. B. Kent was born in Meriden, Connecticut, in1878. He went into forestry, first as a student 

assistant in the BlackHills, later for Division R of the Land Office as head ranger, and 

afterMarch, 1903 for the Division of Forestry as examiner. By December, 1905,he had charge of 

all field work in boundaries. He later became forestinspector in Washington and Oregon. 

Most of his official work was spent in boundarywork—examining, locating, reporting, and 

mapping federal forest land ofthe western states. 

Because of local resentment this work was asexacting, . . . and dangerous as any 

American foresters have had to do.At times it had to be done secretively or in a race with 

land grabbersand other exploiters. But it saved vast public lands for the Americanpeople. 

And many a forest is green on the map today because of W. H. B.Kent. 



Kent was a man of serious appearance, but a Homericsense of humor, a good actor, original, 

observant, calm in demeanor, andthorough in his reports, which are vivid reading. His 

recommendationswere "short, pithy, and sometimes drastic." An able woodsman, he hadbeen 

adopted into the Navajo Indian Tribe, and copied some of the Indianways, such as mounting his 

horse from the right side. Known to hisintimates as "Sherlock Holmes" after a now forgotten 

fictitious characterof the time, he was one of the most colorful of the early workers forthe Forest 

Service. [16] 

Harold Douglas Langille was a man of a differenttype. Born in Nova Scotia in 1873, his family 

moved to Oregon in the80's, and became inseparably connected with the Hood River and Mt. 

Hoodarea. They became mountaineering enthusiasts; Langille's father builtCloud Cap Inn, and 

he and his brother, W. H. Langille, became guides onthe mountain. When Pinchot came through 

on the Academy jaunt of 1896,H. D. Langille was his guide in the Mt. Hood area. Pinchot 

becameinterested in the young man, and inspired him, and his brother as well,to take up forestry 

as a career. Langille spent some time studying atYale, to gain the rudiments of the new science; 

he was in charge of theGeological Survey crew that did the boundary work in the Mt. Hood 

area,and in 1903 was put in charge of boundary work in the Pacific Northwest.A man with an 

"abrupt, outspoken, and occasionally mildly terrifyingmanner," he was a professional Oregonian, 

possessed of an ardent desireto save the woods of Oregon from the eastern lumber syndicates 

bent onexploiting them. His knowledge of Oregon conditions was of great valueto the Service in 

making decisions in that area. Like Kent's, hisreports are valuable pictures of the forces which 

led to creation of thereserves. Like Kent, also, he was something of a literary artist; hisreports 

and occasional writings are good reading. [17] 

Langille worked for the Forest Service, in thePacific Northwest and in Alaska, until about 1910. 

when he went to workfor the James Lacey Logging Company. He traveled to Chile in 1916 

toreport on logging conditions in that country. He died in February,1953. 

In addition to the boundary work, the Division helpedInterior in other ways. Advice was given 

by the trained men of theDivision to the Land Office on timber sales, beginning in 1900. By 

1901,a Division of Forestry was set up in the Interior Department, headed byFilbert Roth, and 

with some men borrowed from the Bureau of Forestry asaides, including E. T. Allen as 

Inspector. Some progress was made, butit was a losing struggle against Land Office red tape and 

inefficiency,and most of the men drifted back to the old Division of Forestry. 

After 1901 there came a drive to bring the completeForestry administration over to the 

Agricultural Department. The LaceyBill was introduced in Congress to make the transfer. 

Initially it wasblocked in Congress, largely through Cannon's intervention. Sentiment inthe West 

was divided; the Oregon State Legislature, in 1901, sent amemorial to Congress, protesting such 

a move, on the grounds that theInterior grazing regulations were suited to the country, though 

probablya more cogent reason was the opposition of Binger Hermann of the LandOffice. On the 

other hand, Judge Thomas Burke of Seattle sent strongtelegrams to the Washington delegation 

favoring the transfer. Itfinally failed on a vote. [18] Finally,however, through pressure from 

Roosevelt, from the findings of thePublic Land Commission, and revelations of inefficiency in 

the LandOffice, and through support from lumbermen, the American ForestryAssociation, and 

others, the transfer was made in 1905. Along with thistransfer came other important moves: the 



lieu land act was repealed; theBureau became the Forest Service; and the "Reserves" National 

Forests.Scientific management of the forests was at last at hand. 

III 

So far mention has been made only of officialgovernmental action by the Federal Government. 

But another type of actionshould be noted—action by voluntary associations, acting aspressure 

groups or groups for educating the public. [19] At least four such groups had someinfluence, 

both nationally and in the region, during this time, and acomplete picture should include their 

activity as well as officialactivity. [20] 

The first such organizations were the conservationgroups. These were, historically, the groups 

having as their memberssuch men as Carl Schurz, John Muir, Theodore Roosevelt, and 

BernhardEdouard Fernow. They worked through organized groups such as theAmerican 

Academy for Advancement of Science, the American ForestryAssociation, The Sierra Club, the 

Boone and Crockett Club, and otherorganizations. Some, like the National Academy and the 

American ForestryAssociation, had quasi-official status, either through their membershipor 

through close ties with governmental bureaus. A great share of thesupport and membership of 

these groups came from people interested inpreserving wilderness values rather than those 

interested in practicalforestry, but the groups did much to educate the public. 

On the national scene, conservationists were significantin the beginning period of the drive for 

forest conservation,down to 1897 at least. After 1897 their influence was less strong,partly 

because of a divergence in aims among the various organizations,partly because of the rise of 

professional organizations withprofessional aims. The Pacific Northwest followed this national 

pattern.The Oregon Alpine Club, and its successor, the Mazamas, became ofsecondary 

importance after 1897. The American Forestry Association had afew members, but was not a 

significant group in the region. 

The second group was composed of professional foresters,those engaged in forestry as a career. 

At this time, and until atleast 1913, they were largely professional workers in 

governmentalbureaus, largely the Geological Survey and the Forest Service. Thestates had no 

professional foresters, and there were few private ones.The chief organization through which 

they worked was the Society ofAmerican Foresters, a group of professional foresters organized 

in 1900by Gifford Pinchot. [21] To this group couldbe added the great professors in colleges of 

forestry, such as FilibertRoth, Bernhard Fernow, George Wilcox Peavy, Francis G. Miller and 

HugoWinkenwerder. These men, both through their classroom work in trainingforesters, and 

through their memberships in professional societies, hada great deal of influence. Both nationally 

and regionally, theprofessional foresters were the most influential group in thisperiod. 

The third organized group was that of the timberowners and lumber and pulp interests. They, too, 

had their organizationsto express their views and act as pressure groups, such as the 

NationalLumber Manufacturer's Association and the West Coast Lumbermen'sAssociation. They 

often used as sounding boards special committees ofchambers of commerce, or members of 

Congress sympathetic with theiraims. 



As a pressure group, however, the various tradeassociations were not a particularly strong group 

in regard to theconservation question. The trade organizations were primarily interestedin better 

prices for lumber, uniform standards of grading, and keeping ahigh tariff on lumber, and their 

official actions were in regard tothese matters, rather than governmental forest policy. This is not 

tounderrate the role played by individual operators or groups ofoperators, both for and against 

conservation; they were potent forces.But the pressure was exerted directly, not through the 

existing tradeassociations. [22] 

A fourth organized pressure group was composed of thegrazing interests. The most important of 

these on a national level werethe National Livestock Association and the National 

Woolgrower'sAssociation. There were, in addition, many other such organizations onthe state, 

regional and local level. They, like the lumber interests,had close relations with members of the 

State Legislatures and ofCongress. [23] 

Relations with grazers went through two stages. Thefirst stage was from 1891 to 1897 or 1902, 

depending on the section ofthe country. During this time the main grievance of the operators 

wasthat they could not use the mountains in the reserves as summer rangefor their herds and 

flocks, since neither the act of 1891 nor of 1897provided specifically for use of the forage 

resources. The restrictionsaffected the sheep owners particularly, for two reasons. One was 

thatsheep, as close grazers, are much more destructive of the range thancattle or horses; and it 

was against sheep that the restrictions wereprimarily directed. The other was that trespass by 

sheep on the areareserved was a much more clear-out violation of the law than trespass byhorses 

or cattle. Sheep must be close-herded, rather than be permittedto run wild on the range, as is the 

case with horses and cattle. Anysheep found on the reserves, therefore, would show a definite act 

oftrespass. On the contrary, cattle or horse owners whose range borderedthe reserve would 

permit their stock to graze there during the summer,if such stock was found in the reserve they 

could claim the animals hadstrayed. 

The second stage came after a grazing policy for thenational forest was established. There were a 

variety of factors whichaffected the attitude of the livestock men. One was the role of theforest 

administrators in stopping range wars or disputes betweencattlemen and sheep owners, or 

"tramp" sheepmen and local owners oflivestock. Second was the charging of fees for grazing, a 

practice manylivestock owners thought illegal. Third was the size, length, andsecurity of grazing 

permits, and the area covered. Fourth was the localsituation; how well stabilized the industry was 

in a given region, theinfluence of local livestock organizations, and how well the 

localadministration handled problems that arose. [24] 

In the Pacific Northwest, the large organizationswere not particularly strong at this time. Though 

most livestock ownerswere members of the national organizations, their main loyalties were 

tothe state, county, or regional organizations, through which localproblems were solved. 

Moreover, the local livestock organizations didnot have such influence politically as did state 

organizations in suchstates as Wyoming. There were counter forces of other interests, such 

aslumbering, recreational, and civic interests, to balance the grazingsection of the economy. [25] 

 

 



CHAPTER 4 

GRAZING IN THE CASCADE RANGE, 1897-99: MUIR 
VS. MINTO 

 

The application of the conservation principle necessarily moved in different directions as one or 

another problem became important. [1] 

The dispute over sheep grazing in the Cascade Range is instructive from several points of view. 

From the standpoint of use of the reserve, it involved the clash of issues, whether the reserve was 

primarily for aesthetic or utilitarian purposes. In terms of persons and personalities, the dispute 

was primarily between the two chief spokesmen of the differing points of view, John Muir and 

John Minto. The final solution of the problem was the first use by the Federal Forest 

Administration of the method which has counted for much of their success, that of settling local 

problems on the spot by investigation, rather than relying on unilateral, superimposed directives 

from Washington, D.C. The Pacific Northwest became a social and scientific laboratory for 

working out the experiment; the regional solution was applied later in all parts of the west. 

Finally, the solution had a long-run significance for Washington and Oregon, in that this area got 

off to an earlier start in regulated grazing than any other part of the west, and consequently the 

relations of grazers and administrators had a longer period of adjustment. 

At the time when the Cascade Range reserve was created, in 1893, there had been some 

difference of opinion as to allowing grazing in the reserve, some feeling that grazing was a 

necessity for the livelihood of the sheepmen, others that grazing would be detrimental to the 

forests and the recreational resources. The sheepmen raised little objection to creation of the 

reserve, believing, as most people in the west did, that an administration policy would soon be 

forthcoming. However, Congress was dilatory in passing any legislation, and meantime the 

reserve was closed to the pasturing of any livestock whatsoever within its boundaries. 

There was no uniformity of opinion in the west as to the advisability of opening up the reserves 

to use, particularly to grazing. The recreationalists in general were opposed to any sheep grazing 

in the reserves. Their most eloquent spokesman was John Muir. Muir was doctrinaire in his 

opposition to sheep grazing. In their migrations from the lowlands to the mountains, he wrote, 

the sheep left a swath of devastation behind them; their grazing killed the native herbaceous 

growth, leaving but a sandy or rocky waste behind. Sheepmen set fires, both to encourage growth 

of tender shoots and to clear the land of dead and down timber, which would otherwise impede 

the movements of flocks. Muir estimated that ninety per cent of the fires in the Sierras were 

caused by sheepmen. These fires not only destroyed the undergrowth, but also the young trees 

and seedlings on which permanence of the forests depended. Muir's opinions were typical of 

most of the recreational group, not only in California but in all parts of the west. [2] 

The chief opponent of Muir was John Minto of Oregon. In many ways the two men were alike. 

Both were Scottish in blood, and both had migrated to the United States at an early age, and 

pushed on to the frontier—Muir to Wisconsin, Minto to Oregon. Both were nature lovers, both 

for the sake of what the wilderness does to the human spirit and because of scientific interest. 



Both were keen observers of nature, and concerned with revision of the public land system for a 

more rational use of natural resources. But here their paths diverged. Muir looked to the Federal 

Government for reservation and regulation of the public domain; Minto turned to Australia as a 

model for a rational system of land use. 

John Minto was born in England in 1822. He migrated to the United States in 1840, and to 

Oregon with the migration of 1844. In 1860 he became interested in the raising of pure-bred 

Merino sheep in the Willamette Valley, and successfully established the industry. To him was 

due much of the credit for developing a superior breed of sheep in Oregon, one that commanded 

a premium price on the market. He held several state offices in his lifetime, and in 1898 was 

Oregon State Horticulturist. His writings include papers on the sheep industry in Oregon and 

California; historical and literary sketches; verse, patterned after the style of Burns, whose poems 

he could quote by the ream; and reminiscenses. He was an accurate observer and an original 

thinker, who, as official spokesman for the woolgrowers on the west coast, furnished them with a 

scientific rationale for their protests against the recreational group. He was among the first to 

challenge the "timber-famine" idea, by pointing out the rapid reproduction by seed of Douglas fir 

on cut-over land. He was something of a gadfly to the conservationist group, but served a useful 

purpose by his criticisms, forcing them to establish on a scientific basis the facts on which they 

based their theories as to forest influences. [3] 

The more famous John Muir was born in Scotland in1839. His family moved to Wisconsin, and 

John, after attending theUniversity of Wisconsin for a time, traveled west to California in 

1860.Here he became a horticulturist, so successfully that a ten-year periodof work enabled him 

to retire. He was an ardent mountaineer, finding inthe mountains both opportunity for scientific 

research and pantheisticcommunion with nature. He was the first to attribute the Yosemite 

Valleyto glaciation rather than to cataclysmic causes, as had earliergeologists such as Clarence 

King. Muir gained a nation-wide audience forhis writings on the mountains through his 

friendship with RobertUnderwood Johnson, the editor of Scribners who published hiswritings. 

With Johnson, he was one of the leaders in the movement tomake Yosemite Valley a national 

park and to create national forests inthe Sierras. [4] 

There were extremists on both sides of the grazingquestion, and also many who felt that a middle 

course should prevail.Such a stand was perhaps best expressed by the editor of the chief paperin 

the region, Harvey Scott of the Oregonian. Remarking on thefuror caused by creation of new 

reserves in the state of Washington, hestated that this was uncalled for. There was, he said, need 

for thegovernment to take "vigorous measures" to prevent depredations on publiclands, and to 

protect the forests, both to preserve watersheds and"against the time when it is needed for use, to 

be cut under regulationsthat will permit its steady renewal, so that the timber shall not bewasted 

nor the mountain slopes be stripped bare." The chief use of theforests in Oregon was for summer 

pasture, when the forage on the plainsdried up; and with proper regulation such use should be 

permitted. Fireshould be prevented, but here fishermen and campers were at fault also,probably 

more so than the sheep men. 

The editorial ended on the note that local problemsshould be solved locally—the policy that, 

when adopted, wasresponsible for much of the success of the forest conservationprogram: 



Forestry is a very practical matter. It can have nohard and fast rules for all time and places, but 

must adjust itsmeasures to conditions and circumstances. The timber of the country, onthe public 

lands, must be preserved from destruction, but practicaljudgment, not sentimentalism, must 

preside over the policy employed forthe purpose. We have large areas of mountainous 

woodlands in whichpermanent homes, due to the depth of snow in the winter, are impossible.The 

timber on these lands must not be destroyed. But the lands shouldnot be shut up against their 

only practical use, which, at this time, isthat of summer range for the stock from arid regions. [5] 

The question of use of the forest reserves forgrazing grew more crucial as time went on. [6] 

Sheepmen in Oregon had friends in Congress inthe persons of Senator Mitchell and 

Representative Binger Hermann. By1896 demands were reaching the Land Office through 

Senator Mitchell,requesting that the reserves be reduced in size. To this theCommissioner 

answered that there had been no protests when the reserveswere created, and most of the people 

favored them. [7] In June of that year the sheepmen of WascoCounty sent in a petition, with 

many signatures, asking that grazing bepermitted on the reserve. [8] Fuel was addedto the fire by 

the report of the National Academy, condemning practicesof the sheepmen. In March, 1897, the 

stock associations of Wasco,Gilliam, Crook, and Sherman Counties raised a fund of $500 to send 

alobbyist to Congress. [9] By June they hadmade their influence felt in the State Legislature; this 

body adopted aresolution to the effect that, since the Cascade Range Reserve 

hindereddevelopment of the state, it should be cut into three smaller reserves:one around Mt. 

Hood of 30,000 acres, another of the same size near Mt.Jefferson, and another of 900,000 acres 

around Crater Lake. Except forthese areas, the Cascade Range should be opened to grazing 

andsettlement. [10] 

In June, 1897, the legislation was passed by Congresswhich permitted the Secretary of the 

Interior to make all necessaryregulations for administration of the forest reserves. Under 

thisauthority, the General Land Office on June 30 issued regulations ongrazing, permitted 

pasturing on forest reserves, provided no injury wasdone to forest growth. For the present time, 

however, the Land Officepermitted grazing only in Washington and Oregon, where the ample 

rainfallmade for rapid renewal of herbage. Owners of herds were to apply tothe Land Office 

Commissioner for permits to graze; and no pasturagewould be permitted in places of public 

resort such as Crater Lake, Mt.Hood, Mt. Rainier, or the Bull Run area. The regulations were 

issued solate in the year, however, that the provisions were inoperative in1897. 

There was need for a thorough investigation toascertain the exact effects of grazing in mountain 

and timber lands. TheDepartment of the Interior knew absolutely nothing of the effects ofgrazing 

on timber production, plant ecology, denudation of the soil andfloods; they had no first hand 

knowledge of the relation of sheepherdersto "light-burning," nor the relative value of forests for 

various rivalpurposes. For much of their information they had relied on reports byJohn Muir, 

who was not an impartial witness. They had no exact data onwhich to base their plans. 

Furthermore, John Minto disagreed with theirconclusions and had exact data to prove his 

evidence, which they couldnot contradict. The Academy Committee had said that nomadic herds 

ofsheep, often owned by foreigners, destroyed the herbage in themountains. Minto denied that 

the herdsmen were nomadic innature—they had, he said, settled homes in the dry pastoral 

landsof the range states—and denied that they permanently destroyed thetimber or prevented 



reproduction. The Academy group had said thatdeforested watersheds caused floods; Minto 

denied this, stating thatfloods were caused first by the Chinook wind, and second by 

poordrainage channels in the Willamette Valley. The Academy had stated thattrees helped to 

keep year round stream flow because snow lay longer inthe timber than in the open. Minto 

denied this, stating that snow meltsfastest in belts of timber and brush, "partly because of snow 

beingcaught in the crown and evaporating, partly because the trees and brushbreak up the snow 

when falling, and partly because of the influence ofcolor on the solar rays, dark objects 

absorbing, white reflectingheat." [11] A rational grazing policy, hefelt, might well be modeled on 

that of Australia, where squatters rightswere recognized, and where a combination of freehold 

and lease withprivilege of purchase permitted a stable grazing industry to exist, andencouraged 

ranchers to improve the range. [12] 

Faced by conflicting local interests and contradictoryassertions, the Interior Department felt the 

need of adisinterested investigation of the facts before formulating any rigidset of rules. The 

Department of Agriculture was asked to furnish atrained man for the investigation, and Fredrick 

V. Coville, a Departmentbotanist, was sent out in the summer of 1897. He came provided 

withletters of introduction from Binger Hermann, Commissioner of theGeneral Land Office; met 

John Minto in Salem, who gave him letters ofintroduction to the sheepmen of Eastern Oregon; 

and was givencooperation by the western land office of the Northern Pacific Railroad,which had 

recently conducted an investigation of sheep grazing onrailroad lands in Oregon and 

Washington. 

Coville made a thorough examination of the rangelands. After talking with local sheepmen in 

Portland and Salem, hetraveled to Klamath Falls and there secured a pack outfit and local menas 

guides and camp hands. They left the southern end of the reserve July23, and traveled north, 

reaching The Dalles at the Columbia RiverSeptember 6. During this time they examined the 

forests, both the rangeused by sheep and those in which sheep had never grazed; 

interviewedsheep owners, packers and herders, cattle owners, and all classes ofpeople opposed 

or favoring sheep grazing within the reserve. They notedthe methods of handling sheep, the 

movement of sheep and choice offorage; the effects of recent grazing, and grazing of former 

years; madeobservations on the effects of fire, and whenever possible ascertainedthe cause. 

Coville made a preliminary report late in 1897, andhis final report was printed early in 1898. It 

was a model of fairnessand thoroughness, sympathetic to the needs of the sheepmen but at 

thesame time recognizing the need of regulations. Challenging the statementof the National 

Academy committee, that the industry was insignificantin Oregon, he pointed out that the 

2,500,000 sheep, valued at $3,500,000and producing an annual clip of 12,000,000 pounds, was 

an important partof Oregon's economy. The reserve area, he found, was necessary to theindustry; 

summer range in the eastern part of the state was limited, andthe mountains were the only 

available summer range. In 1897 some 188,360sheep, representing sixty owners, had used the 

reserve area as range.The owners of sheep were native Americans, rather than aliens, as 

theAcademy report had suggested, and were not "a comparatively low classof humanity" as was 

commonly thought. Coville thought that popularsentiment was growing in favor of the reserve, 

and that the oppositionof many sheepmen to the reserve was due to the fact that they had 

beendeceived by "a prominent official" who said that the reserves wouldpermanently exclude 

sheep. 



Nevertheless, regulation of grazing, Coville felt,would be necessary. There were certain areas 

from which grazing shouldbe permanently excluded, to safeguard city watersheds, scenic areas, 

andhuckleberry fields frequented by whites and Indians. Such areas werescenic areas around Mt. 

Hood, Mt. Jefferson, and Crater Lake, the BullRun area, and scattered huckleberry fields 

southwest of Crater Lake,south of Mt. Hood, and to the south of the Santiam-Prineville Road. 

Thenumber of sheep should be limited to the number previously grazed in agiven area. Five-year 

permits should be issued, allowing each owner tograze a given tract. These permits might be 

revoked if the owner did notkeep to the agreement. Stockmen should be required to put out fires 

ontheir own allotments. In selecting the allotments, the local woolgrowers associations would be 

consulted. Coville recommended that thewhole system be given a five-year trial period to see 

how it worked out.[13] 

Coville's report was, on the whole, well received.The Oregonian performed a public service by 

printing the lengthyreport in full, so some of the customary misinformation and rumor 

overgovernmental policy was avoided. [14]Editorially, the paper commented: 

It is manifestly a long way from the radical measuresfirst prepared by the Academy of Sciences, 

which was willing to toleratethe miner and lumber-man on the reserves, but not the stockman. 

Thegovernment has learned by this time that the sheep-owner also has rightswhich must be taken 

into account. Perhaps some such compromise as Mr.Coville suggests will prove to be the best 

solution of this perplexingproblem. It is too much to suggest that all the woolgrowers will 

besatisfied with such restrictive measures. Yet it is certain that someconcession on their side 

must also be made. The sheep must live, but somust the trees. [15] 

On the conservationist side, John B. Waldo and T. W.Davenport endorsed the proposal; on the 

part of the wool-growers, theStockman's Union of Southern Wasco County endorsed the 

proposal andpledged itself to carry out the Proposals suggested. The PacificNorthwest 

Woolgrowers Association discussed the policies, with nohostile comment. [16] John Minto 

remainedthe principal opponent of the report. He felt that the state, ratherthan the federal 

government, should have jurisdiction over forest andhomestead lands, partly to foster local 

initiative, partly because thereserves were exempt from local taxation. He also felt that 

theboundaries of the Cascade reserve needed to be shifted to the west; halfits width, he wrote, 

was on land more valuable for pasturage. [17] 

Almost immediately grazing regulations for thereserves in Washington and Oregon, based on the 

Coville report, were setup. In Oregon the Bull Run area was closed to grazing, as well as allthe 

area north of the Barlow Road, west of the summit of the divide, andeast of the east fork of Hood 

River. [18]The latter area was primarily to protect recreational spots, and wasprotested by the 

sheep owners, but to no avail. [19] Also several large huckleberry areas wereclosed to grazing, 

including three south of Mt. Hood, one at theheadwaters of the McKenzie River, and three in the 

vicinity of KlamathFalls. [20] Early in 1899 members of thegrazing associations met with forest 

officials in Tacoma for allotmentof ranges. It was decided to allot the range in well defined 

watersheds,using streams and ridges as boundaries. The grazing fee was to be fivedollars per 

thousand head, or, if there was competition for the range,to the highest bidder. In cases where 

there were disputes betweencattlemen and sheepmen over range use, they were urged to 



arbitratetheir differences, and joint committees of both types of stockmen wereset up for that 

purpose. [21] 

Had the government's policy remained consistent, allwould have been well for most of the 

sheepmen were well satisfied by theCoville recommendations. In 1899, however, two things 

happened which fora time reopened the controversy. John Muir stopped in Portland on May 

29on his way to Alaska with the Harriman expedition. While there he issueda blast against the 

sheep owners, and against allowing the "hoofedlocusts" in the reserves; and privately, in talks 

with the Mazamas,tried to get them to campaign against sheep grazing. [22] In the summer of 

that year, after attendinga meeting of the American Forestry Association in California, 

JamesWilson, the Secretary of Agriculture, made a trip through the reserves.The meeting he had 

attended had been loud in condemning the sheepowners, and Wilson had evidently become a 

convert to their cause. In aninterview, he stated that permitting sheep to graze in the Oregon 

andWashington forests had been an error, and the error should be rectified.Sheep grazing in all 

reserves should be prohibited, and the sheepalready on the reserves should be expelled without 

delay. [23] 

Wilson somehow impressed the Department of theInterior with his views, for his suggestion was 

followed by action. [24] On September 3, the Secretary of theInterior canceled the permits of 

those sheepmen, sixty-eight in all, whohad herds grazing on the Rainier reserve, and ordered 

them to take their200,000 sheep from the reserve immediately. He also stated his intentionto take 

similar action in all other reserves. The permits ran untilSeptember 25; therefore, the order 

forced sheep off their summer rangenearly a month before they had planned to go. Protests rose 

from thesheepmen, and a hasty meeting was called by the Oregon Wool GrowersAssociation at 

The Dalles to protest any similar action in Oregon. [25] 

Muir's speech, and the action by the Interior Department,caused the controversy over grazing to 

break out anew. It wasfought pro and con in letters to the Oregonian. Letters poured infrom both 

the sheep owning and the recreational group; all lettersbeing alike, however, in their logical and 

scientific reasoning whendealing with the merits of their cases, and their brilliance in wit 

andvituperation when dealing with persons and personalities opposed totheir views. Through the 

two-month battle of pens, Harvey Scott, theeditor of the paper, took a middle ground in his 

editorial comments,only occasionally taking a pot shot at one of the protagonists when hecould 

not resist it. 

On news of the canceling of the Rainier permits, JohnMinto, as chief spokesman for the wool 

growers, let forth a blast atWilson, the American Forestry Association, and the reserve 

system.Wilson's conclusions, he stated, were untrue. For fifty-three years,Minto asserted, he had 

studied reproduction of forest growth near Salem,and had found that "the closest grazing of 

sheep confined by fencing hadnot prevented the reforestation by seed of large tracts of land that 

wasgood pasture in 1846." He again stated his belief that the bestutilization of arid or semi-arid 

grazing land would be by the homesteadand leasing system, permitting the use of plains for 

winter andmountains for summer range. A system of lease with the privilege ofpurchase, he 

thought, would be practicable, with the leasors'improvements appraised and the improvements 

charged to successors byhigher fees. He had, he said, advocated grazing homesteads of three 



sections,with lease of additional pasture land, sixteen years ago; now hefelt that the system 

should be that of leasing three sections to eachowner of a quarter section. [26] 

His ideas were backed by F. A. Young, President ofthe Oregon Woolgrower's Association, and 

by F. A. Bonney, stockinspector for Wasco County. Both favored the existing system, based 

onthe Coville report, and both challenged Muir's views as extreme. Youngstated that most of the 

opposition came from the Mazamas, "a smallgroup of summer idlers, and I might say, mostly 

yearly idlers," havingtheir headquarters in Portland. He was, he said, well acquainted withthe 

"bell-wether" of the group. They were against any sheep whatsoeveron the reserve, "and in the 

language of ex-Governor Pennoyer, they neversee a sheep but they want to kick it." [27] 

M. J. Anderson of Dufur expressed the point of viewof the cattle rancher and grain farmer. He 

was one of those who hadpetitioned to keep the sheep out of the area east of the east fork ofHood 

River, and later, as supervisor of the Siskiyou National Forest,became a capable forest 

administrator. Questioning one of Minto'slargest talking points, that snow will lie just as long 

and irrigationstreams flow just as well, whether sheep are pastured or not, Andersonstated that 

this was not so in the area where he lived. Within the lastthirty years, he said, there had been 

changes due to sheep pasturing. Inprevious years snowdrifts lay miles down the slopes before the 

sheep haddestroyed the undergrowth, and there had then been swamps, where nownone existed. 

Minto's generalizations, said Anderson, were based on thewest side, which had heavy rainfall 

and therefore a more rapid renewalof herbage; his mistake was, "the error that 50 years of 

theorizing hasmade incurable in Mr. Minto, that Oregon hangs suspended in the universeby a 

strand of wool." Anderson called Minto's attention to the fact thatother industries existed; that "in 

the little strip of Wasco wherefarmers live who are asking for protection from the sheep there 

wereraised last year 2,000,000 bushels of wheat, to say nothing of babiesand bird dogs." [28] 

Minto elaborated his ideas at a joint meeting of theOregon Wool Grower's Association with the 

Portland Chamber of Commerce,and in a letter to the editor of the Oregonian the day after 

themeeting. He had by this time got hold of the proceedings of the AmericanForestry 

Association conference at Los Angeles, July 19-20, from whichWilson had drawn his 

conclusions, and devoted much of his letter to anattack on their ideas on the relation of water 

flow and forests. 

One of the Forestry Association resolutions read: 

Whereas, the tree is mother of the fountain, and theforests and foliage of our mountains must be 

preserved in order tomaintain both surface and underground supplies of water . . . 

Minto thought this statement ridiculous. The tree, hesaid, is a consumer of water, giving out none 

other than throughrespiration through the leaves or evaporation when they are dying. "Ifthere are 

any species of trees growing in Oregon or anywhere else thatemit water from their foliage, I have 

never seen such or any man whohas." On the contrary, the tree is a consumer of water, being 

seventyper cent sap by weight. "Has any man who succeeded in making good histitle to a timber 

culture claim also secured a spring as a result oftree growth?" added Minto. To Minto, "the rain 

cloud is father, theearth the mother of the tree, and the fountain, when it plays any partat all, is 

wet nurse." 



Minto reiterated his belief that it would be goodpolicy to allow sheep to graze in alpine meadows 

in order to keep drygrass down, and remove the fire hazard and temptation of light-

burning.Unquestionably, he wrote, the sheep grazers had no right to jeopardizesafety of timber or 

to disrupt water flow; but there was no evidencethat they did so. Again, he suggested that local 

enterprise, with "thefamily the chief agency in so doing" was the best way to manage thearea. 

Forest homesteads should be allowed, in such acreage as wouldpermit the family to secure a 

permanent body of timber from the naturalforest land. This combined with grazing homesteads 

on the Australianplan, would both secure a better economy and give local interests astake in the 

land. [29] 

The Oregonian, in an editorial comment,indicated that Minto had nullified his own position. 

Pointing out thatMinto had been a pioneer in studies of the capacity of Douglas fir toreproduce 

itself, the paper stated: 

The tree he has consistently championed as in itselfthe perpetuation of the Pacific Coast forestry, 

he now holds up to viewas the resentless pursuer and destroyer of every drop of moisture 

withinreach. It is well to be forewarned before Mr. Minto and his thirsty firtree have transforned 

us together into a smoking desert. 

Calling attention to the fact that lumbermen as wellas sheep grazers might be considered as 

enemies of the forest, Scottended with a plea for the Coville system of regulating grazing. [30] 

The recreational group was represented in thecontroversy, among others, by W. G. Steel and H. 

D. Langille. Steel madea warm defense of the American Forestry Association against the 

chargesof Minto. Stating that a "man who will state that snow disappears soonerin the open than 

in heavy timber, and denies that forests are conserversof moisture is not expected to know 

much," Steel defended the scientificinvestigation of the Association, charged that the large sheep 

ownerswere trying to drive the small ones out of business, and declared itwould be well for the 

reserve if all sheep owners were excluded. [31] Harold Douglas Langille's letter containedmore 

light and less heat. Langille had been a guide in the Mt. Hood areafor many years, and probably 

knew the region as well as anyone. He hadbeen there when the sheep first came into the area, 

twelve years before,and had noted the changes that had taken place; with thousands of acresonce 

in flourishing timber but now denuded slopes, old burns, or grownup in chaparral. From his own 

observation, he knew that sheep herdersset fires; but, "Unfortunately, the sheepowners do not 

know any moreabout the actions of their herders than Superintendent Ormsby does abouthis 

rangers." The charge that sheep grazed on conifers was false; butthey did trample the ground and 

destroy loose soil. If sheep were not tobe excluded, a fee should be charged to the sheepmen, 

enough to pay forfire control and reforestation. Minto's statement that the east side waschiefly 

valuable for grazing was false, as much good timber wasavailable there. [32] Minto, in 

answeringthe letters, quoted from Bulletin 24 of the Division of Forestry (abulletin on 

transpiration, written by Gifford Pinchot) to prove thattrees use water. He agreed with Langille 

that if the forage was worthhaving it was worth paying for, and stated that in referring to the 

eastside as being chiefly valuable for grazing he had referred especially tothe area south of the 

Warm Springs Indian Reservation, which he thoughtmight well be released from the reserve. He 

stressed the need forpositive knowledge as to forest and range conditions, from actualobservation 

on the ground, rather than theorizing. [33] 



The controversy gradually died away, and the nextyear the Interior Department again reversed 

itself and permittedgrazing again under the Coville regulations. [34] That year allotments were 

made for both theRainier and Cascade Range reserves, and no lasting general 

controversyoccurred again in this area. Such controversies as did occur werelocalized, rather 

than based on general principles, and were relativelyeasily settled. 

The controversy was a hot one while it lasted, but inthe long run the effects were good. The chief 

debate was over scientificfacts which were not yet thoroughly established one way or the 

other.The criticisms of Minto and others forced the forest administration toestablish as its policy 

that of thorough investigation beforepromulgating rules; and the thorough airing of the issues did 

in the endhelp to clarify federal policy, in spite of the vacillations of theInterior Department. 

Within a year, the investigation in the Northwestwas duplicated in other parts of the West as 

well, in Arizona, there hadlong been friction between irrigators and sheepmen, and in 1900 

Coville,Pinchot, and Alfred Potter made an investigation there of sheep grazingsimilar to that 

Coville had carried on in the Northwest. Out of suchinvestigations of local conditions on local 

grounds, carried out firstin the Northwest, arose the development of a federal grazing policy. 

[35] 

For the Pacific Northwest, the grazing controversyhad a special importance. in that region 

grazing was permitted in 1897,from three to five years before it was permitted in any other 

forestreserves, and thereby the grazers had that much longer to adjustthemselves to the reserve 

system than in California, for example, wherereserves remained closed until 1902. This may in 

part account for thefact that the grazing problem as a feature of national forest managementhas 

been less troublesome in the Northwest than in any other part ofthe West—a situation that still 

prevails. [36] The fact that the Coville report was madeby an actual study of local conditions 

gave the users of the reservefaith in it, and did much to nullify the ill effects of the 

Academyreport. 

As the letters indicate, the grazers themselves ingeneral accepted the Coville report as a basis 

from which to work.Wilson's arbitrary action probably hastened acceptance of the Covilleplan by 

grazers, in lieu of losing everything. Much credit must be givento the Oregonian, which printed 

the Coville report in full, andoffered itself as a forum for discussion of the matter. 

The grazing controversy had a further significance indriving a wedge between the utilitarian 

group and the recreationalgroups interested in the forests. In terms of personalities, it was 

avictory for Minto, and a defeat for Muir. Previous to that time, thestrongest supporters of the 

reserve policies had been the recreationalgroup, represented by Steel and Muir. Pinchot's 

espousal of the utilitarianviewpoint in regard to the reserves—a partial repudiation ofhis stand as 

a signer of the Academy report—antagonized Muir. AsMuir's biographer has put it, 

Thus the rift opened that swiftly widened between thetwo schools of conservationists—the 

strictly utilitarian,commercial group who followed Pinchot, and the aesthetic-utilitariangroup 

who followed Muir—a rift that was to manifest itselfdeplorably in long years of antagonism 

between two government bureaus.[37] 



From that time on, the rift between the groupswidened. The grazers, on the contrary, played a 

more important role as agroup concerned with use of the reserves, in their meeting in 1901, 

theOregon Wool Grower's Association pledged cooperation with the U. S.Government in 

regulation of grazing on the forest reserves, and endorsedcreation of further reserves in eastern 

Oregon as a means of settlingrange disputes between cattle and sheep owners. Minto and 

Pinchotadvanced somewhat toward each other's point of view. In 1901 Mintoadmitted some of 

the abuses of absentee ownership and of encroachmenton homesteaders' land existed in eastern 

Oregon. [38] 

By 1904, Minto, while still condemning the NationalAcademy Committee and the American 

Forestry Association, said thatPinchot's idea of settling local problems on local grounds was the 

rightone; and at the same grazing conference Pinchot managed to disassociatehimself from the 

Academy report and stated his opposition to havingrules on land use made without actual 

examination. [39] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 5 

RESERVES IN WASHINGTON, BOUNDARY WORK, 

1897-1907 

 

The boundary work in the Northwest between 1898 and 1907 is of interest from several points of 

view. From a technical point of view, the work was one of the first large scale governmental 

efforts in land classification, and illustrates some of the difficulties this presented. 

Administratively, it illustrates some of the difficulties presented by having the work under the 

jurisdiction of several bureaus, and the effect of local pressure groups on these governmental 

bureaus. The work also demonstrates some of the differences between the two states, and sub-

regions within the states. 

It will be remembered that three bureaus, and two departments, had their fingers in the pie in 

regard to the reserves. The Land Office had charge of administration of the reserves. The Land 

Office was a political bureau, with untrained personnel, and subject to local pressures. The 

Geological Survey, until 1902, had charge of survey of old reserves, and recommendations of 

new ones. The Survey was a group of professionals, who had good technical training, but who 

were solely technicians. They did their work quietly and with no publicity, and made little 

attempt to direct or educate public opinion. Both these bureaus were under the Department of the 

Interior. The Bureau of Forestry after 1902 had charge of boundary work. This was also a 

professional group, but they regarded as one of their tasks directing and educating the public, and 

had due account for public opinion, as well as other aspects of the case, in recommending 

creation of new reserves. This bureau was in the Department of Agriculture. 

In Washington, the fact will be remembered that the reserves there—the Washington. the 

Olympic. and the Rainier had been created arbitrarily, on recommendation of the Academy 

committee, rather than because of grass-roots desire for reserves. It was natural, therefore, that 

the first opposition to the reserves came against these. The later reserves, created on 

recommendation of the Bureau of Forestry, met with much less opposition. 

I. The Olympic Elimination 

In 1898, after the nine-month open season, the Cleveland reserves were reestablished and the 

work of administering them began. In western Washington, particularly on the Olympic 

Peninsula and in the tier of counties on the west border of the Cascades, the period 1898-1907 

was marked by a series of sporadic protests against the reserves. The reserves were heavily 

timbered; the speculative boom in timber was at its height, and the reserves often interfered with 

speculative or cutting plans. One such area was the Olympic Peninsula. 

The Olympic reserve was of large proportions, covering as originally created 2,188,800 acres. 

Most of the area was mountainous or timbered. A few prairie openings existed on the north side 

of the peninsula, not totaling over four thousand acres in all, which had in 1898 been taken up by 

settlers. On the northwest and west sides, the terrain was rolling for a distance of three townships 



back from the coast; and here, too, much land had been taken up under the Homestead and the 

Timber and Stone Acts. In the opinion of the Geological Survey investigators, however, the land 

could hardly be called agricultural, since it cost $150 to $200 per acre to clear. This fact seemed 

demonstrated in that though 341 homestead entries had been made within the limits of Clallam 

County only 83 people could be found residing on their tracts. 

The area was the moat heavily timbered section in theUnited States, with a dense stand of 

Douglas fir and hemlock, and localstands of Sitka spruce and red cedar. Little logging was being 

carriedon at the time of the survey, except in R. 9 W., T. 30 N., W.M. Therivers, like most in 

western Washington, were swift, subject tofreshets, and with many bars due to the abrupt decline 

in grade frommountain to flat; they were poorly adapted to river drives. Though theterrain was 

suitable for railroad logging, as yet no railroads had beenbuilt in the area. [1] Nevertheless, 

loggingcompanies had their eyes on the timber, and were obtaining title one wayor another. 

66,160 acres were railroad lands, and much of this passedto subsidiary land and logging 

companies such as the Weyerhauserinterests. Other companies, less fortunate in their 

associations, hadmany dummy entrymen making entries under the Timber and Stone Act—

apractice which benefited both federal government and entryman, accordingto the historians of 

the Pope and Talbot Company. [2] 

The reserve had no sooner been established thanprotests began to come in demanding that its 

area be cut down, usingarguments that the land was predominantly agricultural and thatreserving 

it held up development of the country, The local managementwas poorly equipped to deal with 

the situation in a strong fashion. Thesupervisor of the reserve was Dr. W. W. Cloes, a political 

appointee,and a dentist by profession. He may have been a good dentist, but hewas a poor 

conservationist, ignorant of his job and far too willing togive local pressures his own 

endorsement. As one settler remarked, "IfCloes' judgment ain't any better on teeth than farming 

he couldn't lookin my mouth that is all." [3] Cloes made anexamination of the reserve in 

November, 1898, and recommended cuttingdown its size. Gifford Pinchot of the Bureau of 

Forestry and HenryGannett of the Geological Survey rejected Cloes' report on the groundsthat it 

would eliminate much of the good timber land. [4] Both Gannett and Pinchot were 

personallyacquainted with the reserve, Pinchot having given it a personalexamination in August 

and September, 1897. 

In 1899 more protests came in, and once more Cloesmade, or said he made, an examination. In a 

report dated May 11, 1899,he recommended that T. 24 N., R. 4 W., and T. 22 and 23 N., R. 5 

W., W.M., be withdrawn from the reserve. These areas, he said, were heavilytimbered, but there 

was also good agricultural land in the region, andsettlers had been there for ten to fifteen years. 

In T. 21 N., R. 5, 6,and 7 W., W. M., he reported finding lands that had been "in the handsof 

large mill companies for years, and they are now logging them off."In T. 21 N., R. 8-11 W., he 

reported finding a hundred settlers. Theseareas also, he considered, should be withdrawn in 

whole or in part. [5] 

Dozens of other petitions cane to the Land Office in1899, praying for relief from the hardships 

wrought on the poor buthonest settler by the reserve. The arguments advanced were plausible 

andat times heart-rending. Homesteaders who had spent the best years oftheir lives developing 

fertile farms in the region found theirinvestment was for naught; Clallam and Jefferson Counties 



had lost mostof the taxable land in their counties; schools would close and roadbonds, owned by 

"widows and aged people in the east," would bedefaulted; farmers already in the area would sell 

out for lack ofmarkets and in order not to be caught in enlargement of the reserves.The Seattle 

Chamber of Commerce sent in a remonstrance, as did SenatorA. G. Foster. [6] The government 

officials incharge of the reserve, however, were not impressed. In a letter toBinger Hermann, the 

General Land Office Commissioner, Charles D.Walcott, Director of the U. S. Geological Survey, 

wrote: 

Concerning the representations which are being madethat important local interests are suffering 

because of non-adjustmentof the lines of this reserve, I beg to state that the only interestswhich 

are suffering in the slightest degree are those of the lumbermenand millmen, who are desirous, 

naturally, of having large areas of thebest timberland in the reserve set aside from it. There is not 

an acreof land within the present limits of the reserve which, under existingconditions, is of the 

slightest value for agriculture. [7] 

Probably primarily due to pressure from SenatorFoster, D. B. Sheller, Superintendent of the 

reserves in Washington,made an examination of the reserve. Sheller was another 

politicalappointee, a former member of the state legislature, but he was ofdifferent caliber from 

Cloes. Cloes was worthless on all counts; Shellerwas a man of good will, with no professional 

training, in a job that wastoo big for him. He made attempts to enforce the laws against 

foresttrespass and fire, but could not get convictions because of hostilitytoward the forest 

administration. In trying to achieve a successfuladministration he had little support from the 

Land Office officials andlittle aid from subordinate officials. His later career, however, 

mayindicate that his failure to deal in an adequate fashion with theOlympic situation was not a 

sign of complete lack of ability. [8] 

In September Sheller made an examination of thereserve. His examination of T. 21 N., R. 5-11 

W.: T. 22 N., R. 5-6 and8-11 W.; and T. 23 N., R. 5 and 10-11 W., W. M., indicated the 

presencethere of eleven settlers and no agricultural land (Cloes had found 100settlers). In the 

west of the reserve, however, he found a differentstory. There were a scattering of settlers here in 

the stream valleysand prairies; ten on the Queets River, four on the Hoh, several on 

theBogachiel, twenty-five at Forks, twenty at Quillayute Prairie, andothers around Lake 

Crescent. Though settlement was relatively thin, hethought that the timber in the area was of 

poor quality, and the landbetter suited to agriculture than lumbering. The fir and spruce, 

hereported, were of poor quality, and much of the timber was of a poorgrade hemlock. The only 

merchantable timber, he found, was along theSoleduc and Galawah Rivers, and in T. 21, 22, 23, 

and 24. The settlersthere, he believed, were bona fide residents who had filed on theirclaims 

without speculative intent; although many had sold out to scripspeculators when the reserve went 

through, for fear of being isolated.Sheller concluded by asking for revision of the reserve 

boundaries. [9] 

Sheller's report was backed by that of the field menof the Geological Survey, Theodore Rixon 

and Arthur Dodwell, who hadjust completed their examination of the area. They reported that 

thelumber industry had no immediate future there; there was no market forhemlock, and the fir 

and spruce were of poor quality. They also believedthat the reserves were holding up 

development of Clallam County. Duringthe boom days of the 1890's there had been a rush to the 



area, and manyclearings were made, averaging perhaps forty acres out of a quartersection. These 

settlers had been bona fide farmers, rather thanspeculators. [10] Gannett denounced bothreports. 

Sheller, he said, was not a qualified observer as to the valueof the timber there, which field notes 

of the Geological Surveyindicated was much higher in value than his estimate; and he also 

hadthe wrong idea as to what constituted agricultural land, believing thatany level ground was 

agricultural, while in reality, Gannett said, itwas that soil better suited for growing crops than 

growing trees. As toDodwell and Rixon, they had been swayed by the protests of the settlers.[11] 

The final decision was not up toGannett, however, but to the Department of the Interior; and on 

April 7,1900, it acceded to the pressure from settlers and others, andeliminated 264,960 acres 

from the reserve. Gannett himself, probablywith some reluctance, acquiesced in the decision. 

[12] 

Agitation for further eliminations from the reservecame during 1900, presented mainly through 

Senator Foster andRepresentatives Jones and Cushman. These duplicated the former requestsin 

containing statements that the land was primarily agricultural innature, that the tax rolls of the 

counties suffered, and thatdevelopment of the country was held up. On July 15, 1901, a 

furtherreduction was made of 456,960 acres. [13] 

Most of the "agricultural" land in the area eliminatedfrom the forest went into the hands of 

logging companies. Fromthat standpoint, the elimination had all the aspects of a land 

swindle.[14] Forty-two per cent of the land in thearea eliminated were Timber and Stone entries, 

in itself an evidence offraud. Of the land taken up under the Homestead Act, two thirds went 

tologging companies. A fair share of the entries may have been made ingood faith, since the 

Homestead Act was not the easiest by which timberland might be taken up; but the rising price 

of timber, the increaseduse of hemlock, and the fear of becoming isolated as others sold out ledto 

these entries also going to the logging companies. 

II. The Whatcom Excitement 

The protests against the Olympic reserve had theircounterpart in protests against the Washington 

reserve. Creation of thisreserve in 1897 had been greeted by howls of anguish from miners, 

aswill be recalled. The act of 1897 provided that mining could bepracticed in the reserve; and 

this, combined with the fact that themining bubble broke in 1898, caused protests against the 

reserves to diedown from this group. The area did contain valuable timber resources,however, 

and the desire of loggers to get hold of them caused a longbattle between the forest 

administration and the timber interests. 

In 1899 a whole series of protests came in to theLand Office, asking for elimination from the 

reserve of T. 29, 30, 31,and 32 of R. 8, 9, 10, and 11 E., W. M. The arguments were the 

familiarones that all the land between the two forks of the Stillaguamish Riverwas agricultural in 

nature; that settlers had already entered the areaand built homes, schools, bridges, roads and such 

improvements; that therailroad had encouraged settlement, and that the reserve removed 

landfrom settlement and taxation, and was driving the county to bankruptcy.The protestants 

included the Chamber of Commerce of Everett, the MonteCristo Railroad Company, the board of 

County Commissioners of SnohomishCounty, and numerous alleged settlers from the area 

concerned. 



The area was examined by both the Land Office and theGeological Survey, and the statements in 

the petitions were found to becompletely false. The Geological Survey stated that the only arable 

landwas a narrow strip along each fork of the Stillaguamish, and that thisarea was needed for fire 

protection. D. B. Sheller also made anexamination, finding the area mostly timbered. He found 

only fourteensettlers in the area, and judged that they were there to speculate intimber. As a 

result of these reports, the Land Office recommended thatno changes be made in the boundary. 

[15] 

A year later another set of remonstrances reached theLand Office, this time from Skagit and 

Whatcom Counties. These wereinspired by the logging and railroading interests of Bellingham, 

andwere led by J. J. Donovan. A New Englander by birth, Donovan had cometo Washington 

state about the turn of the century and had rapidly becomeinterested in various types of 

speculative ventures. At this time he wasGeneral Superintendent of the Bellingham Bay and 

British ColumbiaRailroad, a line with its western terminus at Bellingham. The line raneast by 

way of Sumas, on the Canadian border, along the north fork ofthe Nooksack River to its eastern 

terminus at Conell, in T. 39 N., R. 7E., W. M. just within the reserve. 

The reserve interfered with Donovan's plans for tworeasons. First, the charter of the railroad 

allowed an extension of theroad to Spokane. Donovan had made a survey, and located a suitable 

pass;but he felt that all the timber along the right of way, between themiddle and north forks of 

the Nooksack River, would be needed to financethe road. Second was the fact that the reserve cut 

down on the amount oftimber available for his and his associates' logging interests (see Map1). 

Donovan was well able to make his protests heard. Bellingham was acompany town, dominated 

by the J. H. Bloedel and Peter Larson logginginterests, in which Donovan had a share. He also 

had shares in the bankand business houses of the city. In addition, he owned stock in the 

twoBellingham newspapers, which were controlled by the Sidney Perkinsinterests. These papers 

were mouthpieces of the conservative wing of theRepublican Party in the state. Donovan himself 

was a good party man, hisname showing up periodically as a delegate at the state conventions 

ofthe Republican Party. 

 
MAP 1 

SCENE OF THE WHATCOM EXCITEMENT 



The protests came because of some new withdrawalsmade in 1902. At the time of the creation of 

the reserve, in 1897, therehad been a rush to the area bordering the reserve in Whatcom 

County,where there were large bodies of timber. The settlers had applied for asurvey of the area, 

and a survey was made in 1898, but it failed ofapproval in the Land Office because of errors. 

However, lines had beenblazed well enough to locate the more desirable bodies of timber, 

andlumbermen set to work to acquire these. Timber locators flocked into thearea and, for a fee of 

$50 or $100, placed men on claims, surveyed orunsurveyed; built cabins for them of cedar 

shakes; built a fire in thecorner of the cabin, and furnished the cabins with frying pans, 

coffeepots and other kitchenware as evidence of occupancy. Claimants werefurnished blank 

contracts by which they promised to turn over theirclaims to the lumber company (see 

illustration 1). In this way, 6,080acres were filed on in the area, in addition to a large tract in T. 

38N., R. 6 E., W. M., selected by use of railroad scrip of the NorthernPacific and the St. Paul, 

Minneapolis, and Manitoba lines. In 1902,however, on the recommendation of the Geological 

Survey investigations,extensive temporary withdrawals were made in the region. 

ILLUSTRATION 1 

COPY OF BLANK CONTRACT FOUND (IN A SQUATTER'S CABIN INT. 34 N., R. 7 E., 

WASHINGTON) 

__________________ Wash., ______190 

To __________________ 

IN CONSIDERATION of the sum of One Dollar to__________________ paid by you, and in 

consideration of the benefit__________________ expect to derive from the sale of the property 

belowdescribed, __________________ agree to convey to you or such person asyou may name, 

free from encumbrances, by General Warranty Deed, thefollowing described property, situated in 

_________ County, Washington,to wit: __________ __________________ 

____________________________________ with all the appurtenances; upon the payment 

to__________________ by you, or by the person named by you, of the sum 

of__________________ Dollars ($__________________) lawful money of theUnited States. 

This consideration is to remain in force for theperiod of ________ days from this date. 

__________________ agrees tofurnish a complete abstract of title. 

WITNESSES 

__________________ __________________ (SEAL) 

__________________ __________________ (SEAL) 

(From W. T. Cox, "Report on the Proposed Addition tothe Washington Reserve in Skagit and 

Whatcom Counties, Washington,"N.A., D.A., F.S., Research Compilation Files,Region 6, dr. 

137. 



Donovan began his attacks in a forthright manner,without resorting to the threadbare pretext that 

the reserve wasagricultural land. The Whatcom Daily Reveille for January 9, 1903, quoted a 

letter from Donovan to the Office of the Register andReceiver cf the county, pointing out that 

two thirds of the county wasin the reserve, whereas King County was under no such handicap. 

Thefollowing day the paper reported rumors that the recent additions to thereserve were part of a 

scheme by the Hill interests to keep theBellingham Bay and British Columbia Railroad from 

reaching the east sideand competing with them. Later, as President of the Whatcom 

CommercialClub, Donovan got that organization to send in a petition asking for areduction in the 

size of the reserve; this was accompanied by numerousother petitions from the Sumas 

Commercial Club, the Republican and theDemocratic county conventions, and a large number of 

allegedhomesteaders, all protesting the additions. The movement spread to othercounties. In 

Skagit County, surveys were made for additions to thereserve along the Skagit, Stillaguamish 

and Sauk Rivers, and the EverettChamber of Commerce, the Fairhaven and the Arlington 

Commercial Clubs,the County Commissioners of Skagit County, and a large number of 

allegedsettlers, sent in petitions to their congressmen. Pressure was put onthe state legislature, 

and that body passed Senate Memorial No. I,asking that the western boundaries of the reserve be 

changed. 

A series of examinations were made by the LandOffice, the Geological Survey and the Bureau of 

Forestry in 1903 and1904. D. B. Sheller made the first preliminary examination; reporting tothe 

Land Office Commissioner on February 26, 1903, he stated that theclaims of the petitioners 

should not be taken at their face value, butshould be carefully examined. The Chamber of 

Commerce protests, hewrote, were largely because of the influence of the timber 

interests;legislators might know better, but would back protests to please theirconstituents. 

The Skagit County protests had no success. Theexaminers found the number of bona fide settlers 

had actually declinedafter the mining bubble had burst in 1898. Timber speculation wasgrowing, 

however, with mills on the border of the reserve cutting up to 300,000 board feet per day. The 

investigators found the additions to bedesirable, and they were made permanent additions to the 

reserve. 

In Whatcom County, the Bureau of Forestry made anexamination in 1903 and 1904. The 

examiners found the bona fide ranchersin the area satisfied with the temporary withdrawals; they 

had a goodmarket with the remaining miners in the region, and did not favorfurther extension of 

the Bellingham Bay and British Columbia Railroadsince it might force then to compete with 

Puget Sound growers. However,after his examination of the Nooksack area, W. T. Cox, the 

examiner,favored cancelling the 1902 temporary withdrawal in T. 38 and 39 N., R.6 E., W. M., 

despite the fact that many of the entries had beenfraudulent. He favored cancelling them on the 

following grounds: 

1. That sixty per cent of the county was already inthe reserve, and the only future 

development of the county lay in theeast. 

2. That the people had believed that after thecreation of the Washington reserve in 1897 

no further reserves would becreated in the area. 



3. That the timber was ripe for cutting. 

4. That the number of reserves was growing, and itwould create good will to have this 

one restored to its old boundary.[16] 

Pressure was so great that the Forestry Bureaudecided to sacrifice the timber land for the sake of 

better publicrelations. As E. T. Allen wrote about that time, "If the presentdissatisfaction in the 

West is aggravated by un-wise administration andill considered creation of the reserves, there 

may be a rebellion endingeven in the abolishing of the reserves themselves." [17] H. D. Langille, 

who was in charge of theboundary work in the region, recommended elimination of the 

temporarywithdrawal in Whatcom County on the grounds suggested by Cox; and thisarea was 

withdrawn from the reserve in 1904. Moreover, Langille made astatement that no further 

reserves would be created in the area. 

In 1906-07 the issue came up again. This was theperiod of intensive field examination for new 

reserves; the area wasre-examined, and the recommendation made that the portion 

previouslyreleased be restored. The Bellingham group and their friends in thestate legislature and 

in Congress rose once more in their wrath, andagain the Perkins press began new attacks on the 

reserves. Langille'sstatement was recalled, and the Forest Service did nothing to furtherits case 

when it claimed this was a clerical error. Finally Pinchotadvised that in view of the opposition it 

would be well to let thematter drop; the timber, he thought, should be reserved, but it would 

beunwise to do so. [18] 

III. Rainier Reserve 

Railroads and timber lands played their parts also inthe southern part of the state, in relation to 

proposed additions to theRainier Forest Reserve. In Clark, Skamania, and Cowlitz Counties, 

theGeological Survey recommended additions to the western boundary of thatreserve, involving 

T. 4-10 N., R. 4 E., and T. 6, 7, and 10 N., R. 3 E.,W. M. Once more a storm of protests rose 

from those whose economicinterests were threatened. 

The first protests came from railroad promoters.There had long been a desire to have a rail line 

along the north side ofthe Columbia River to serve the region between Yakima and Vancouver; 

andsometime before 1898 a railroad company was formed to build a linebetween the two cities. 

The Portland, Vancouver and Yakima Companyplanned to build through the reserve. Their 

survey ran from Vancouver toYacolt and thence to Chelachatie Prairie; reached Lewis River, 

andcrossed at its junction with Canyon Creek; went up the river to T. 7 N.,R. 8 E., W. M., and 

then forked, one branch swinging to the south of Mt.Adams to go down the Klickitat River, and 

to Goldendale, the othercrossing the range at Klickitat Pass, north of Mt. Adams, and 

thencecontinuing to Yakima. The line, according to its promoters, would not onlyserve as a 

transcontinental link on the north side of the Columbia, butwould tap the valuable timber 

resources in the area, and makeaccessible mineralized country around Mt. Adams and Mt. St. 

Helens. Theroad had received favorable backing from the Land Office. In 1898 theP.V. & Y. had 

built as far as Battleground, and was hauling logsfrom the operations there; but the reserve 

seemed to interfere with itsfurther development. [19] 



On November 18, 1898, L. Gerlinger, President of theCompany, wrote to the General Land 

Office. He stated that the proposedaddition would close half the mills in Portland for lack of 

logs, anddestroy the prosperity of Clark County. The townships, he said,consisted partly of good 

timber and partly of farming land; but meantime150 settlers there had waited fifteen years for the 

railroad to come tothem. By building to the rich coal mines of Klickitat Pass, the roadwould 

make Portland independent of eastern supplies of coal. However,the line could not be built in a 

reserve, where it would be cut off fromfreight and passengers. Pleas of a similar nature came 

from the PortlandChamber of Commerce, the Vancouver Commercial Club, the Republican 

Cityand County General Committee of Multnomah County, and the WashingtonState 

Commissioner of Public Lands. [20] 

 
MAP 2 

RAINIER RESERVE 

Similar protests came into the Land Office fromCowlitz County, from alleged settlers in T. 6-10 

N., R. 3-4 E., and T.7-10 N., R. 2 E., W. M. They swore that the reserve took up two thirdsof the 

county, and made taxation burdensome by removing taxable landfrom county lists; that the area 

was essential for the sawmilloperations, and in addition was valuable for stock raising and 

farming;and that county roads and trails were cut off from use. In theirprotests they were joined 

by the whole executive body of the state.Governor C. W. Rogers. Lieutenant Governor Thurston 



Daniels, Secretaryof State Will Jenkins, and Treasurer C. W. Young all wrote to 

theCommissioner individually in November, protesting the proposedadditions. [21] 

The area was examined by the forest administration.J. W. Cloes left his dental chair long enough 

to make an inspection ofthe area. In his report of November 7, 1898, he wrote to the Land 

Officestating that the protests were nothing but a plot to get the timber. Theland, he said, was not 

fit for agriculture, and there were few realsettlers in the region. D. B. Sheller, who investigated 

the Cowlitzregion about a year later, stated that the petitions for elimination ofthe area were 

signed by residents of the county, but not necessarily byactual settlers of the area mentioned. He 

stated that the chiefdissatisfaction with the reserve was the removal of land from the countytax 

rolls, and the danger of curtailing logging. [22] The Oregonian also doubted thevalidity of the 

protests. The paper editorialized: 

Two sets of objectors are met with, that are bothinterested in reaping immediate fruits from the 

land, regardless of thefuture. One of these is composed of sawmill men and timber sharks, 

theother of owners of large flocks of sheep, who seek to profit from thefree use of what does not 

belong to them. Both these classes and theirallied interests make a great outcry when it is 

proposed to reserveforest lands within their reach—lands which still belong to thepublic domain, 

and in which they have no greater rights than any othercitizen of the republic. When the 

government proposes to reserve fromsettlement and sale a part of its own domain, such cries as 

that of theKelso Journal "an attempted steal," or the Kalama Bulletin"a great outrage" are raised 

to stir opposition to the beneficent actand to defeat it if possible. . . . The time to reserve is when 

there issomething to reserve. [23] 

In 1901 the Northern Pacific began building its NorthBank Road, and the value of the P.V. & Y. 

charter disappeared. [24] The next year the Yacolt fire swept overmuch of the area, and rendered 

the Lewis River area less valuable fortimber. Protests over the addition died down. Nevertheless, 

the areasprotested were eliminated from the reserve when the final boundaries ofthe forest were 

created. The land in question was in the foothillsrather than in the mountains, and was tillable, 

though probably bettersuited for growing trees. Fire had destroyed most of the timber. Some 

ofthe protests of settlers were unquestionably genuine. Perhaps thedeciding factor was the large 

amount of alienated land owned by theState, the Northern Pacific, and the Weyerhauser interests 

in the areain question. [25] 

A few other remonstrances came in from that generalarea. In February, 1903, residents of Yale, 

Ariel and Amboy petitionedfor removal from the reserve of T. 6 N., R. 3 E., W. M., on the 

groundthat this was bottom and bench land, and that the 1902 fire had killedall the timber. In this 

they were backed by the Vancouver CommercialClub. In this case the petition was a justifiable 

one, and this area wasremoved. Far other were attempts to get land removed from the 

reservealong the Columbia River and in the wind River Valley. There J. W. Hullof Chenowith 

petitioned the President on February 22, 1902, for theelimination of T. 4 N., R. 4-9 E., W. M., 

from the reserve. His petitionwas backed by a long list of residents from Collins, Home 

Valley,Stevenson, Cape Horn and Carson. This was a bold and flagrant attempt toget timber 

land, since by no stretch of the imagination could the landbe regarded as agricultural. About the 

same time Horatio Price ofVancouver, owner of the Wind River Lumber Company, asked for 

eliminationof the lands in the Wind River Valley in T. 4 and 5 N., R. 7 E., W. M.,on the ground 



that this was agricultural land. Investigation proved,however, that the soil was poor in quality, 

the land covered by timber,and the settlers were in the habit of selling out to the lumber 

companyas soon as they proved up their claims. The company had already acquired3,360 acres 

of land in the townships mentioned, and desired to get itall. Some homesteaders were found in 

the bottom land, but they were ofthe three-weeks variety, who cut a small clearing and lived on 

the landonly long enough to hold it. Both these petitions were denied. [26] 

IV. Other Reserves 

Other areas were less hostile, either because of needfor the reserves in the locality concerned, or 

because the work caneunder the Bureau of Forestry, which took pains to educate the public asto 

the reasons for, and the value of, the proposed reserves. The rapidgrowth of Seattle made that 

city, like Portland, Ashland, and BakerCity, consider the safeguarding of her municipal 

watershed. On October10, 1899, the city sent a request, through Congressman Cushman, to 

theCommissioner of the General Land Office, asking for reservation of fiftysections in the Cedar 

River Watershed. On Sheller's examination andrecommendation, the withdrawal was made. [27] 

In 1903 and 1904 R. B. Wilson of the Bureau ofForestry examined the area between the 

Washington reserve to the north,and the Rainier reserve to the south—the area that later became 

theSnoqualmie National Forest. The forest included both east and westsideforest types, but with 

an "overlap" to the east, making a five to oneratio of Douglas fir to yellow pine. The chief value 

of the reserve, hefound, would be in regard to irrigation on the east side. Plans werebeing made 

to convert three lakes on the east side—Keechelus,Kachess, and Clealum—into reservoirs, to 

increase the irrigatingcapacity of the Yakima River. The river could normally irrigate 

325,700acres; by enlarging the storage basins, the normal low flow of 800 cubicfeet per second 

could be increased to 2,000. The forest would bevaluable in preserving and regulating water 

flow. Water rights in thearea was a complex problem; ownership of land in the region 

concernedincluded Northern Pacific lieu selections, claims of the YakinaDevelopment Company, 

and Reclamation Service land. One company alone hadfiled on eight times, and another on 

thirteen times, the total watercapacity of one of the lakes. 

About half the land was alienated in one way oranother, seventy per cent of this being railroad 

land, the remainderschool land or land taken up by one of the various land acts. Most ofthe 

lumbering, however, had been carried on outside the limits of thereserve, and there was no actual 

settlement in the reserve itself.Sentiment toward the reserve was in general favorable. The 

generalfeeling that most of the desirable land had been alienated anyway, sothere would be no 

harm in putting the rest in a reserve. Sentiment ofthe sheepmen would depend on whether they 

got grazing permits or not.There were large holdings of railroad land and logging company land 

inthe area proposed to be reserved; but both the Northern Pacific and theWeyerhauser Timber 

Company had asked for cooperative work with theBureau of Forestry in fire control and cutting 

plans as it was felt thatthis area would be a good place to carry on such work. [28] 

Little opposition was registered to an extension ofthe reserve in the vicinity, in the neighborhood 

of Morton and Ashford.The area included a western spur of the Cascades, much of it burned, 

butwith scattered old growth Douglas fir, and potentially a great timberproducing area. Much of 

this area had been alienated also; most of theodd sections were in the hands of the Northern 



Pacific, and many of theeven-numbered sections had been lieu selections of the railroad. 

Theremaining land, some 87,000 acres, was recommended for withdrawal. 

On the east side of the range, several changes andadditions were made. In 1905 E. T. Allen 

recommended changes in theeastern boundary of the Washington National Forest, eliminating 

1,600acres from the reserve along the Methow River and adding 7,680 on thebench lands above. 

The elimination was on request of the Methowresidents; the land, Allen reported, was no better 

than some in theforest, but the people desired it for farming. No objections came at thetime to the 

additions, though later the Methow country became one of thetrouble spots in the region over 

interpretation of the Forest HomesteadAct. 

Examination of the area that later became ChelanNational Forest took place in 1906. The area 

was yellow pine country,with a sprinkling of lodgepole and red fir, and was needed as 

protectivecover to safeguard water flow. The main use of the area at the time wasfor grazing. 

The area had been cattle country, but in recent years sheephad come in, and a sheep and cattle 

war had resulted in the slaughter ofthree thousand sheep. Stockmen and farmers were largely for 

the reserve;merchants and real estate men, who feared that the reserves would slowup 

development of the country, were in opposition, as were countyofficials who desired to stand in 

with the business men. 

The report on the proposed Colville reserve, an areabetween T. 35 and 40 N., R. 27 to 40 E., W. 

M., recommended a large areato be withdrawn in the Kettle River Country. The area had a large 

standtotaling about 1.8 billion board feet of yellow pine, lodgepole and redfir, which had not yet 

been exploited. There was little opposition tothe proposed withdrawal; the value of the reserve in 

protecting waterflow, and the need for fire protection were recognized. [29] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 6 

RESERVES IN OREGON, BOUNDARY WORK, 1897-

1907 

 

I. Background 

The story of boundary work in Oregon is a complex one. As in the case of the Cascade Range 

reserve, it involved fraud by manipulation of faulty land laws. So far as the work has been 

studied, it has been studied from this point of view. But there are many other factors that deserve 

consideration. [1] 

The same governmental bureaus—the Land Office, the Bureau of Forestry, and the General Land 

Office—were involved in administration and boundary work in the reserves. But a new factor, in 

regard to Oregon, was that two of the head administrators in the work—Binger Hermann of the 

Land Office, and H. D. Langille in charge of the Bureau of Forestry's boundary work—who were 

themselves native Oregonians. They were on this account more subject to public pressures, and 

their work was subjected to a searching analysis by the press. 

These bureaus were also subjected to pressure by members of Congress who personally and 

directly benefited by manipulation of the land laws. In Washington, Senator A. G. Foster and 

Representatives Cushman and Jones had sponsored protests against the reserves; but there is no 

evidence that they personally profited by so doing. Quite the contrary was the case in Oregon, 

where most of the Oregon delegation was found guilty of complicity in the land scandals. 

There were, in Oregon, strong forces favoring forest conservation and creation of new reserves. 

The early reserves had been the creation of the people themselves, and the urban and recreational 

groups who had done this desired to continue their work. Also the success of the Coville report 

in settling range matters in the Cascades led Oregon wool growers to desire establishment of 

reserves in eastern Oregon, where range problems of an even more complex nature existed. 

There was an extensive feeling at the grass roots level that the reserve system should be 

extended. 

But there were other groups which favored extension of the reserves for more selfish reasons. 

The Forest Lieu section of the act of 1897 provided that when an unperfected claim or patent was 

included within a forest reservation, the settler or owner thereof might relinquish the tract to the 

government, and select another tract outside the reserve. By receiving advance knowledge of the 

creation of a reserve speculators could file on land—usually school land—and profit by the 

creation of the reserve. Thus the petitions of those who desired reserves for timber preservation 

were backed by those who only sought means of exchanging poor land for valuable holdings. 

The groups which opposed the conservationists were also mixed. Since the grazing policies of 

the government favored local stockmen, they included 'tramp' sheepmen, i.e., those who had no 

fixed range but roamed the public domain, encroaching on the range of others. Out-of-state 



stockmen, who sent migratory herds from Idaho and California to utilize the Oregon range, also 

opposed the reserves. They were joined by miners, accustomed to free cutting on the public 

domain, and by timber speculators, who feared the contraction of the area open for exploitation. 

Another group of opponents were those who were not ordinarily opposed to conservation, but 

who, having seen scoundrels benefit by the manipulation of land laws and officials who could 

not tell a tamarack from a cockle-burr, concluded that the whole forest administration was a front 

for criminals. This suspicion was intensified by the action of the Bureau of Forestry and the 

Geological Survey in fighting the lieu land clause. To get ahead of the timber speculators, they 

made large withdrawals of land from entry, to be created into reserves after due examination. [2] 

If they were made a permanent part of the reserve, those who had entered on school land would 

have a "base" for exchange; so the expedient was adopted of holding the areas as temporary 

withdrawals until the lieu land act was voided in 1905. This expedient certainly prevented the 

school land men from profiting, and left them holding the bag; but many people misunderstood 

the policy. The temporary withdrawals left the land in a state of limbo, neither subject to entry 

nor under the administration of the forest administration, and worked something of a hardship on 

many local communities. Moreover, the size of the temporary withdrawals led many to believe 

that they were created primarily to give "base" to the land looters. 

II. The Cascade Range Reserve 

During this time, an effort to cut down on the size of the Cascade Range reserve was blocked by 

effort of the recreational group. B. J. Pengra of Salem was an engineer and speculator, who had 

been one of the incorporators of, and superintendent of, the Oregon Central Military Wagon 

Road. [3] Pengra petitioned the government to set aside nine townships on the middle fork of the 

Willamette River from the reserve, as agricultural land. The elimination would consist of T. 21, 

22, and 23 S., R. 8 E., and T. 21, 22, and 23 S., R. 9 E., all W.M. Pengra's purpose was evidently 

to enlarge the holdings of the Oregon Land Company, a subsidiary of the Booth-Kelly Timber 

Company, which had considerable land adjoining this tract, in the Oregon Military Wagon Road 

grant, to the south. [4] 

The proposal met with a storm of opposition from thefriends of the reserve. G. G. Allardt, a civil 

engineer living inCalifornia, who had done considerable work in the northwest, wrote toprotest 

the matter. The petition, he said, was uncalled for, since thearea was timbered land and not very 

accessible timber at that. Moreover,the timber protected the headwaters of the Deschutes River, a 

stream ofgreat potential use for irrigation; and deforestation would diminishthe flow. Allardt 

stated that he was familiar withconditions there, having surveyed the area earlier that year 

todetermine irrigation possibilities. [5] 

W. G. Steel took up the cudgels to attack ForestSuperintendent S. B. Ormsby. Steel, Ormsby 

wrote to Land CommissionerHermann, stirred up excitement locally over the matter, by claiming 

thatthe effort was being made to have the townships restored to the publicdomain in the interest 

of an eastern corporation engaged in the sheepbusiness, and blaming "Winchy Hermann" and 

Ormsby as the chief movers inthe affair. Ormsby denied any responsibility in the matter, 

claimingthat the whole thing was the result of Pengra's petition, and Steel wassimply stirring up 



trouble. Ormsby's recommendation to Hermann on theaction was that two townships be 

eliminated and seven remain in thereserve. [6] 

John B. Waldo also took up the matter. Writing toOrmsby, he stated that he was personally 

acquainted with the area,through his explorations in the mountains. The land, he said, was 

poorlysuited for agriculture and but poorlysuited for grazing. The timber, mostly yellow 

pine,was good, but grew slowly in the pumice soil. As the source of theDeschutes, the area 

should be preserved within the reserve; grazingwould make it less valuable as a source of water. 

The testimony ofPengra himself could be brought to bear. As Superintendent of the 

OregonCentral Military Road Company, he had, on November 29, 1895, written areport for the 

office at Eugene. In it he described the area as good forgrazing but of little account for 

agriculture. Waldo pled with Ormsby toprotect the integrity of the Cascade Range Reserve, and 

ended with afine quotation from the Scotch geologist, Archibald Geike: 

It must be owned that man, in much of his strugglewith the world around him, has fought blindly 

for his ultimateinterests. His contest, successful for the moment, has too often led tosure and sad 

disaster. Stripping forests from hill and mountain, he hasgained his immediate object in the 

possession of their abundant storesof timber, but he has laid open the slopes to be parched by 

drought, orswept bare by rain. Countries once bright in beauty, and plenteous inall that was 

needful for its support, are now burnt and barren, oralmost devoid of their soil." [7] 

The protests were heeded, and the elimination was notmade. In the northern part of the state, at 

about the sametime, additions were made to the reserve. WascoCounty cattlemen in the 

neighborhood of Dufur had difficulty overdivision of the range with the twenty thousand sheep 

which grazed northof the White River. There was also friction in the area betweencattlemen and 

farmers, whose crops were damaged by grazers. A group ofthe cattlemen circulated a petition 

asking that T. 1, 2, 3, and 4 S.,and T. 1 N., all in R. 11 E., W. M., be placed in the reserve 

toregulate sheep grazing. They stated that they had consulted with theOregon Wool Growers 

Association, and there would be no protest. Someseven hundred signatures were secured for the 

petition, which was thentransmitted to the Land Office. Malcolm Moody, the Congressman from 

thedistrict, also endorsed the petition. 

The area was examined by Superintendent Ormsby, andwas made a part of the Cascade Range 

Reserve on July 2, 1901. 

The withdrawal, however, benefited the group ofspeculators who profited by the lieu land laws. 

Land speculators, beforethe withdrawal, got wind of it, located on the school land, and had"base" 

to exchange for good timber land. [8] 

The Wasco withdrawal had the effect of launching the Oregonian on a campaign against lieu 

land frauds which lasted forfour years. In an editorial of July 4, 1901, the paper asked for 

lieuselection on a "value for value" rather than "acre for acre" basis. OnJuly 8 the paper exposed 

the methods of the lieu land speculator, inanswer to a letter obviously "planted" of an alleged 

timber speculator.On August 4 the paper broke the story of the Wasco addition. Pointingout that 

the reserves had been started for legitimate reasons,the paper told the story of how speculators 

profited by manipulation ofthe land laws. It was pointed out that the proposed St. Helens 



additionto the Mt. Rainier reserve would give the Northern Pacific 380,160 acresfor lieu 

selection, and that the railroad owned 103,680 acres in theWashington Forest Reserve which 

could be used as "base." 

In addition, state land in the St. Helens additiontotaled 44,884 acres; in the Rainier Forest 

18,195, and inthe Washington Forest 61,762 acres. The paper ended byasking western 

congressmen to introduce better landlaws. 

The Oregonian's suspicions prevented what mayhave been another lieu land coup. On August 2, 

1901, a correspondent of the Oregonian in Salem, in conversing with Ormsby, found thatOrmsby 

had recommended to the Land Office on May 18, 1900, that 529,920acres in T. 5-17 S., R. 4 E., 

and T. 22-31, S., R. 1 E., W. M., beadded to the reserve. Much of this, the correspondent 

claimed, was inthe O. & C. grant. Ormsby denied that he had recommended thewithdrawal; his 

conversation with the correspondent, he said, had beenbut a casual one rather than an interview, 

and as nearly as he couldrecall, his had been a recommendation that the area be examined only. 

Hehad no official correspondence on the matter. The Oregonianreporter, however, stated that his 

report had been a true one, and askedOrmsby why he didn't keep copies of his official 

correspondence.[9] 

Several other areas were added to the Cascade Rang.reserve for one reason or another. The 

Board of Water Commissioners ofOregon City petitioned for addition to thereserve on the north 

fork of the Clackamas River, toprotect their water supply. [10] Much of the land was already 

alienatedas part of the O. & C. grant, but severaltownships were withdrawn. In the Santiam and 

Roseburg area, the Bureauof Forestry examined several areas in 1903. Much of this land was 

alsoalienated, the odd sections being in the Southern Pacific grant. Thewithdrawals also met 

great opposition from speculators, locators,and squatters, who found strident spokesmen in the 

local boardsof trade and in Oregon's members of Congress. Nevertheless, the areaswere 

withdrawn. [11] 

III. The Siskiyou Reserve 

The Siskiyou reserve is located in the extremesouthwestern part of Oregon. The area is a wild, 

rugged section ofthe Coast Range, maturely dissected by streams, andharboring in its shoestring 

valleys a sparsepopulation who have tightly clung, almost to the present day, tofrontier folkways. 

Here again the forces of lieu land fraud, Land Officeincompetence, and Oregon journalism 

played their parts. 

On March 10, 1898, Binger Hermann, the Commissionerof the Land Office, asked a special 

Land Office agent named EdwardBender to examine the area at the headwaters of the Coquille 

River, todetermine whether it would be withdrawn as a forest reserve. Later thatyear Bender 

reported to Hermann, suggesting that twelve townships bewithdrawn in Josephine, Coos, Curry, 

and Douglas Counties. He reportedthat the area was better for forest land than any other purpose, 

andsuggested the "Hermann" forest reserve as a good name for it. Hermannforwarded Bender's 

report to the Office of the Geological Survey, andCharles Walcott, the Director of the Survey, 

wrote to Hermann on May 2asking that this area, as well as some others in the vicinity, 

bewithdrawn from entry. Another report on the area was made in 1899 by K.L. Miller, another 



special agent, as a final check. He made three briefreports; they were, as Harry Brown later 

wrote, "looked upon as the mostridiculous statements ever made by a special agent. They are 

absolutelyof no value in determining whether or not a reserve should be created,and they have 

been treated according to their worth."It is doubtful if either Bender or Miller saw thecountry. 

In 1901 the projected reserve came to the attentionof Harvey Scott, who had just finished his 

blast atthe Wasco County lieu land fraud. He believed—falsely, as it turnedout—that the 

projected reserve had a considerable amount of O.& C. land in it. The Oregonian correspondent 

in Washington,Harry Brown, cornered Hermann and asked him point-blank about thereason for 

creation of the reserve. Hermann made am evasive answer,stating that his recommendation had 

been made at the request of thespecial agent, Edward Bender, with whom he was "personally 

acquainted,"and that both Bender and the Geological Survey had acted in good faith.This 

dispatch, printed on July 2 brought an immediate answer from aMyrtle Point correspondent. 

Stating that the reserve seemed to be afamily affair, the writer pointed out that Hermann's 

"personalacquaintance" with Bender was certainly true, since bender was Hermann'sbrother-in-

law, who had at one time been postmaster at MyrtlePoint, succeeding in that post Frank 

Hermann, brother of theCommissioner, and being succeeded by Binger Hermann's son. The 

otherspecial agent, K. L. Miller, was also a brother-in-law.Hermann had a large family, the 

correspondent wrote, and they all hadjobs. 

The attack on Binger Hermann and his official familywas extended to an attack on the projected 

reserve. In theOregonian for July 14, 1901, the purpose of the reserve wasstated; that of July 15 

had a map of the areaproposed for a reserve, and that of July 27 an editorial stating thatthere was 

no local demand for the reserve, and creation of it wouldcause a lieu land scandal. On July 27, 

Hermann announced he had reversedhis decision on recommending the area for a reserve. The 

next day theOregonian announced: 

Every good citizen in the Pacific Northwest mustrejoice to know that Commissioner Hermann 

has heard something drop. Thedull thud which has arrested his none too acute hearing is that 

causedby the exposure in the Oregonian of the concerted raid made onOregon's public land 

through a new forest reserve. Why he was so long infinding this out would perhaps be 

unprofitable to inquire. Why hehappened to notice it just upon the appearance of the protest may 

alsobe covered with a veil. 

By August 8, Hermann denied for the paper that he hadever recommended creation of the 

reserve; he had merely, he said, passedalong the recommendation to the Secretary of the Interior 

for detailedinformation. In a long, detailed report dated January 11, 1902, he againstated his 

objection to the reserve. It contained, he said, agriculturaland mineral land as well as railroad 

land and an exchange of land inquestion with the railroad, recommended by the Geological 

Survey, wouldbe impracticable. He suggested that any reserve be confined to the topof the coast 

range, where it would not inconvenience thesettlers. [12] 

The reserve was revived again under the less politicaland more efficient Bureau of Forestry. The 

area was again withdrawnin 1903, and a thorough examination made byW. T. Cox of the Bureau 

of Forestry. On the basis ofhis examination, H. D. Langille recommended that the area be made 

areserve, despite numerous remonstrances from the citizens of CurryCounty and the Grants Pass 



and Roseburg Boards of Trade. [13]The area had been badly burned, with hardly twenty per cent 

of thetimber left undamaged; but Langille pointed out that reproduction hadbegun in the burned 

areas, and that the land was more valuable fortimber than for any other purpose. Also settlement 

in the area wassparse; there was need to protect the elk in the mountains againstprofessional 

hide-hunters; and, most important of all, professionallocators for eastern lumber syndicates were 

waiting to enter on theregion. Of the people actually resident in the area, ranchers and 

minersfavored the area, while lumbermen, cruisers, and professional timberlocators opposed it. 

[14] 

IV. The Blue Mountain Reserves 

The lieu land frauds. The creation of reserves ineastern Oregon presents a complex story. On the 

one hand it offers astudy of lieu land fraud and of efforts, state, federal, and local, tobring the 

malefactors to justice. The other story is that ofexamination and creation of reserves by 

governmental bureaus, and oflocal attitudes and pressures. 

In the northeastern part of Oregon, sprawled like agiant starfish, lie the Blue Mountains, 

covering parts of Umatilla,Baker, Grant, Malheur, Wheeler and Crook Counties in Oregon, 

andextending over into Garfield, Asotin, and Columbia Counties inWashington. The mountains 

are marked by even contours, broken byoccasional domed or rugged peaks, and range in 

elevation from 3,000 to8,000 feet. The timber is the typical east-side open stand of yellowpine, 

and of commercial importance in being the only timber body of anysize between the Cascade 

Range and the Rockies. The area had once beenone of the best range areas in the west, with 

stands of Pacificbunchgrass so deep on hillsides and plains that it was mowed by machinefor 

hay; but by 1901 the range had become overgrazed. 

There was need for reserves in the region. Theubiquitous timber locators and speculators were 

operating, locating thebest timber bodies, taking up land under the Homestead or Timber 

andStone Act, and buying school land. A great deal of illegal cutting oftimber went on, by mills 

and miners. There was also a difficult rangesituation. Here, as elsewhere in eastern Oregon, 

sheep and cattlewars had broken out. Migratory bands of sheep, on theirdrive east from Wasco, 

Crook, Gilliam and Umatilla Counties to Idaho andWyoming, ate the grass to the very doors of 

homesteaders; and trampsheepmen (those with no home range) encroached on the range of 

residentstockmen, In addition the Pacific Livestock Company, an Oregonsubsidiary of the great 

Miller and Lux firms of California, had taken upforty sections controlling springs and 

waterholes, directing theircowboys to locate homesteads on these tracts, and then paying them 

fiftydollars for their title and ranch. By ownership of these few sectionsthey had control of 

thousands of acres of the range. [15] 

The Blue Mountain Reserve, like so many others, hadits origin in the need of a city to protect its 

water supply. The routeof the eastern sheep trail, from Heppner or Umatilla to Idaho, passednear 

Baker City on its way to the crossing of the Snake. In 1901,migratory sheep trespassed on the 

Elk Creek watershed, from which BakerCity got its water. The citizens of that city promptly 

petitioned that areserve be created, that their water might remain unpolluted. GiffordPinchot and 

Malcolm Moody, the Representative fromthe district, examined the area, and it was withdrawn 

as theElk Creek Reserve. [16] 



About this time the Oregon school land ring, ledby S. A. D. Puter, decided to try a new coup, by 

gettinga reserve created in the Blue Mountains. [17] Their menfiled entries on school land in the 

area, and then on June25, 1901 a petition, purporting to be from citizens of Malheur County,was 

sent to Senator John H. Mitchell, asking for a reserve. They statedthat the timber was needed to 

protect the water supply; that the reservewould make for peace on the range; and that the area 

was withoutsettlement. Reservation was asked of the Strawberry Mountain area, thenorth and 

middle forks of the Malheur River, Silvies Creek, and itstributaries, and the south fork of the 

John Day River. A similarpetition came also, from alleged citizens of Harney County, asking for 

areservation in that area. The real signers of the petitions werebarflies and floaters, gathered by 

Puter to further his plan, ratherthan genuine residents of the area, though the alleged value of 

thereserve was correct enough. Superintendent Ormsby, after anexamination of the area and a 

conference with Puter, asked thatthe Strawberry Mountain area be withdrawn for the purposes 

mentioned.He reported a hundred land entries on the land, mostly ofstockmen to control summer 

range. 

Notice of the proposed withdrawal caused a flurry ofresolutions pro and con. The chief 

objections came from Canyon City, inthe center of the proposed reserve. On June 21, 1901 

George Catternach,of the law firm of Catternach & Wood, wrote to the Land Officeobjecting to 

the proposed reserve. It would, he said, interfere withmining and homesteading. He was 

supported by Orin Patterson,editor of the Blue Mountain Eagle, who pictured it as a scheme 

bythe reclamation companies to increase the water supply in the southernpart of Harney County, 

at the expense of grazing and mining in GrantCounty. His objections were echoed by both the 

Republican and Democraticparties in their county conventions, and by many citizens of 

CanyonCity. On the other hand, the Oregon Wool Grower's Association, at theirannual 

convention in Pendleton September 16, passed a resolution askingfor the reserve, and farmers of 

Prairie City also sopetitioned. [18] 

In 1902 a temporary withdrawal of 60,000 acres wasmade, and the Geological Survey was in the 

field making surveys for morewithdrawals. Also, people in the western part of the state began 

takingnotice of the reserves. The Oregonian, on July 29, 1902, printeda map of the area 

withdrawn, and the Portland Chamber of Commerceappointed a committee to report on the 

matter and make recommendations.A group of twenty business men from Burns submitted a 

memorandumdescribing the reserve as "the underhanded method ofa few unscrupulous land 

warrant sharks of securingforest reserve scrip and preventing the advancement and happiness 

ofpeople who are striving to build homes," and on August 7 the newlyfounded Oregon 

Journal published a letter by Fr. JosephSchnell of Sumpter on the activities of lieu land sharks in 

thatvicinity. [19] However, the Oregonian continued tosupport the reserve editorially, and on 

September 26 the Chamber ofCommerce Committee unanimously approved creation of the 

reserve, as anaid to small farmers and a hinderance to the operation of timberspeculators. 

This support antagonized many people in the vicinityof the proposed reserve. Orin Patterson of 

the Blue MountainEagle wrote to Commissioner Hermann on September 17. TheOregonian, he 

wrote, was for the reserve, "and not a word can begotten into that paper on the other side of the 

question." As for theOregon delegation to Congress, Senator Simon, he reported, would be ofno 

help, as Grant County had been against his election; Malcolm Moody was out on atrip with the 

Geological Survey, and unavailable; and J. N. Williamsonwas for the reserve. His only hope was 



in Senator Mitchell and in BingerHermann. A. D. Leedy, apparently acting as spokesman for a 

sizeablegroup of people, wrote a long letter to the Oregonian on October6, sending a copy to the 

Land Office along with another petition againstthe reserve from Grant County residents. He 

protested the reserve on alarge number of grounds, some good, some bad:(1) that the reserve was 

favored by land scripdealers; (2) that it would hinder resident stockmen at the expense 

ofnomadic sheepmen; (3) that it was a scheme of land corporations whohoped to profit under the 

Carey Act; (4) that no timber would beavailable for homes in the area if the reserve went 

through; (5) thatonly a small part of the timber in the region was of commercial value;(6) that 

there was much mineral land and agricultural land in theproposed reserve; (7) that if a reserve 

was created, people would leaveGrant County for greener pastures; and (8) that much of the land 

wasuntimbered. The omnibus petition was followed by a delegation ofcitizens from Baker 

County, who went to Portland in order to see SenatorMitchell, one of the Oregon congressional 

delegation later found guiltyof working with the land looters; there they protested against 

thereserve, and against the action of the Portland Chamber of Commerce inendorsing the reserve. 

In its story of the delegation, however,the Oregonian gave it a humorous twist, and in an editorial 

ofOctober 27, stated that the reserve was needed for water and forestconservation. Perhaps, it 

stated, the initial recommendationswere too large; but if the loggers and miners had their way 

they wouldskin the country. 

Meantime, the land pirates continued their work.However, Ethan Allen Hitchcock, the new 

Secretary of the Interior, foundevidence of lieu land fraud in California and Arizona shortly 

aftertaking office. He began house cleaning, and presumably urged theCommissioner to take 

greater care in preventing frauds. Late in 1902,Representative Williamson asked for an area to be 

reserved, and BingerHermann's suspicions were aroused. He checked up on the ownership of 

theland—a precaution, as Harry Brown wrote, "never before taken."Hermann found that "to 

reserve the townships recommended by Mr.Williamson would create an acre of base for every 

acre reserved," and onNovember 26 he denied Williamson's petition. Subsequent 

investigationindicated that in one township all but eleven sections had been entered;in another, 

half the acreage was withdrawn, and in two others, onethird. "Had these lands ever been drawn 

into a permanent reserve " Brownwrote, "there would have been lieu base in plenty for 

somebody." Theprojected withdrawal also reflected on the Geological Survey, which 

hadrecommended the area also. 

A similar incident took place in regard to a requestof the Crook County Stockman's Association, 

which wrote toH. D. Langille, the officer in charge of theGeological Survey group in the 

vicinity, stating that they desired certainlands in Crook County reserved. Langille took the 

petition at itsface value, but Hermann, after investigation, found much of the land wasalienated, 

and thought it not advisable. [20] Of this incidentBrown wrote: 

This case is typical of the slight ground on whichfield officers have been in the habit of making 

forest reservewithdrawals. Langille, without any personal knowledge of these lands,hastened to 

recommend their immediate withdrawal. Yet this same Langille. . . frankly told the Land Office 

that he had erred in making thatrecommendation, for he had subsequently learned upon 

examination howmuch of the lands referred to had passed from the government.[21] 



In 1903 several changes came about. Binger Hermannwas dismissed from his post, partly for 

nepotism and inefficiency,partly for having suppressed a report by a specialagent on the Benson-

Hyde lieu land operations. He wassucceeded by W. A. Richards, a former governor of Wyoming, 

who had moreability and less family loyalty than Hermann. Also, the Bureau ofForestry took 

over the boundary work from the Geological Survey, and H.D. Langille was transferred to that 

bureau to take charge of the work.The investigations of the Bureau were more thorough than 

those of theSurvey, taking into consideration matters of land ownership and publicopinion as 

well as the technical matters. [22] Finally, theadministration had become alert to the dangers of 

lieu land fraud.Roosevelt, on his western tour, was warned of this danger by HarveyScott and 

Governor Chamberlain. On May 21, 1903, he wrote toCommissioner Richards: 

I have been greatly interested in what GovernorChamberlain of Oregon and Mr. Scott, of 

the Oregonian, have toldme in reference to the forest reserves in the western part of the 

state.Both gentlemen say that formerly the railroads benefited immensely bythe extension of the 

reserves to cover their land, which enabled themthereby to exchange their scrip for very much 

more valuable land inconsolidated bodies. They tell me, moreover, that on the 

proposedreservation in southern Oregon a wagon road company will profitenormously, as well 

as a railroad company. 

Will you kindly have a competent investigation made,and have your representative not only 

personally investigate on theground but see Governor Chamberlain andMr. Scott, and go over 

the whole matter with them.The very fact of my anxiety to extend the various reserves as rapidly 

aswe can makes me unwilling to extend them in any way that will do damageinstead of benefit to 

the cause. Please also have your representativeexplain in full to both Governor Chamberlain and 

Mr. Scott exactly whatthe policy of the Department is in the management of the reserves; 

thatthey are used for the permanent benefit of the settler, the ranchman,the lumberman. [23] 

The housecleaning in the Department of the Interiordid not receive a great deal of publicity, and 

by 1903 theOregonian became concerned about possible fraud in entire Oregonreserves through 

operation of the lieu land acts. OnSeptember 7, in a front page article, the fact wasproclaimed 

that one fourth of the state had been withdrawn. The areaswithdrawn were: 

Forest 
Number of 

Township 
Acres 

Wallowa 29 668,160 

Joseph 14 322,560 

La Grande 17 391,680 

Blue Mountain 136 3,133,680 

Morrow 15 345,600 

Cascade (addition) 26 599,040 

Warner Mountain 166 3,824,640 

Rogue River 58 

 

1,336,620 

 

 464 10,336,320 

Cascade Range 192 4,436,120 [24] 



The story continued that the policy of large scaletemporary withdrawals had begun about a year 

previously. Hasty surveysof the Geological Survey had been enlarged by the Bureau of 

Forestry.Some withdrawals had been made to forestall the operation of timberspeculators; but 

many had been made indiscriminately, with examinationof only one or two townships in a 

section. The paper called attention tothe fact that many wagon road grants were in the vicinity—

theWillamette Valley and Cascade Military Wagon Road grant in the BlueMountains, The Dalles 

Military Wagon Road, also in the Blues, and theOregon Central Military Wagon Road grant in 

the Warner Mountains; and itwas felt that the owners of these grants might profit by operation 

ofthe lieu land law. 

The next day the paper enlarged on the subject.Boasting of its past record in uncovering graft 

inthe creation of reserves, and acknowledging the need for better federalcontrols, the paper stated 

that there had been altogether too muchdishonesty in the government: 

When it is seen that in the creation of each reservesome corporation has a selfish interest to be 

subserved; when it is seenthat some few individuals get a "tip" concerning future actions of 

theLand Department, so they can supply themselves with "base"in the forthcoming withdrawal 

of land from entry, andwhen it is known that reserves are being proposed for the conservationof 

water when such a purpose is absurd, the presumption is unavoidablethat the forest reserve 

policy is being manipulated, by selfish privateinterests. 

The paper attacked the lack of responsibility on thepart of those concerned with the work. 

There is evidence of an intention to cover upinformation which the people are entitled to and 

which they would haveif the newspaper correspondents were given access to records which 

maybe published without injuring the public business. 

The Land Office decided to let the Oregoniancorrespondent have access to Land Office records 

dealing with the reserves.They may have been motivated partly by a desire to appease the 

paper;more likely, they had by this time their case against the lieu land sharks ready, and 

desiredto lay a propaganda background before filing suit. [25] On October5, Harry Brown was 

given access to the papers and wrote a fineseries of muckraking articles. His articles on theRogue 

River withdrawal accused Hermann of nepotism andcarelessness; that on the Blue Mountain 

reserve indicated thatWilliamson and Ormsby were in league with the land sharks, and 

bothindicated that the Geological Survey and Bureau ofForestry were careless in their work. In 

the issue of October 12, hediscussed the methods of the land speculators, with special reference 

toCongressman Williamson; and on October 8, the origins of the proposedWarner Mountain, 

Joseph and La Grande reserves. 

The position of the Land Office was also clarified.In interviews with Brown on October 19 and 

23 Richards explained theLand Office policy. There was, he said, evidence of collusive acts 

offraud. The only possible way to prevent such action under the presentlieu land law was to put 

the land out of reach of scrip speculators andland grabbers by making temporary withdrawals. 

Action was being taken tostop leaks in the Land Office, and to repeal the lieu land 

law.Meantime, the temporary withdrawals would stand, and no permanentwithdrawals would be 

made until the lieu land act was repealed. 



The Oregonian felt it had won its campaign. Inan editorial of November 2, the dispatch was 

quoted, and the paperremarked: 

This assurance will remove practically all oppositionto the creation of reserves in forested 

regions. The extensivewithdrawals of public land for reserve purposes . . . were sufficient 

toarouse apprehension that the old program was to be repeated. . . . Theadministration's 

intentions regarding forest reservesis quite clear now, and a better feeling willresult from the 

understanding. [26] 

The editorial campaign of the Oregonian continued,but its main focus came to be on the Oregon 

land fraud trial, whichultimately involved the Oregon school land ring, S. B. Ormsby, and allbut 

Fulton of the Oregon Congressional delegation. This, though atempting bypath, is not the main 

theme. But in another aspect of thefight against fraud in land administration the editor of the 

paperplayed an important part. This was in regard to reform of the LandOffice on the local level. 

By late 1903, it was evident that the registers andreceivers in many of the local land offices were 

in corrupt alliancewith the timberland speculators, and several in Oregon were fired.Naming of 

such officers was traditionally a piece of senatorialpatronage; but the senators of Oregon were 

suspected of being in withthe land sharks. Bartlett, the register who has already been mentioned 

inconnection with the Grande Ronde Lumber Company, was among thosedischarged, and 

Senator Fulton asked that he be replaced by one Knowles.This President Roosevelt refused to do. 

In aletter to Fulton on August 25, 1903, Roosevelt statedthat it was the President's duty to 

appoint the successor, not that ofthe Senator. If the Senator would give him the name of a good 

man, hewould appoint him; but Fulton's candidate was not "strong enough toprevent free swing 

being given to lumber concerns, timber locators, andother corporations and individuals whom it 

would be his duty to oppose."Instead, Roosevelt appointed another man whom he knew to be 

honest.Meantime, Roosevelt added, there was need for new men at the Lakeviewoffice, and 

Fulton was urged to recommend "some first class men" for thepositions. 

A copy of the letter was sent to Harvey Scott, and afew days later Roosevelt wrote to Scott. 

Anticipating a fight withFulton on the patronage, he gave Scott permission to make public 

theletter to Fulton if a coalition of Oregon and Washington senatorsdeveloped over the 

patronage. A good type of man was needed for theposts, Roosevelt wrote, and "no possible 

coalition in the Senate couldforce me to appoint any particular man." If worse came to worse, 

hesaid, he would ask Scott for the names of people for the differentoffices; but his hopes were 

that the Senators would send in the names ofhonest men. 

The Senators did not do so, and it soon becameevident that they had close ties with those 

involved in land frauds.Roosevelt sought advice from the sources in Oregon hecould trust, 

ignoring his own Senators, and crossing partylines. For advice on appointments, he relied on 

GovernorChamberlain (a Democrat) and Harvey Scott, using asintermediaries Malcolm Moody 

and the State Land Agent, Oswald West.[27] 

Creation of the Blue Mountain Reserve.Between 1903 and 1906, boundary workers of the 

Bureau of Forestryexplored the land covered in the early withdrawals, adding new bodies 

oftimber in a race against land thieves, and eliminating areas earlierwithdrawn but on 



examination found not suitable for reserve purposes.Langille traveled tirelessly over the region, 

examining areas, meetingpeople, and explaining the purposes of the reserve. He found much of 

thehostility due to ignorance of the benefits and purposes of the reserve;and after explanation the 

hostility died. At Canyon City, the center ofhostility to the reserve, stockmen had organized the 

"Honest ForestReserve Association" to oppose the reserve, and had prepared aremonstrance for 

the Land Office. Langillemet with them in a saloon—the common meetingplace for discussion of 

serious business—and explained to them thevalue of the reserve. They adjourned without action, 

andabandoned the remonstrance. Once the purpose of the reserve wasexplained, Langille found a 

large number in favor of it; and this becamemore true when the fact became evident that the 

reserve was not anattempt to aid land speculators. Land locators, lieu scrip dealers, andminers, he 

found generally opposed to the reserve; resident stockmenfavored it. [28] 

A few tracts were added to the reserve, and manytracts eliminated. Sumpter, like Baker City, 

asked for land to bereserved to protect the municipal water supply, and these were added.Several 

tracts of land were added in the Powder River country at therequest of irrigators. A large number 

of tracts taken up under theTimber and Stone Act, the Homestead Act, the Timber Culture Act 

and theDesert Land Act were eliminated, though much of this was later addedwhen claims were 

canceled for non-compliance with the law. Thegrant of the The Dalles Military Wagon Road, 

and some tractsof state land, were also eliminated. [29] 

Two lumber companies requested eliminations fromthe reserve. The Grande Ronde Lumber 

Company requestedthrough Senator Mitchell that eleven sections in T. 4 S., R. 36 and 37E., W. 

M., be eliminated from the reserve, for the benefit of settlersand the company. Langille's reply 

was: 

The fact that the Grande Ronde Lumber Company desiresthese lands not included in the reserve 

is to me sufficient reason tojustify their inclusion within the boundaries. The Grande Ronde 

LumberCompany has recently been absorbed by the Oregon Lumber Company, whichowns and 

has operated on large areas of the Pine Belt of Eastern Oregon.All sections contiguous to the 

Grande Ronde River have been logged overby them and left in a hopelessly denuded condition. 

It is only naturalthat they should desire to continue their operation and cover all of thedesirable 

timber bodies in that region. [30] 

The Oregon Lumber Company, with headquarters atBaker, also asked for elimination of an area 

along the line of theSumpter Valley railroad; this, also, was not granted. [31] 

Creation of the reserve was delayed at least a yearby the land fraud trials involving Williamson, 

Hermann, Ormsby, Mitchelland others; the papers dealing with the reserve were used as 

evidence inthe trial. At length, however, on March 18, 1906, the reserve wasproclaimed, 

covering an area of 2,627,270 acres. 

V. Other Reserves in Eastern Oregon 

The Heppner reserve. The area which laterbecame the Heppner reserve was a spur of the Blue 

Mountains west andsouth of the main range, in form a high plateau averaging 4,500 feet 

inelevation. The timber type was much the same as in the Blue Mountains,primarily pine on the 



southern slopes, trending into tamarack on thenorthern. The timber was badly needed for 

protective cover, to preservethe springs that had their sources in the woods. Forage was of 

thePacific bunchgrass type. 

The mountains had coal mines, and there had been atimber boom in the mountains in 1902, when 

timber locators found therich timber bodies and "located scores of patriots on the lands for 

theconsideration of $100 per location." The main industry, however, wasgrazing. California 

sheep used the area for a range, and in 1902 a rangewar broke out, when miners and cattlemen 

joined to keep the sheepmenout. Colts and Winchesters were used to protect the range; oneowner 

lost 400 sheep, and others in proportion, andseveral herders were wounded. The whole sympathy 

of the people was withthe cattlemen. As the Oregonian reporter wrote, "No Grant Countyjury 

that it would be possible to assemble would convict a Grant Countyman for shooting a 

sheepherder engaged in pasturing 'outside' sheep onGrant County range." [32] 

There was need for a reserve there for a variety ofreasons. The prime need was to regulate 

grazing. Every acre that couldgrow a blade of grass was in demand. In addition to the 

residentstockmen, the spur was used as a driveway to the main range of the BlueMountains, and 

many transient sheep found it a substitute range. Thearea was badly overgrazed; some twenty 

bands of 2,000 sheep grazed thearea, and partial users brought the number up to 360,000. 

The temporary withdrawal of the area was made on May29, 1902, on the recommendation of H. 

D. Langille. He had, at the time,no personal knowledge of the country, but was aware of the fact 

that alarge number of timber land entries were being made at the La GrandeLand Office, and 

desired to protect the local timber supply. The initialwithdrawal covered parts of Morrow, 

Umatilla and Gilliam Counties,and included 

Township (South) Range 

7 23 

6-7 24 

6-7-8 25 

6-7-8 26 

6-7-W1/2-8 27 

4-5-6-N1/2-7 28 

4-5-6 29 

4-5-6 30 

The original withdrawal was about 334,000 acres. Muchof this had proved to be unsuitable, but 

other vacant land had beenadded. The area of the revised reserve was 261,600 acres, of 

which18,320 acres had adverse title through homestead, Timber and Stoneentries and school 

land. 

Langille examined the area in 1903, and found sentimentgenerally favorable to the reserve. He 

arrived at Heppner justafter a flash flood had nearly destroyed the town, and probably 

foundpeople willing to listen to his discussion of the value of protectivecover. Aside from this, 



however, both cattlemen and sheepmen desired thereserve to get a stable grazing policy; and 

the Heppner Gazettestrongly supported its creation. [33] 

The Maury Mountain reserve. The situation onthe small Maury Mountain reserve was much like 

that inthe Heppner reserve. This tract, like the Heppner, was withdrawn toforestall timber 

speculators. As Langille wrote in asking for thewithdrawal, 

Several sections of the timber land have already been covered with lieuscrip secured by base 

within the proposed Blue Mountain reserve, butthis base cannot be valid at this time, hence it is 

my desire to securethese lands for forest purposes before it is too late. [34] 

The ninety sections were withdrawn April 21, 1903. 

The area was valuable to protect the sources of theCrooked River, which rose in the area and 

received no additions belowthe timber. The grazing situation was much the same as in the 

Heppner. Sheep were shot every spring,ricks, barns and houses burned, and threats of personal 

violence made bycattlemen against sheepmen. One of the sheepmen had lost thirty-sixtons of hay 

and seven barns by burning, and had 2,000 sheep shot. Muchof the public domain had been 

illegally fenced by the leading cattleman.In addition, timber theft was common in the locality, 

with one millcutting 6,000 feet a day in the area withdrawn. 

Sheepmen, the investigator reported, were largely infavor of the reserve, feeling that it would 

help solve their grazing difficulties. Cattleman, on the otherhand, opposed it, thinking that they 

could handle matters in their ownway. [35] 

The Wallowa and Chesnimmus reserves. TheJoseph River temporary withdrawal was made May 

21, 1903, on therecommendation of H. D. Langille, who feared that this area, like theHeppner 

and the Maury Mountain areas, would be used for speculativepurposes. The withdrawal was in 

the Powder River country, the mostrugged area of land in northeastern Oregon, with peaks 

ranging up to10,000 feet in height. Little agriculture was practiced in the area, asmuch of it was 

above timberline, and all was at a high elevation. Bullpine in places grew to the volume of 

10,000 board feet per acre; but thetimber was badly scarred by light-burning. The area, of 

747,910acres, was classified as follows: 

 Acres % 

Forested 545,580 71.61 

Burned 48,700 6.51 

Grazing 52,800 7.06 

Barren 100,880 14.82 

Some lumbering activity was carried on in or near thereserve. Nine mills, operating mainly to 

supply theneeds of the miners, were located between Union andPine Valley on the south side of 

the reserve, and three operated on thenorth side; their combined output amounted to three million 

board feetper year. There was some mining, particularly in the vicinity ofCornucopia, but 

grazing was the main activity in the region. Sentimentwas favorable toward the reserve, with 



seventy per cent for, ten percent against, and twenty per cent indifferent. Much of the 

oppositioncentered at Baker City, where people were interested in the mining atCornucopia. 

Adjoining this withdrawal was the Chesnimmus withdrawal,another grazing reserve with the 

same general characteristicsand activities as the former. The withdrawal of this area was at 

firstcontested by people from Wallowa City, where business had been aided byan influx of 

timber locators, and where some farmers had been alarmed atthe withdrawal of agricultural land. 

By 1904, however, eighty-five percent of the people affected were for the reserve. [36] 

The Wenaha reserve. The Wenaha reserve was theonly reserve in the region situated partly in 

both states.The area is a high one between the Grande Ronde and the Snake Rivers, 

innortheastern Oregon and southwestern Washington, covering parts ofColumbia, Walla Walla, 

Garfield and Asotin Counties in Washington, andUmatilla, Union and Wallowa Counties in 

Oregon. It consists of highbroken mountain ranges, basalt rim rocks and narrow gorges, and 

rangesin elevation from 1,700 to 7,000 feat. The area rises gradually from aseries of benches on 

the Grande Ronde River to narrow divides and deepcanyons in the north. The foothills had once 

been a tract of unbrokenconiferous forests, but in 1904 these were cut over, and the hill 

topsburned and denuded by overgrazing of sheep. Higher up, there was bullpine and white fir, 

with the white fir extending its area at the expenseof the bull pine; higher still, a mixed stand of 

red fir, tamarack,white fir, and lodgepole pine. 

This area was bunchgrass country, and furnishedgrazing for 200,000 sheep, 40,000 cattle, and 

15,000 horses. Most of thesheep were home-owned, in Asotin, Walla Walla, Garfield, 

andColumbia Counties in Washington, and in Umatilla, in Oregon, with somecoming in from 

Idaho. For winter range the desert was used—the scab land,so called from its outcrops of trap 

and basalt. In spring, afterthe lambing season, the herds were taken to the hills in bands of 

1,500to 2,500, leaving the desert in May, going up the slopes in June, to arrive in the timbered 

land by July or August, andreach the alpine meadows by September. They returned to the 

lowlands inOctober. 

This reserve was another of those which had theirorigin in the needs of cities. On July 17, 1900, 

E. H. Libby, Presidentof the Lewiston Light and Power Company, and founder of Lewiston, 

askedthe Land Office for examination of the mountains in the vicinity ofAsotin Creek, that a 

reserve might be created there to protect thestream flow. The area was ade a temporary 

withdrawal in October, 1902;and immediately a large number of petitions pro and con came into 

theLand Office. [37] R. R. Peabody of Dayton, Washington, and anumber of others who claimed 

residence in T. 9 N., R. 41 E., W. M.,protested on the grounds that they had homes in the area 

contemplated.The Asotin County Wool Growers also protested against the reserve. Onthe other 

hand, Cary B. Toflin, an Idaho man interested in the reserves,made a trip there in 1902 to see for 

himself; and in a letter to theLand Office of March 2, 1902, he stated that many people protested 

thereserve because of misrepresentations by sheep men. He himself favoredthe reserve for its 

favorable effect on water supply. By 1903 sentimentswung strongly toward the reserve. D. F. 

Welch, County Clerk ofAsotin County, and W. H. Hooper, a local farmer,wrote favoring the 

reserve for its effect on water needed for irrigation,and before the end of the year many petitions 

came in from theresidents of Garfield, Asotin and Wallowa Counties asking that thetemporary 

withdrawal be made permanent. [38] 



W. H. B. Kent made an inspection of the area in1903-04. In his report he strongly favored 

making thereserve a permanent one. He wrote, 

Local sentiment is strongly in favor of this reserve.The only opposition comes from nomadic 

sheep men from beyond theColumbia and Snake Rivers and from misapprehension of settlers 

onunsurveyed lands who have been led to believe that that a forest reservewould make it 

impossible for them to obtain title. 

Farmers, water mill men, irrigation interests,cattlemen, and local sheep owners all favored the 

reserve. The chiefadministrative problem, Kent wrote, would be division of range betweencattle 

and sheep. Kent favored alloting the bunchgrass range on thelower slopes of the mountains to the 

cattle, leaving the ridge tops andinterior hills to the sheep. [39] 

VI. Reserves in the Southern and Eastern Oregon Grazing Lands 

The same general conditions that furnished thebackground to creation of reserves in northeastern 

Oregon also operated insouthern and central Oregon. Range wars, conflicts of resident 

stockmenwith tramp or out-of-state sheep owners, and timberspeculation, all played their part. 

In Klamath and Lake Counties there is a high plateau,broken by basin ranges with internal 

drainage, and many alkali lakes andswamps. In the northern part of the region lies the 

headwaters of theDeschutes River. The main cities, Bend and Prineville, are on theoutskirts of 

the area, and serve as outfitting centers, while within thearea itself are small towns, such as 

Lakeview, Paisley and SilverLake. Grazing was, and is, the main industry. 

The Warner Mountain withdrawal (later the Fremontreserve) was originally concerned with the 

protection of the watersupply. In 1898 Forest Superintendent B. F. Allen, of California, 

madeinvestigations which culminated in creation of the Modoc NationalForest, just below the 

California border. In a report to CommissionerHermann of May 27, 1900, Superintendent G. I. 

Teggard asked that anadditional reserve be created in northern California and around GooseLake 

across the Oregon border, on the grounds that it wouldprotect the water supply and stop unlawful 

cutting oftimber around Goose Lake. Teggard reported that a great majority of thepeople were 

for the reserve, with the only objectors sheepmen, sawmillmen and shake makers. Disastrous 

fires, he reported, had been caused bythe light-burning sheepmen; and shake makers had ruined 

millions offeet of sugar pine. The Geological Survey, however, rejectedconsideration of the 

reserve in 1902, giving "characteristically" nocause. [40] 

The settlers themselves decided to take action. Theywere having difficulty over grazing matters. 

Local ranchers grazed some13,800 cattle, 2,200 horses and 38,500 sheep. The local range 

wouldsupport this number; but the local stockmen were troubled by nomadicherds. The area was 

overrun each year by thousands of mutton sheep,traveling on the California sheep trail. They 

would drive up theDeschutes Valley ostensibly to a California market, but in reality tograze in 

the area and head north again in the fall. Probably 100,000foreign sheep grazed in the area 

annually, devastating the local range.Range warfare broke out, and large numbers of the visiting 

herds werekilled. Some settlers were forced to rent range on the nearby KlamathIndian 

Reservation. 



Encouraged by the success of grazing regulation inthe Cascade Mountains, the settlers sought 

relief by asking forcreation of a reserve. Local ranchers circulated apetition for a hundred miles 

to the north and to the south of SilverLake, asking for instant creation of a reserve, that 

grazingmight be regulated. Not a rancher in the districtaffected refused to sign; W. H. B. Kent 

compared the list of names onthe petition from settlers of the Deschutes Valley, Silvies and 

SummerLake Valleys, and Paisley, with the list of actual settlers, and foundsentiment unanimous 

for the reserve. One remonstrance against thereserve was circulated by F. W. Chrisman of Silver 

Lake, a hotel keeperwho desired to stand in well with the timber locators; but it was signedby 

floaters and timber locators rather than bona fide residents. 

In May, 1903, the Bureau of Forestry investigated thearea and recommended its temporary 

withdrawal, which was accomplished onJuly 27, 1903. In 1904 840,010 acres, on examination, 

were released as unsuitable for areserve, and other areas in the Oregon Central Wagon Road 

Grant werereleased. The area was permanently withdrawn as the Fremont NationalForest in 

1906. [41] 

An additional temporary withdrawal, which eventuallybecame a part of the Fremont Reserve, 

was added on the westernedge of the Fremont in 1904. The area was part ofthat affected by a 

great speculative boom in timber, begun in 1900 andat its height in 1902, which concerned the 

area between Ashland andKlamath Falls on the west and upper Klamath Lake and Summer Lake 

on theeast. Rumors were prevalent that a railroad would be built into the areafrom the south, 

making large stands of bull pine and sugar pineaccessible. Speculators came into the region by 

the hundreds, enteringby way of Ashland or Klamath Falls, traveling by wagon across 

countryand locating in the mature bull pine country around Sprague River andSummer Lake. The 

majority of the speculators were from Wisconsin, Iowaand Minnesota, much to the disgust of 

native Oregonians in the area. ByOctober 23, 1902, two thousand entries had been made on 

timber land inKlamath and Lake Counties. [42] 

The examiner found most of the best timber taken up,usually under the Timber and Stone Act, 

though, as he reported, "A few,being short of ready cash, have made entries under the 

Homestead Act,and are going through the usual flimsy pretext of making a home and farm, witha 

9 x 9 log shack and a square rod of scratched-up gravel." About tenper cent of the land in the 

proposed reserve had been alienated in thisway. Here, also, as on the adjoining sections of the 

Fremont, sheep haddriven out the cattle. Little opposition to the reserve was voiced bybona fide 

residents; there was some, however, from timber locators andtramp sheepmen. [43] 

VII. 1907 Reserves 

Boundary work, and creation of new national forests,continued until 1907. In that year an 

amendment to the appropriationbill took away from the President, and gave to Congress, the 

power tocreate national forests in Oregon, Washington, Idaho, Montana, Colorado,and 

Wyoming. This amounted to repeal of section 24 of the law of 1891.Had the blow fallen full 

force, it would have given the forest administrationa severe blow. Roosevelt and Pinchot, 

however, had the factsavailable on timbered areas in the states concerned; and in the timebefore 

Roosevelt signed the bill, he proclaimed twenty-one newreserves, or additions to old ones, in the 

areaconcerned, totalling more than sixteen millionacres. [44] 



Writers have contended that Roosevelt's actionwas violently opposed in the west, but this verdict 

mustbe subjected to some qualifications. Most of the area had been examinedby the Bureau of 

Forestry or the Forest Service long before thewithdrawal, and the action was not an unexpected 

one. Press opinion inthe Puget Sound area was violently opposed to the action; but that presshad 

always been unfriendly to the conservationists and oftenirresponsible in attacks on them. [45] 

Both Portland paperssupported the President's action. 

Lumbermen's opinions varied. Puget Sound paperseditorialized that the reserves would redound 

to the benefit of timberbarons, who owned tracts of land around the reserves and could buy 

fromthem as well as log their own holdings. Small loggers, on the contrary,lacking transportation 

or access, could get no such sales. [46]However, the Secretary of the Pacific Coast Lumber 

Manufacturer'sAssociation told Roosevelt that western lumbermen approved of hisaction; and 

the Oregonian, in interviewing Oregonlumbermen, found a general feeling that the action would 

have littleeffect on the lumber market. The Inman-Paulsen interests, whichowned the largest mill 

in Portland, and the Western Lumber Company,supported the reserve policy heartily, and little 

adverse sentiment wasrecorded by the interviewer. [47] The policy of cooperationbetween the 

industry and the forest administration was well establishedby this time, and there is nothing in 

the lumber trade journals toindicate a wave of indignation over the action. It is likely that 

theeditorials in the conservative papers represented, as E. T. Allen putit, "the feelings of a very 

small coterie of Bellingham timberspeculators" rather than the feelings of the region as awhole. 

[48] 

Official stands of the states varied greatly. InWashington the official opposition was headed by 

E. W. Ross, the StateLand Commissioner. Mr. Ross will be the subject of detailed attention ina 

later chapter; it is sufficient at this time to say that he was theimplacable enemy of the Forest 

Service, and responsible for much of thebad publicity the Service received in the Seattle and 

Tacomanewspapers. It was he who was primarily responsible for twolong legislative memorials 

against the reserves, onecontaining thirty-two, the other thirty-eight,"whereases." [49] E. T. 

Allen, at the time of the session, hadgained permission to present the point of view of the Forest 

Service tothe members of the joint legislative committee on forest affairs; buthardly had he 

begun to do so when Ross took the floor, attacked theService bitterly, asked for an executive 

session and hustled Allen outthe door. Allen had no chance to present the Government's case. 

[50] 

In Oregon the situation was different. HereRoosevelt, Governor Chamberlain, Pinchot and 

regional members of theForest Service worked closely on conservation matters. The Oregon 

StateLegislature also petitioned Congress that year; but their petitionrelated to administrative 

matters, rather than asking for reversal ofthe President's action. [51] 

In the areas immediately affected by the reserves,the answer is easier to arrive at. The Bureau of 

Forestry, and later theForest Service, in their boundary work, tookgreat pains to get the views of 

those living in, orusing the forests. Their reports are entitled to a high degree ofcredibility, since 

they were made on the spot by trained and honest men,and were confidential reports for the 

Chief Forester, rather thanpropaganda prepared for public consumption. From their reports, 

itwould appear that in a substantial majority of the cases, the peopleimmediately effected by the 

reserves favored such additions. 



TABLE 2 

ROOSEVELT RESERVES OF 1907 

 

Name of Reserve Acres 

Date of Recommendation 

of Withdrawal 

Local Sentiment of 

Those Actually Affected 

by Reserve 

 

Washington 

Snoqualmie 2,275,000 1904 pro-reserve 

Colville 857,000 1905-07 pro-reserve 

Olympic (addition) 119,000 ? against reserve 

Rainier (addition) 730,000 1904 unknown 

 

Total acreage, Washington 3,981,000  

Area of pro-reserve sentiment 3,132,000  

Area of anti-reserve sentiment 119,000  

Unknown 730,000  

 

Oregon 

Blue Mountain (addition) 977,000 1904-07 pro-reserve 

Siskiyou (addition) 446,000 1903 against reserve 

Wenaha (addition) 71,000 1904 pro-reserve 

Cascade (addition) 514,000 1904 pro-reserve 

Ashland (addition) 154,000 1904-07 pro-reserve 

Tillamook 165,000 ? ? 

Coquille 140,000 ? ? 

Umpqua 802,000 1904 mixed 

Imnaha 783,000 1904 pro-reserve 

 

Total acreage, Oregon 4,052,000  

Area of pro-reserve sentiment 2,499,000  

Area of anti-reserve sentiment 446,000  

Mixed or unknown 1,107,000 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 7 

THE NATIONAL FORESTS IN DISTRICT SIX, 1905-1913 

 

I. E. T. Allen 

Administration of the National Forests came under the Department of Agriculture in 1905, and 

Pinchot was given the opportunity to run things his own way. One of the first steps he took was a 

reorganization of the administration, to give more regional autonomy. Formerly matters having 

to do with administration of the national forests, such as selling timber or buying tools for fire 

fighting, had to be cleared with the Washington office. Local problems could not be solved on 

local grounds, as Pinchot desired, under this system. After consultation with Henry Gannett, F. 

E. Olmsted, E. T. Allen and others, a policy of district decentralization was developed. Though 

the change was not completed until 1908, a beginning was made in 1905. Chief inspectors were 

chosen for each district, whose duties would be to improve personnel of the forests, and inspect 

and report on actual work done in regard to permits, contracts, protection and improvement of 

the forests. [1] In Washington and Oregon, District 6, the district inspector was E. T. Allen, a 

man who for over thirty years exercised a powerful influence in forest management, both in the 

Pacific Northwest and in the United States. 

Edward Tyson Allen [2] was born in New Haven, Conneticut, the son of Professor O. D. Allen 

of Yale. He was first educated at a grammar school; but at the age of ten his formal education 

ended. His father at that time resigned his position and moved west, settling in heavily timbered 

country in the Nisqually valley near the foot of Mt. Rainier, sixty miles by foot or horse trail 

from the nearest settlement or road. There Allen grew up, and was educated by his father. Young 

Allen met Pinchot on one of his trips west in 1896 or 1897, and served him as packer. In 1898 he 

worked as a ranger under the old Land Office regime. That fall he worked for a time on 

the Tacoma Daily Ledger as a reporter, but by December 2, 1898, had decided on forestry as a 

career, and wrote to Pinchot telling him of his decision. Pinchot encouraged him in this. [3] The 

next year Allen was selected as a Student Assistant, and spent the summer with Alfred Gaskill in 

the northwest, making a study of red fir for the Bureau. 

In 1900 Allen again worked in the northwest, gathering information for a technical treatise on the 

western hemlock. Farsighted lumbermen like Frank Haines Lamb had long been concerned over 

the loss of revenue, and waste, caused by the non-salability of western hemlock. The treatise was 

intended to benefit lumbermen by explaining the possible uses of the wood and facts about its 

growth and reproduction. Allen, with one assistant, studied old growth hemlock from April to 

June in Snohomish County and second growth hemlock in Cowlitz County. Pinchot sent him 

eight assistants in July, and he continued the work, doing the falling himself because of the July 

shutdown of mills. This was, he wrote, "about as well, anyway, to get the Harvard rubbed off the 

students before they come in contact with the loggers." During this time he managed to ingratiate 

himself with Senator A. G. Foster, vice President of the St. Paul and Tacoma Lumber Company, 

whom he had met the year before with Pinchot and Overton Price. As he wrote in his letter: 



My ostensible purpose in seeing him was to ask for suggestions. I thought it would jolly him a 

little to appear to be anxious to carry out any wish be might have in booming fir and hemlock. 

My true reason, was to use him as a lever to wrest something out of the St. P. and T. L. Co., 

which is a mulish and disobliging corporation. 

The attempt was signally successful. He finally worked up considerable interest in our methods 

of obtaining yield tables, rate of growth, etc., and repeatedly turned to his secretary and 

remarked, "Well, well, there's more in this than I thought there was." He asked my opinion on 

several of the problems of the forest reserves, and finally grabbed me by the arm and started on a 

tour of the mill, introducing me to the superintendents and asking them to give me any assistance 

they could. 

By November 3, Allen had gained Foster's confidence to the point that Foster was asking Allen 

for assistance in a speech he was preparing, to point out that proper management of forest 

watersheds was more desireable than excpenditures for storage basins. [4] 

Allen's work for the next five years was varied. He was loaned to the Department of the Interior 

for a year or more, first to clean up an administrative tangle in the Black Hills, and later as a 

special agent of the Department in other parts of the country. In 1902 his treatise on western 

hemlock was published. Later he did inspection work in the Priest River country of Idaho, and in 

Wyoming and Colorado. 

In 1906 he went to California. That state had longbeen in the vanguard of states cooperating with 

the Federal forestpolicy. In 1903, the legislature passed an act permitting the StateBoard of 

Examiners te enter into contract with the Bureau of Forestry toinvestigate the forest resources of 

the state and formulate a stateforest policy. One of the recommendations that came out of the 

study wasthat a State Forester be appointed to carry on the state forestry work.Pinchot 

recommended Allen for the job, and Allen accepted, retaining afoothold in the Service, however, 

as Inspector. 

Allen's work was mainly educational, awakening thepublic to the value of forestry work and fire 

prevention. The CaliforniaPromotion Committee, which represented all commercial 

organizations, theboards of trade, chambers of commerce, and other groups were all calledon for 

support, through special appeals, personal and circular letters,newspaper articles and pamphlets. 

Similar appeals were addressed tostockmen, miners, land owners, and water users. 

The response of the organizations was on the wholefavorable. Writing to Pinchot December 17, 

1905, Allen told how theCalifornia Promotion Committee had passed resolutions on the 

reservework, asking for extension of reserves, and had also passed resolutionson grazing on the 

reserves. Allen wrote, 

I got on the resolutions committee and in that waygot them through. A lot of fool forest 

resolutions were handed in but Iwrote a substitute and stuck the grazing clause in the middle so 

no onecaught its importance in time to kick. 



In Southern California he found sentiment strong forthe reserves—almost too strong, in fact. 

Fruit growers nearPasadena and San Bernadino were so anxious to have fire line and trailwork 

pushed near the reserve that they offered to contribute twothousand dollars from their own 

pockets for the purpose of financing it.When a reduction of forest forces became necessary for 

reasons ofeconomy, Superintendent T. P. Lukens of the San Bernardino and SanGabriel 

Reserves protested. Lukens, a former mayor of Pasadena, askedthe Chamber of Commerce of 

that city to protest also, and otherremonstrances came from the Pasadena Board of Trade, the 

Merchant'sAssociation, and other civic groups. Allen had his clashes, sometimeswith men of 

prominence and influence. He disputed with W. B. Greeley,then stationed in southern California, 

over their relative spheres ofauthority, and with Stewart Edward White, who had the ear of 

thePresident and rendered well-meant but unsolicited advice on how tohandle the reserves. 

Yet Allen's achievements, in his year in office, wereconsiderable. He began a systematic 

administration of the CaliforniaState Redwood Park; secured the cooperation of five counties in 

firepreventive work with the State Forestry Board; and worked out agreementson protection 

against range fires with the Stockmen's PreventiveAssociation of Alameda and San Joaquin 

counties. He felt, at the end ofhis term, that he had succeeded in changing public opinion for 

thebetter. His work, he wrote, had been primarily educational; the work ofhis successors would 

be to use this foundation for better administrationof the state's forests. [5] 

In July, 1906, Allen was appointed to the post ofForest Inspector, in District 6, composed of 

Washington, Oregon andAlaska. [6] By both training and aptitude, hewas eminently qualified to 

fill the position. His training as anewspaper man, and his work for the state and the Bureau of 

Forestry,had taught him the value of good public relations, and the channels bywhich the people 

could be reached. He was both an experienced technicalforester and a trained administrator. 

Moreover, he was known andrespected by the lumbermen, whom he knew both through working 

with themand through his book on western hemlock. Though personally shy as adeer, and far 

from being a glad-hander of the Chamber of Commerce type,he inspired the confidence both of 

the public and of the men under himin district work. 

II. Personnel and Public Relations in District Six 

The chief problems of the new district inspector werethree in number: To create a favorable 

climate of opinion toward theForest Service; To tighten up and improve local administration of 

theforests; and to supervise, and improve, use of the forests. On thesetasks he set to work with 

vigor; with such vigor, indeed, that withinthree years he was on the verge of a nervous 

breakdown, and had to takea rest cure in Tahiti. 

Allen used all the tricks he had learned as newspaperman and as administrator to create a 

favorable public opinion. Hebefriended C. S. Jackson, editor of the Oregon Journal, and invited 

himto a series of supervisor and ranger meetings as his guest. [7] On the state level, in Oregon, 

he was able towork closely with Governor Chamberlain during this period, but inWashington 

relations remained strained until 1909, because of aclose tie-up of interests hostile to the forest 

service with statenewspapers and politicians. 



A favorable public opinion, however, dependedprimarily on how local problems were handled 

by the men administeringthe forests. Much depended on the local district organization, theability 

of the supervisors and rangers to meet the public and to workwith them in solving local 

problems. It was one of Allen's chiefproblems in the first two years of his administration, and 

one of hisgreatest lasting achievements, to get a strong working districtorganization. 

The supervisor and ranger posts were, at the time ofAllen's arrival, manned by Land Office 

appointees, who had got theirjobs before 1905. The actively dishonest ones had been weeded 

out, butnone of them were technically trained foresters. Some were excellentmen, making up in 

intelligence and industry what they lacked intechnical training, and having a knowledge of local 

conditions that wasextremely valuable. Allen's task was to weed out the obvious 

incompetents,and fill their places with competent men; to get a nucleus of menwith professional 

training; and to transfer the men to the posts theywere best suited to fill. 

Allen had from the beginning some competent trainedhelp. H. D. Langille, W. H. B. Kent, and 

others engaged in boundary workwere, when the boundary work slackened off, available for 

other duties.Fred Ames, a technically trained forester who had worked in thesouthwest, came out 

as an assistant to Allen in February, 1907; [8] and Shirley Buck, a clerk in the Wenahaforest who 

had shown unusual competence, was transferred to Allen'sPortland headquarters in 1907. [9] 

GranvilleAllen, E. T. Allen's brother, was appointed supervisor of the RainierNational Forest. 

[10] 

In addition, some of the men in the supervisor andranger posts were above the average in 

capability. Such a man was M. J.Anderson, supervisor of the Siskiyou forest, who has been 

mentionedbefore in connection with the Minto-Muir dispute. Anderson, a welleducated man who 

had an excellent knowledge of land laws, had builttrails in the mountains and told the people of 

the benefits of thereserve, with the result that the Service had become popular in thesection. E. T. 

Allen, in attending a meeting of the Oregon IrrigationAssociation at Grants Pass, wrote that in 

the three days the sessionlasted he had not heard a work of criticism of the Forest Service, As 

hewrote, "The banner above the stage bore the words, 'We appreciate theForest Service.' 

Resolutions were passed praising the Service and theNational Forest Policy." That such was the 

feeling was due to Anderson'swork. [11] 

There were other men of similar caliber. In theOlympic Forest, Supervisor Fred Hanson and 

Ranger Christ Morgenroth werecapable woodsmen; both were squaw-men, and this circumstance 

helpedcreate better relations with the Indians in the area. [12] A. S. Ireland, a native Oregonian 

ofpioneer stock, was made supervisor of the western division of the BlueMountains, and helped 

avert a range war in the Prineville district. [13] Cy Bingham, a man of cockney and Irishancestry 

who had been in turn cowboy, millwright, miner, stationaryengineer, blacksmith and assayer, in 

1903 settled down and became aranger, and for five years, with his wife, patrolled the Cascade 

forest.He became supervisor of the Deschutes, and served there for thirteenyears. [14] 

Some of the men were valuable for other reasons inaddition to their administrative worth. One of 

these men was Smith C.Bartrum, who had become a ranger in 1899 and was promoted to 

Supervisorof the Umpqua forest later. In January, 1907, Allen received word thatthe Oregon 

legislature planned to attempt to enact a forest fire law,and that he might aid in getting the right 



kind of a law passed. Allensent Bartrum, who was a former politician, to act as lobbyist. 

Bartrumwas instrumental in getting the law through, and was nominated to theOregon State 

Board of Forestry as a Forest Service representative. AsAllen wrote, "I feel that Mr. Bartrum's 

service in passing the billmakes it impossible to name anyone else." [15] 

In 1908 a district reorganization was put intoeffect. As Overton Price wrote to Allen, then taking 

a rest on Tahiti,"In its larger aspects it is the same one that you and Olmsted andseveral more of 

us have had in mind for a great many years." [16] Men like Overton Price, F. E. Olmsted andE. 

T. Allen were convinced that district independence would be theanswer to the question of 

solving local problems on local grounds. Theforests to that time had been run, in all essentials, 

from Washington,but Washington was so remote that it was difficult to get a smooth andefficient 

local organization with healthy local initiative. The DistrictInspector idea had aided to some 

extent, but did not go far enough. Thereorganization of December 1, 1908, divided the forests 

into sixvirtually independent districts, in charge of district foresters. Eachwas to be a Washington 

in miniature, with the Washington functionalorganization, and the district forester was given 

practically fullauthority to run his district. The organization was carried down to thenational 

forests, under their supervisors; and the forests in thenorthwest were cut into twenty-six smaller 

national forests forconvenience in administration. [17] 

The change meant a much larger staff for thedistrict, and much greater responsibilities for Allen, 

as DistrictForester. He returned to Portland, and made arrangements for the influxof technical 

men and clerical help that would arrive in December. A listof the new personnel came on 

October 31, and Allen rented office spacein the old Beck building for them. [18] Tothe new staff, 

and especially the female clerical staff, the move was ahigh adventure. Will C. Barnes, the chief 

of grazing, caught some oftheir spirit when he wrote, on the eve of their departure: 

Oh, they're whispering in the corners 

And talking in the hall 

They are scheming and a-planning 

Where to migrate in the fall, 

They are telling one another 

Of the places they like best; 

Oh, the whole blame outfit's "locoed" 

'Cause we're going out West. 

 

"Have you ever lived in Portland?" 

"Is it wet or is it dry?" 

"Do you think you'd like Missoula?" 

"If you do, please tell me why." 

"Is the living high in Denver?" 

"Are the ladies there well dressed?" 

Oh these are the burning questions, 

'Cause we're going out West. 

 

"Now I want to go to Frisco 



Even though the earth does quake." 

"Well, I'm wild to see a Mormon 

So I'd much prefer Salt Lake." 

"Do you think that I'll get homesick?" 

"Are the Frisco fleas a pest?" 

What a turmoil has been started 

'Cause we're going out West. 

 

"Oh, they say that board's expensive 

In the town of Albuquerque." 

"But you needn't take a streetcar 

For to reach your daily work." 

"Well, I've heard the living's awful 

(Now please don't think me silly) 

But really, do they live out there 

On only beans and chili?" 

Oh, such like doubts and troubles 

Daily agitate the breast 

Of each one in the Service 

'Cause we're going out West. [19] 

With the newcomers, District Six was at last on asolid basis. George Cecil, whose love of the 

out-of-doors led him toleave his father's shoe factory for the Forest Service, was 

AssistantDistrict Forester; C. J. Buck, Chief of Operations; Fred Ames, Chief ofSilviculture, and 

Howard O'Brien, former supervisor of the Imnaha, Chiefof Grazing. Technical experts such as 

Juluis Kummel, Chief of planting,and Thornton T. Munger, of Silvics, were brought in. The 

group was agood example of the young, capable, intelligent, enthusiastic young menPinchot was 

capable of recruiting and inspiring with his own idealism.They were able to grow up with the 

job. As Fred Ames, reminiscing later,wrote: 

I some times marvel at the nerve we all had intackling the jobs entrusted to us. Fortunately for 

the public, ourorganization, and ourselves, although the amount of work was no less,the 

responsibilities and chances for costly mistakes were infinitelysmaller than they are now. We had 

a chance to grow up with thebusiness. 

Shirley Buck, writing of Daniel F. McGowan, ofClaims, wrote: 

In December, 1908, it was clear that Dannie coulddiscern little difference between a lien 

selection and a mineral claim,but now in 1923, after 20 years of hard work, the Northern 

PacificRailway will attest that he has fathomed all the intricacies of thepublic land laws and 

ranks as the discoverer of the million dollarcomma, which he uncovered before a Congressional 

committee. [20] 

The supervisor staff was also strengthened byappointment of some able men. Some of the larger 

forests were dividedinto smaller units, for convenience in administration; and some of theweaker 



supervisors were replaced. H. O. Stabler, a Yale graduate, wasappointed to the Columbia 

National Forest, a part of the old Rainier; T.T. Sherrard, one of the founders of the Society of 

American Foresters,to the Mt. Hood; M. L. Erickson to the Fremont, and Burt Kirkland to 

theSnoqualmie. A. H. Sylvester, a former civil engineer who had surveyedthe Mt. Hood 

quadrangle for the Geological Survey, became the firstsupervisor of the Wenatchee, and made a 

remarkable record there. As withthe district forester job, the individual responsibility was great, 

andthe positions required big men to fill them. As one supervisor wrote,"Here and there an 

inspector might be fairly close on the supervisor'strail, but on the whole a supervisor was pretty 

much on his own." [21] They did, on the whole, a competent jobunder conditions which were 

difficult at times, meeting new emergencieswith ingenuity as they rose. The inspection report, 

and thecorrespondence of Allen, Ames and Kent reveal a variety of personalitiesand problems, 

and a variety of interpretations of the Use Book to meetthem. [22] One thing all the reports have 

incommon, however, then as now the bane of the field force; complaintsagainst the endless 

number of official forms to be filled out intriplicate for the files. Nor was the complaint confined 

to Rangers andSupervisors; E. T. Allen, in one of his rare moments of leisure,composed a satire 

on the subject, a literary gem as timely now as it wasthen. In it the hero, a ranger of the 

steriotyped novel or movievariety, finds both his field work and his love affair interferred withby 

the vast number of forms to be filled out. [23] 

Allen attributed much of the success of the Serviceto the district system of organization. In his 

farewell note to Pinchot,on leaving the Forest Service to head the Western Forestry 

andConservation Association, he spoke of the lack of friction and fineesprit de corps among 

them, and ended, "The district system hashad an important effect by establishing personal 

acquaintance andconfidence among lumbermen and others." [24] 

Numerous problems arose in regard to the personnel,however; and one of the most troublesome 

stemmed from suspicion of fieldmen toward office men, and the distrust of those with technical 

trainingtoward those without. Supervisors and rangers, so far as good men wereavailable, were 

picked from local men. As the business managers of eachforest, who had responsibility for local 

administration; and as publicrelations men, whose success might make the difference between 

localhostility and cooperation, men who had roots in the community haddefinite advantages. 

Their job required general ability rather than aknowledge of technical forestry. 

These abilities, however, did not imply an ability toget along with the technical men. The trained 

men in special branches ofthe service, as grazing, silviculture, and so on, worked and reported 

totheir special branch, but did their work under the supervisors on theground. The work was 

planned to enable the technician to make use of thesupervisor's local knowledge of an area; but 

in practice bad feelingsoften developed. A trained man from an eastern school might 

justifiablyfeel that he knew more about forestry than his superior; on the otherhand, the local 

man might well feel that the technical man had learnedtoo much from books and not enough 

from life. 

A number of such incidents occurred. [25] Pinchot and Allen were both concerned overthe 

matter, and looked for some solution. Allen's point of view was thatthere was a definite need for 

technical man, and would be more need inthe future. But there was also need for practical and 

local knowledge.There were two ways of achieving this balance; first, teaching thepractical man 



the scientific end of the work; and second, teaching thetechnical man the local end of it. The first 

had not succeeded, asWestern woodsmen were not willing to spend the time and money needed. 

Onthe other hand, technical men were at first inefficient when faced withnew conditions, but did 

learn to cope with them. 

The problem was a difficult one. The ranger deservedto be rewarded for improvement in his 

work by higher wages andpromotion, and might leave the Service if he did not get such 

rewards.On the other hand, if the technical man had no chance for promotion healso would leave. 

There was, Allen wrote, already trouble in getting andholding foresters. 

"First, we try to meet the Western point of view bygiving our technical men Western 

experience. Second, we are criticizedby the West for doing so to the extent we have. 

Third, the technical mancomplains because we offer him no opportunity." 

However, technical men should not be merelytechnicians; they should learn the forestry work as 

a whole, starting asapprentices on the local level. Eventually there would be room for bothtypes. 

The work would, Allen thought, increase so much that technicalmen would be advanced to posts 

outside the Supervisor's position; alsothere would be more need for deputy supervisors and 

rangers, as timewent on. Meantime, Allen tried to meet the situation by periodicmeetings of 

supervisors and rangers with technical men in the variousdistricts, to create mutual 

understanding; by detailed inspection work,to know more of the forests and the men; and by 

training of rangers inthe Use Book. [26] 

Allen discussed the matter with Pinchot in the latewinter of 1908, on a trip to Washington. It is 

probable that as a resultof this and other conferences that Pinchot conceived the idea of usingthe 

off season for training of rangers and lower personnel at rangerschools. In 1908 the Forest 

Service decided that rangers might takeshort courses at professional forestry schools, if such 

could bearranged, to improve their competence, and draw pay and transportationcosts while so 

doing. [27] 

Both the University of Washington and OregonAgricultural College had been giving some 

instruction in forestry, theformer under Edmond Meany since 1894; but the instruction was not 

on aprofessional level, and to Allen seemed of indifferent value. [28] Growth of interest in 

forestry ledPresident Thomas F. Kane of the University of Washington to establish aprofessional 

school of forestry. 

Kane hired Francis G. Miller, a graduate of the YaleForestry School, who had been teaching 

forestry at the University ofNebraska, to head the new school. Miller started his course in 

1907,with an initial enrollment of seven forestry majors, which had increasedto eleven by the 

second semester. [29] 

By October, 1908, plans were made to start a shortcourse in the winter, when work was slack. 

[30] Miller, who was teaching singlehanded,asked to borrow A. H. Sylvester of the Wenachee 

National Forest, toteach topographical mapping; and Allen secured permission for him to doso. 

[31] Allen also prepared a list ofrecommended courses, of the kinds which would be of most 

value for therangers. The list included Forest Measurment (cruising and scaling), tobe taught by 



a professional cruiser with Miller's aid; Surveying (landsurveying, mapping, and engineering), to 

be taught by the Universitystaff; Law (trespass, and federal and state laws), to be taught by 

theForest Service law officer; Forest Administration, also to be taught bythe law officer; and 

Silviculture, to be taught by Miller. [32] 

The course flourished, and did much towardestablishing the School of Forestry on a firm 

foundation, as well asmaking more competent rangers. Thirty to thirty-five rangers eachyear got 

a degree of technical training for the twelve week period ofthe winter months. The number of 

Forest Service officers used in theprogram increased; the schedule of 1910 shows as teachers J. 

B. Knapp ofProtection, W. E. Henry, Engineer, T. P. McKenzie of Grazing, C. J. Buckof Lands, 

T. T. Hunger of Silviculture, and F. E. Ames, of Sales andGeneral Silviculture. Several members 

of the Service were borrowed forgreater lengths of time, including Burt Kirkland and W. T. 

Andrews. [33] 

In 1910, the ranger short course received aset-back. Probably in connection with the whole 

campaign againstPinchotism, protests were made by congressmen and others that rangersand 

Forest Service men attending school duties were receiving pay whileabsent from their field work. 

About the time the short course was due tostart for the year 1910, the Solicitor of the Department 

of Agricultureruled that Forest Service men could not be absent from their duties withpay to 

attend school, nor could transportation be allowed for thatpurpose. Despite this, all but two or 

three of those at the Universityof Washington elected to stay for the course at their own expense. 

[34] The next year, President Kane asked theSecretary of Agriculture for a new ruling on the 

matter. He stated thatthe ranger courses were organized on a cooperative basis, with 

theUniversity furnishing most of the equipment and the Forest Service mengiving courses of 

special interest in their field. Thirty men desired toattend the course that year. If the Forest 

Service instruction wascurtailed, he wrote, it would lessen the value of the course; also 

theUniversity would find it hard to reemburse the Forest Serviceinstructors, since it was the end 

of the biennium. E. T. Allen supportedPresident Kane, stressing the value of the course, the duty 

of theDepartment to back its men, and the fact that it was the off season forfield work. Secretary 

Wilson compromised to the extent of stating thatthe Forest Service would meet the expenses of 

men and lecturers intraveling between Portland and Seattle, provided the University payedfor 

their subsistence while in Seattle. [35] 

The next year a new policy was adopted. ForestService members whom the University desired to 

hire for the short coursewere given leave without pay. Lectures in connection with the 

coursecould be given freely by officers in cases where there was no expensefor travel, i.e., where 

officers were stationed in the same town.Members of the Service in other parts of the region 

could give lecturesto a limit of forty days, but the travel and subsistence would be paidby the 

University, and the lectures would necessarily be pertinent toForest Service work. [36] The short 

coursecontinued under this arrangement for some years. 

The short course was valuable not only in trainingpersonnel, but in getting increased cooperation 

in forestry betweenstate and national government. Such men as W. T. Andrews, J. P. Hughesand 

Burt Kirkland were borrowed by the University to aid in theirforestry education program. In so 

doing, they aided those they taught inunderstanding Federal forest policy. Professor Miller, in 



cooperationwith the Forest Service, aided in a study of forest taxation inWashington. In 

education, there was growing cooperation between stateand Federal government. [37] 

III. Grazing 

Grazing policy in the national forests was wellestablished by 1905, through studies by Coville, 

Pinchot, and Potter.The policy was based on favoring the local stockmen at the expense 

of"tramp" or out-of-state stock owners. Permits for grazing onthe range in national forests were 

allotted in order of preference to(1) stockmen resident on the national forest; (2) stockmen with a 

ranchon the forest, but resident without; (3) stockmen living in the vicinityof the forest, and (4) 

outsiders with an equitable claim, based on prioruse of the forest range. A fee was charged for 

grazing; thoughchallenged it was upheld by Supreme Court decision in 1911. Grazingallotments 

would be decided by Forest Service officers, working incooperation with local stockmen's 

associations who would act in anadvisory capacity. Locally, the Forest Service encouraged the 

formationof local livestock associations, for the purpose of creating betterunderstanding among 

the stock owners, and better use of forest forageresources. The permittees cooperated in 

enforcement of special rulesadopted for users of a given range, after the rules were approved by 

theForest officer in charge. Such matters as salting, roundups, use ofpurebred bulls, clearing of 

stock driveways, improving springs and thelike, were worked out by the associations, with the 

cooperation of theForest Service. [38] 

Relations of grazers with the Forest Service in thePacific Northwest were remarkably 

harmonious during thisperiod—more so, probably, than in any other region. There wereseveral 

reasons for this. One was that the success of Coville's pioneerwork in 1897 gave the northwest a 

headstart in regulated grazing overother districts. A second factor was the complicated range 

situation ineastern Oregon and Washington, where tramp sheepmen and absentee ownersplagued 

the local stockmen. Local stockmen wanted regulation of grazing,to protect their own interests. 

The great sheep trails were closed by1908, and the tramp sheepmen left to the unappropriated 

public domain;the only area of conflict left was among local stockmen. A third wasthat the large 

livestock associations had but little strength in theregion; local livestock owners felt their loyalty 

to the local livestockassociation, the "company union," that the Forest Service had fosteredto 

solve local problems. [39] 

In a given area, much depended on the skill of thelocal ranger or supervisor in settling local 

problems. Thus W. W. Cryderof the Colville Forest reported sentiment favorable there on the 

groundthat grazing regulation benefitted the local community, and keptoutsiders out of the 

forest; and C. H. Chidsey, Supervisor of theHeppner National Forest, was liked by the stockmen 

and "instrumental inchanging public sentiment adverse to the forest policy to one veryfavorable." 

[40] In the Okanagan country aseries of range wars broke out just previous to creation of the 

forest,between resident cattlemen and invading sheepmen. Three thousand sheepwere killed. 

Then, as one cattleman said, "The national governmentadopted a system by which the national 

forest reserve could be used forgrazing, a policy which proved a God's blessing to all of us." 

Grazingpermits were issued; allotments for sheep and cattle made; and L. E.McDaniels, of the 

Grazing division, helped the local men form the"Buck's Peak Cattle and Horse Raiser's 

Association" to help work forrange peace. [41] In the Imnaha forest, amove to have a large area 

of the reserve, a 1907 addition, returned tothe public domain, was blocked by stockmen, who 



petitioned to have itretained in the forest. The supervisor estimated that ninety percent ofthe 

stockmen favored Forest Service regulation. [42] 

Various problems rose in the local level.Light-burning by stockmen remained a problem, 

particularly sincefire is no respecter of boundaries, and fires that started on privateland or on the 

public domain often swept into national forests. Thegreat fires of 1910 educated some stockmen, 

and more stringent statefire laws also aided, but the problem still remained. In the Wenahaforest 

which is situated both in Washington and Oregon, protests aroseover the relative allotments of 

Oregon and Washington sheep. [43]Some controversies were tedius, and time consuming, even 

comical, but werenot serious. Such was the case of Cornelius Finacune, who asked to graze1200 

sheep on the Goose Lake Reserve. The Supervisor, M. L. Erickson,turned down his request on 

the ground that he was not a landowner; hadno record of prior use of the range, had no 

established range, and didnot specify any particular range in his application. Erickson topped 

itoff by writing, "Furthermore, you are of doubtful citizenship, and inview of the above, your 

application cannot be approved." Finacune tookthe remark on his citizenship as personal insult, 

and appealed toSenator Fulton, who in a letter to Pinchot, warmly defended his Irishconstituent. 

[44] In the Wenatchee, whereBasque rather than Irish sheepherders were hired, a different 

situationarose; the herders could not understand the instructions of therangers, written or spoken. 

H. A. Sylvester suggested that the noticesbe printed in several language. [45] 

The system of working out grazing problems throughthe local protective associations and on the 

local level was highlysuccessful. Disgruntled grazers at first appealed to their congressmen,to the 

disgust of the regional staff; but Albert Potter, of theWashington grazing office, advised the 

regional administration to treatsuch communications with courtesy and respect. [46] Matters 

were usually settled on the ground,however. In the Fremont forest, the closing of the old 

California muttonsheep trail, the leasing of the Weyerhauser lands, and the work of GuyIngram, 

in charge of grazing there, made relations easy to handle. Whendisputes arose, Ingram rode out 

with the disputants to the area inquestion, and settled the matter on the spot, acting as arbitrator. 

[47] The same policy was carried out by CyBingham of the Malheur, who handled delicate 

relations between sheepmenand cattlemen by meeting with representatives of both and 

arbitratingtheir differences of opinion. [48] TheDistrict Forester, in his report for 1912, found 

only two complaintsfrom advisory boards, and both these were settled in a satisfactorymanner. 

[49] The chief complaints from thelarger state associations was that more Forest Service men 

were notpresent. Washington administrative policy permitted only the DistrictForester and the 

District Chief of grazing to attend such meetings; butin the minutes of many meetings regret is 

expressed that the supervisorsand other local officers did not attend, to help thrash out 

localproblems. [50] 

Other factors aided in creating harmonious rangerelations. Cooperative agreements were worked 

out with other owners ofrange land. One of the main problems in land use was caused by 

the"checkerboard" holdings of railroads and Weyerhauser lands within oradjacent to the national 

forests. Since the sections met at a tinypoint, there was no access from one section of railroad 

land to anotherwithout tresspass over government land, and vice-versa. Hence, whoeverleased 

the railroad land had control of the alternate sections ofgovernment land; for nobody could enter 

the government land becausethe railroad land barred ingress. Grazers in such an area of 



mixedownership would have to deal with both the private owner and thegovernment for getting 

on allotment. 

In 1908 George S. Long, local manager of theWeyerhauser interests, conferred with Allen in 

solving the problems ofgrazing on the 300,000 acres of Weyerhanser in the Fremont and 

GooseLake district. Long gave Allen a free hand, and Allen worked out anagreement. The Forest 

Service would determine the area to be grazed, theblock including both railroad and Forest 

Service sections. Permitteeswould get their permits through the Forest Service, to apply to 

thewhole area, and would pay the grazing fee for the Forest Servicepermit. The company, which 

usually charged for grazing by the acre,rather than the head, would collect the grazing charge for 

their ownacreage. Similar agreements were made with the Northern Pacific and theGreat 

Northern railroads. [51] 

Work was also done in improving the range. In 1907the Service, in cooperation with the Bureau 

of Plant Industry, began astudy of sheep ranges, under the general direction of Arthur Potter 

andFrederick V. Coville. Beginning in the Hilly Meadows country of theWallowa Forest, a series 

of grazing surveys were carried out, aimed atfinding new range and increasing the range's 

carrying capacity.In the region, the work was carried on first under the leadership ofJames 

Tertius Jardine, a special agent of the Forest Service in rangeand livestock management, who 

later became director of the Oregon StateExperiment Station; later, as local men, such as Guy 

Ingram gainedcompetence, it was carried on by individual workers in each forest. In1910 the 

Office of Grazing Studies was set up as a new function withinthe organization, and the work 

went on at an increased tempo. C. S.Chapman, Allen's successor as District Forester, took a 

special interestin the work of discovering new range and new water supplies forstock. 

The good relations between grazers and the Serviceshowed to good advantage in 1911, when in 

January of that year both theOregon Woolgrower's Association and the National 

Woolgrower'sAssociation held their meetings in Portland. The Oregon associationmeeting 

preceded that of the national by a day. At this meeting,District Forester Chapman praised the 

work of this sheepmen in helpingcontrol the fires of the previous year, and spoke of the value of 

sheepdriveways as fire lines. Both he and Thomas P. McKenzie, regional Chiefof Grazing, 

described the work of the Service in range reconaisance anddrilling for water in the Paulina 

Mountains, to increase the carryingcapacity of the range, The resolutions of the Association 

praisedChapman and the Forest Service for their work. [52] 

The National Association meeting opened Januarysixth. The meeting began with a long attack on 

Pinchot and Pinchotism bythe Idaho delegates, but closed on a note of friendship to the 

Service.This was largely due to the work of the Oregon delegation. The key tothe friendly tone 

was a resolution by the Wallowa delegation, passedunanimously, that advisory boards be 

appointed for the state andnational associations. Writing to the Forester about this, 

Chapmanreported: 

Undoubtedly, there has never been such good feelingon the part of the state associations 

toward the Service as at present.Through opening up of new range in Washington and 

endeavoring to developwater in the Paulina Mountains, the Oregon wool growers feel 

that theService is really trying to help them and are in an attitude tocooperate with us to 



the fullest extent.... It was extremely fortunatethat the Oregon Association met the day 

preceding the opening of theNational. The support of the Oregon grazers tended very 

largely totemper the proceedings of the national meeting, which, in the past, hasbeen 

anything but fair to the Service. A few talks were made attackingthe policy of the 

Service, but on the whole the proceedings of theNational were far more friendly than I 

judge they have been in thepast. 

The Forester complimented Chapman on his handling ofthe affair, almost his last official act 

before leaving the Service. [54] 

IV. Timber: Fires, Sales and Research 

Fire remained one of the chief problems of theforest. The most important features of this, in the 

perfecting of a firefighting organization involving state, Federal and private owners, isthe theme 

of the next chapter. Within the district organization,however, there were important developments 

in fire fighting, techniques,and in agreements with agencies other than the timber business. 

Techniques of fire fighting were not highlydeveloped, and the Service men had to feel their way. 

Trail systems werebuilt to areas of fire danger, so far as funds permitted. Patrols,rather than 

lookouts, were relied on as the best way to spot fires,though opinions varied from forest to forest, 

and each supervisor hadhis pet method. Lookouts were usually platforms of some sortplaced in 

the top of trees, with some sort of primitive alidade toassist in locating the fire; the Osborne 

firefinder was still some timein the future. The Washington National Forest, for example, 

reported"Lookout towers, 40 ft. high, 12 ft. square at the base carrying aplatform 8 ft. square, 

will be built on forests where there need ispracticable. Upon the platform will be a routable; 

upon the table a map,and upon the map a coat of shellac, also the cardinal points of thecompass." 

[55] Other forests recordedsimilar contrivances to aid in locating fires. Charles Flory, Chief 

ofOperations, worked out in 1912 a system using "a circular protractorwith a disk removed from 

the center so as to leave only a graduatedpermiter" fastened to the map. By the swing of an 

indicator balanced onthe map to indicate the lookout point, the bearing of the fire could beread. 

By pointing the azimuth to another point a cross shot could bemade. [56] 

Actual work in putting out fires was usually a matterof hand work with axe and shovel, using 

packhorses or mules if they wereavailable, for transportation. By 1911 or 1912, however, the 

mechanicalrevolution had begun. Supervisor Bartrum and a local representative ofthe Fairbanks 

Morse Company about that time designed a gasoline pump forfire fighting. Heavy in weight, the 

pump was nevertheless useful on arailroad flat car in areas where railroad logging was carried 

on. [57] By 1911 a motorcycle was used in the Craterforest on patrol work, though it suffered 

difficulty in getting throughthe "pumy" dust; and in the open pine forests of the Deschutes, 

theModel T Ford, with its high wheel clearance and general dependability,was used widely for 

going on fires. [58] By1911 also, Cy Bingham had invented a collapsible plow for building 

firelines. [59] Nevertheless, mechanical changeswere slow in coming; it was not until 1924 that 

Ranger John Kirkpatrickcould write in his diary: 



Automobiles, graded trails, and good roads aresoftening us and making the performances 

of past years seem like adream.... Times have changed and men too or their inclination to 

standhard knocks. [60] 

It remained for the next twenty years to bring aboutthe great era of experimentation in fire 

fighting; the heliograph andcarrier pigeon experiments, the development of the bulldozer, the 

tanktruck, and the portable gasoline pump, and the first use of air patroland radio. 

Relations with state forestry agencies and withprivate owners will be discussed in the next 

chapter; but several of thecooperative agreements with other groups should be mentioned here. 

Manyof the fires were started by railroads, on lines that crossed nationalforests, which spread 

from the railroad right of way to the forest. OnMarch 14, 1910, agreements were reached with 

both the Great Northern andthe Northern Pacific lines, that the companies would pay all 

expenses,exclusive of the regular wages of the protective force, for firesstarted within two 

hundred feet of the track, or for which the railroadwas otherwise responsible. Similar agreements 

were reached between therailroads and the fire fighting associations in Washington, 

Oregon,Idaho and Montana, regarding railroads crossing private holdings. [61] Agreements also 

were made with some of theeighty cities of the northwest which drew on sources within the 

PacificNorthwest, so that by 1917 cooperative agreements, generally sharing thecost of 

watershed protection on a 50-50 basis, were reached withTacoma, The Dalles, Baker City, 

Oregon City, Dufur and Toledo. [62] Relations were less happy between theForest Service and 

the Reclamation Service, when difficulties broke outin connection with the clearing and slash 

burning by the ReclamationService near Lake Keechelus, on the Wenatchee National Forest. 

Firespread from the slash to forest land, and the Forest Service attemptedto get the Reclamation 

Service to pay part of the cost of putting outthe fire. This the Reclamation Service refused to do. 

[63] 

Timber sales were not large during this period.Private timber was still available and accessible, 

and most of theactual cutting done on the forests was in the form of special usepermits for local 

settlers, and small sales. The cutting policy for thefuture, when the national forests would be an 

important source of thenation's timber, engrossed the attention of the men in the district,however. 

They were concerned with two phases of it: the future needs ofthe industry, and the need for 

information on the timber resources ofthe region. 

On August 8, 1908, E. T. Allen wrote to the Foresterhis views in regard to timber sales. He 

believed that in general thenational forests would supply a rotation of crops when private 

timberwas exhausted. Hence, needs of the future was the important factor, andshould be the 

prime aim in directing policy, even if it meant ignoringpresent demands. The cutting rules should 

be primarily set up as a meansof establishing good silvicultural conditions, rather than making 

moneyfor the government; hence, stumpage prices should be set on the basis ofwhether it was 

desirable to increase or decrease sales. The needs of thefuture should govern the number and size 

of sales. There was also needfor more research, even if it meant neglecting current sales work. 

Onthe west slope forests, no information was available as to safe cuttingpractices. More was 

known about east side forest types, but even therethere was need for more research. More had to 

be found out aboutproduction; productive and non-productive areas; classification of agegroups 

and relation of the stand to age and differing conditions.Fortunately, the lumber industry was too 



depressed to admit of any largeapplication for a year or so, and Allen believed that there was 

noimmediate need for worry about sales. [64] 

By January, 1909, terms of sale for the district wereworked out. The policy allowed the district 

to make sales on its own oftwenty-five million board feet per sale west, and ten million east,of 

the Cascades. Larger sales had to have approval of the ChiefForester. Allen had desired the right 

to make independent sales of fiftymillion west and twenty million east of the mountains; but it 

was feltto be better policy to have the Forester approve or disapprove largesales, to avoid 

establishing a set policy too soon. The purchaser, ofcourse, had to follow rules set by the Forest 

Service in selectivecutting, fire control, and slash disposal. [65] 

National policy and regional desires clashed to someextent later that year. Allen's wish was to 

spend time in research. So,ideally, was Pinchot's; but he ran into political difficulties. One ofthe 

big talking points in favor of transfer of the reserves to theDepartment of Agriculture was that 

they would pay for themselves; butthis prediction was not realized. The lumber market was in 

the doldrums;much of the reserve timber was inaccessible, and the Service lacked atrained 

personnel to handle sales. Pinchot wrote to Allen a number oftimes, asking him to push sales, to 

get receipts above that of theprevious year. The Service, he wrote, was committed to raising 

morerevenue; and mature timber in the woods was rotting faster than it wasbeing cut. [66] 

Nevertheless, the sales in1909 was not large; a total of 16,532 M. was sold, valued at 

$27,283;and 20,954 M. was cut, valued at $23,621. [67] 

Sales policy in the district was described in a paperby Fred Ames, in charge of sales. The Forest 

Service, he wrote, was inthe position of a man with some technical training and some 

practicalexperience called in to take charge of a large concern. He needed toknow the class of 

goods in stock; the sources to whom he could supplythem, and the details of marketing and 

manufacturing them. Throughreconnaisance studies, classification of timber types and research, 

theycould arrive at the yield at a given time, and decide when a second cropcould be grown. So 

far, however, only very crude methods had been usedto regulate cutting on the national forests. 

Complete utilization, inthe form of low stumps and small tops; assurance of a second crop, 

andsafety of the timber from fire was as far as they had gone. As to salespolicy, 

Of necessity the sales policy has varied to meet thepressure of circumstances which bore 

no relation to silviculturalregulation of cutting. The revenue had to be increased, it was 

necessaryto demonstrate that the Forests were 'paying propositions,' the ideathat the 

'reserves' bottled up the resources of the country had to bedispelled. 

So far they had played safe in the district. They hadfew large sales, with no possibility of 

overcutting; for the future theyneeded to know what they had, where it was located, what 

regulation wasneeded, and what type of reproduction was best. For the future it wouldbe well for 

the Service to take the initiative in making sales; to selltimber past its period of maximum 

growth, to set the forests in workingplans as soon as possible, on the basis of a substantial annual 

yield;to take care in making cruises and estimates; and to make prices on themerits of the stand, 

rather than allowing recommended prices to become astraitjacket. [68] 



Forest sales increased in 1910, to 52,106 M., anincrease of 215%; and the value of timber sold 

increased to $113,888, anincrease of 317%. The price of stumpage had stiffened, and 

severalbodies of mature and accessible timber were found in the Umpqua and theOlympic 

forests. Moreover, the lumbermen were gaining some acquaintancewith, and confidence in, the 

Forest Service personnel. E. T. Allenresigned that year, to head the Western Forestry and 

ConservationAssociation. His successor, C. S. Chapman, had years before done workfor the 

Weyerhauser Company in the old Division of Forestry, and wasknown and trusted by the 

Weyerhauser interests. The man in charge oftimber sales, Fred Ames, was a quiet, competent 

man with a deep-rootedNew England sense of honor, and quickly gained the respect of 

thelumbermen. In 1911 the first large sale of the northwest, the PelicanBay sale of 103,512 M. 

was made in the Crater Forest. [69] Large scale cutting in the Nationalforests, however, had to 

wait for the war years. 

The District Six reorganization of 1908 was markedalso by an increase in investigative work. It 

is to Pinchot's creditthat, with great pressure on the Service for boundary and 

administrativework, he still managed to allot each year sufficient funds to carry onresearch. 

Work in the field before 1908 had been done largely as anoffshoot of other work; but in 1908 a 

section in Silvics was set up,headed by Thornton T. Munger, a recent Yale graduate in forestry. 

Mungerhad come out earlier that year to investigate the relationship oflodgepole pine and 

ponderosa pine in the Deschutes pumice land, asilvical matter first brought to the attention of the 

Service by W. H.B. Kent. [70] Under Munger and others manyproblems were studied; such as 

the role of fire in reproduction ofDouglas fir; the effect of slash burning on future reproduction; 

damageto ponderosa pine by base scars in light-burning areas;reforestation of the sand dunes in 

the Siuslaw forest, and otherregional matters. Experimental reforestation was carried on in 

theOlympic forest in 1909, and seed planting was tested in 1910 in the oldburns of the Siuslaw. 

In 1908 Raphael Zon interested Pinchot inestablishing Forest Experiment stations in the various 

National Forests.The purpose was to carry on 

...experiments and studies leading to a full andexact knowledge of American silviculture, 

to the most economicutilization of the products of the forest, and to a fuller 

appreciationof the indirect benefits of the forest. 

Stations would be established in typical areas, andeach station would deal with problems peculiar 

to that region. Such asystem would develop a scientific basis on which a forest policy for 

theregion could be founded. [71] 

The first of these stations was established inColorado. By 1911 plans were made to establish one 

in the PacificNorthwest. In May of that year, W. B. Greeley wrote to the DistrictForester, stating 

that a sum of $3000 would be available forestablishing such a station in a fairly typical locality 

in the region.The District Six personnel were luke-warm toward the idea, fearingthat it would be 

established at the expense of the Division of Silvics,which had enough work of its own to do, 

and also fearing that the areawas too complex for any one station to study more than local 

problems.Establishment of the station was postponed for a year; but a portion ofthe grant made 

available for special silvical studies on amabilis fir,grazing, ponderosa pine reproduction, sand 

dune experiments, and studiesof cut-over areas. [72] By the nextyear, T. T. Munger had looked 



for suitable areas, and decided on theWind River valley, out of Carson, Washington, as the best 

place. Hepointed out in his report that there were seven main timber areas in thedistrict—the fog 

belt of the Coast Range, the west slope ofthe Cascades north of the Umpqua River, the south of 

the Umpqua, theBlue Mountains, the Siskiyou Mountains, the east slope of the Cascadesin 

Washington, and the pumice stone east slope in Oregon—andthat each area had problems 

peculiar to itself. Brush disposal in thepumice stone area had to be studied there, as did chapparal 

brush in theSiskiyou in that area, and so on. The pressing problem of the area,however, was 

study of artificial reproduction of Douglas fir, and thiscould well be studied at an experiment 

station. 

The Wind River valley had several assets. It had aclimate typical of the Douglas fir region; not 

so humid as the coast orthe Snoqualmie areas, but more moist than the Santiam or 

Cascadeforests. The area was accessible, eleven miles by road from Carson,which was fifty-eight 

miles by rail from Portland. Its location in thecenter of the Yacolt Burn made it handy for fir 

studies of all kinds ofreproduction, at all altitudes and in all varieties of soil. In additionthere 

were other silvical studies that could be made in the area, suchas natural reproduction in the 1902 

burn; studies of 75-90 year oldsecond growth Douglas fir, and test plots of various kind. [73] 

The station was established the next year. C. R.Tillotson began the investigative work, succeeded 

by C. P. Willis, whoin turn was succeeded in the Spring of 1913 by Julius Valentine 

Hoffman.[74] The establishment of the station andthe independent silvical studies carried on at 

the same time, permittedremarkable progress to be made during the next decade. 

V. Lands 

The chief activity in regard to lands centered aroundenforcement of the agricultural lands acts, 

and especially the ForestHomestead Act of June 11, 1906. Often, in drawing the boundaries of 

theNational Forests, small tracts of agricultural land had been included;this act permitted these 

tracts to be homesteaded. The bill had itsorigins in the findings of the Public Lands Commission, 

and was backedby the Forest Service. [75] The bill wasundoubtedly desireable, as it would tend 

to stop the continual agitationfor such lands as were located in the reserve; but the fact that 

itmight serve as a cloak for land grabs and a sounding board for enemiesof Federal forest control 

was appreciated by the Forest Service and itsfriends. John B. Waldo, writing to Pinchot about the 

bill, stated hisbelief that all public lands should be reserved, and feared the effectsof the bill, on 

the ground that at some time the fox might be in chargeof the chicken coop. "Were the friends of 

the Forest Reserve system tobe always in charge, things would be different. But suppose a 

Heyburnbecomes Secretary of Agriculture or Chief Forester—everything would gofor 

agricultural lands that anybody wants." [76] And Senator Fulton, one of those who, likeHeyburn, 

Borah, Mundell and Carter were sympathetic to, or in leaguewith the land looter, aroused a storm 

of protest in suggesting that50,000 acres in the vicinity of Cottage Grove be eliminated 

asagricultural land from the Cascade Range Reserve. Residents said therewas not a hundred 

acres of agricultural land in the area; and anindignant mass meeting was held in Cottage Grove 

on the matter. [77] 

The burden of the work in regard to this and otherland claims in the National Forests fell on the 

Forest Service. TheDepartments of Agriculture and the Interior made an agreement in 1906,that 



Forest Supervisors would make reports on the validity of mining andagricultural claims rising 

within their forests. The reports would betransmitted to the Department of the Interior, and serve 

as a basis fordetermining whether a contest should be initiated against the claim. Atfirst, the 

General Land Office generally rejected any claim where anadverse report had been submitted by 

the Forest Service. [78] 

Almost immediately there came difficulties overinterpretation of the laws. The task of 

determining agricultural landswas more than an academic one. G. F. Allen, Supervisor of the 

RainierReserve, wrote to the Regional office asking advice on some of thelands. The area in 

which he was supervisor, on the upper reaches of theCowlitz, was timbered to the very banks of 

the streams. Some of thehomesteads there had been made by local boys on timber lands. 

Theireconomy was a mixed one; they would clear a garden spot, split cedarshakes for sale, and 

work out part of the year. Such lands were not,within the meaning of the June 11 act, homestead 

lands, yet theoccupants were engaged in genuine homestead activities. On the otherhand, listing 

such lands as homestead lands would logically make alllevel timbered lands subject to 

elimination or settlement. 

There was also difficulty in the administration overinterpretation of the law. On April 5, 1907, 

Allen received a letterfrom Overton Price, the Associate Forester, urging liberality 

ininterpretation of the law on the grounds of political expediency. Inline with this, Allen listed 

some of the lands in the Rainier forest,the least valuable for timber, as homestead sites. Price 

later that yearacknowledged that he had been in error, and gave orders for the futureto resolve 

doubts in favor of the Forest rather than the applicant. [79] 

R. E. Benedict, Supervisor of the Olympic NationalForest, discussed the matter at a Supervisor's 

meeting in March, 1910.He explained the purposes of the act, to open up agricultural land inthe 

forests, usually in the narrow valleys of rivers. The bill referredto agricultural land only, and was 

not meant to extend to any others.The examiners were urged to be conservative in their 

judgments. Therewas, he pointed out, ample undeveloped farm land outside the forests. Ofthe 

total area of 15,713,280 acres in Washington, 5,970,670 was notavailable for agricultural use, 

being in national forests, parks, ormilitary reservations, or city and farm lots. Of the remaining 

9,735,610acres, 415,600 was improved farm land; 267,360 prairie land; 2,168,040cut over land; 

and 5,549,410 timbered land. Thus there was 9,320,000acres awaiting development outside the 

forest. 

Benedict felt that the points for examiners to bearin mind were (1) whether the areas were 

needed for public purposes,such as recreational grounds, reservoirs, town sites, rights of way 

orgravel pits; (2) whether they were needed for forests, either forwatershed protection, to prevent 

erosion, or to provide timber for thecommunity; (3) whether the area was mineral land; (4) 

whether it wasvaluable timber land; and (5) whether it was valuable for agriculture.Above all, 

the examiners should use care to protect the interests of theGovernment. [80] 

Three areas furnished special trouble for the Servicein regard to such claims; the Methow valley, 

the Curry county region,and the upper Skyomish river. Not only did they afford an 

administrativeproblem, but the protests were used by conservative politicians, statesrights groups 

and speculative interests as a spring board for attacks onthe Service as a whole. 



In the Methow valley, the creation of the WashingtonForest Reserve in 1897 had included the 

whole valley; but on protestfrom settlers the bottom lands had been eliminated from the reserve. 

LeeHarris examined the area thoroughly in 1906-07, and established adefinite boundary; but 

after passage of the June 11 act many fradulentclaims, some mining and some timber, were 

established. George Milham,Supervisor of the forest, was in a difficult position. Thoughhard-

working and conscientious, he lacked experience; and the Washingtonoffice failed to back him 

up. 

Protests poured in to the Forest Service about theinjustices done to hard-working home-seekers 

and their wives andchildren. The chief spokesman was F. F. Ventzke, U. S. Commissioner 

anddeputy land surveyor. Ventzke was interested in forcing the ForestService to let loose of 

timbered land, and in collecting fees for filingand final proof. Senator Wesley Jones, a man with 

a quick ear to thecomplaints of constituents against the Forest Service, came to the aidof the 

claimants, as did Senator Piles and the local newspaper. AlsoPinchot did not back up his own 

man; he answered Jones' letter ofprotest in a favorable manner, without consulting with Milham. 

However,later that year, on his western trip, Pinchot looked over the matter onthe ground, in 

company with Harris, Milham and Allen. He found that onthe basis of the Harris surveys there 

was no real ground for the claims.[81] Finally, in 1909, Jones and Pinchotcame to an agreement 

and Jones, in view of the low value of the land andits remoteness, agreed to let the matter drop. 

[82] 

The Curry County and Skykomish claims were in part anoutgrowth of political attacks on the 

forests. Woodrow Wilson, in hiscampaign for the presidency, had promised a greater role to the 

statesin developing their own resources; and this encouraged those hostile tothe Federal forests 

in states of the West to revive old land claims andold charges against the Forest Service. The 

theme of the Public LandsConference held in Salt Lake City in 1913 was States Rights. Typical 

ofthe local agitation was a series of remonstrances against the ForestService by Curry County 

residents. W. A. Wood, manager of the CurryCounty Abstract Realty Company of Gold Beach, 

wrote on February to HenryGraves, the Chief Forester, on February 7, 1913, protesting 

forestpolicy, and stating, "The methods used by the underlings of thedepartment would cause a 

Revolution in Mexico, slaughter in Turkey, andthe election of a new Parliament in Great 

Britain." He reported thatpeople often went into the reserve and selected places to 

homestead,only to find that the ranger wanted it for a ranger station. Inaddition, he stated, claims 

of people who had lived on the forest foryears were being contested. Graves replied that he 

would investigate anyspecific cases that came up. Later that year, a resolution from theCurry 

County Commercial Club, full of wrath and "whereases," was sent tothe Forest Service and to 

the Oregon Congressional delegates. Theresolution abounded in statements about "resources 

withheld from use,""aid to capitalist vs. homesteader," officers "bigoted, and withoutauthority of 

law," engaged in a "system of petty espionage;" loss of$30,000 per year in taxes, and the 

"unbelievable tyranny of all officersconnected with the Forest Service, from the Secretary of the 

Interior(sic) down to the lowest menial." It recommended that all national forestreserves within 

the country be opened to settlement. [83] 

The movement was aided by a lax administration on thepart of the Department of the Interior. 

President Wilson's Secretary ofthe Interior, Franklin Lane, was no friend of the Forest Service; 

inthis respect he was perhaps even worse than Ballinger. A westerner, hebelieved in the disposal 



of the public domain. The reins had alreadybeen tightened on the power of the forest supervisors 

to determineadverse claims, in that a departmental ruling in 1910 required them toturn all their 

findings in to the Department of the Interior, that thelaw officers there might determine whether 

they were justified inputting the claimant to the expense of a hearing. [84] More important than 

this was a newinterpretation of land laws by the Land Office, especially thoseregarding 

residence. 

In 1913 the Land Office changed several of itsrulings. A ruling of 1886 was reversed, which 

permitted claims to landswithin the National Forests to be reinstated without regard to 

Forestwithdrawal from entry. Another, reversing a ruling of 1901 by SecretaryHitchcock, 

permitted "That an entry which is invalid at the date of theForest withdrawal, because of the 

claimant's failure to comply with thelaw, may be revived by subsequent visits." A third 

interpretationpermitted brief periodic visits, and summer resident to be interpretedas meeting the 

requirements of continuous residence for five years, intaking up a homestead. Failure to maintain 

a residence could not, by thenew ruling, be established by showing that the claimant had his 

homeelsewhere; was employed elsewhere; was never found on the land; or hadnot harvested his 

garden. [85 The newinterpretation inaugurated a new outburst of claim hunting and ofattempts to 

revive long dormant squatter's claims, as means of gettingtimber. This was the period of the Big 

Creek claims in Idaho, describedby both Henry Graves and David Mason as the most flagrant 

cases oftimber fraud on record, and of many similar cases in the northwest. JohnMaki, a claimant 

in in Siuslaw forest, cultivated no land during thefirst three years of his claim; though in the 

fourth he sowed one sackof potatoes and twenty pounds of grass seed. "He did not ever eat 

orsleep in the cabin for 3-1/2 years after the entry, and 1-1/2 yearsafter the forest withdrawal" yet 

the Land Office interpreted his claimas a genuine one. Oscar L. John, a claim holder in the 

Snoqualimie, hada claim on a north slope, of 45% slope, "after ten years of allegedoccupancy the 

claimant succeeds in cultivating one-twentieth of anacre, on land that rose from an elevation of 

1320 feet on one side to6800 on the other and contained twelve million feet of timber." 

Hereagain the claimant was upheld. [86] 

In the Pacific Northwest, the set of claims that hadthe greatest publicity were situated on the 

north fork of the SkykomishRiver. Henry Graves gave them considerable attention in his 

compendiumon timber frauds in 1913. Of these he wrote: 

This group is important not because the claims showany features essentially different 

from those already described, butbecause of their wide publicity and the public and 

political supportwhich the claimants have sought in the effort to make their 

causesuccessful. Bills have been introduced in Congress to clearlist fiveclaims, which 

were cancelled because of a conclusive showing of failureto meet the requirements of the 

Homestead Law. 

The claims were in the Skykomish River valley, anarrow canyon not over one-quarter mile wide, 

with steep slopesrising from 1500 to 3500 feet above the river. The Valley is in thetorrential 

portion of the drainage, evidenced by rubble and siltdeposits over the level portion of the valley. 

It had a heavy stand oftimber, however. 



The claimants were not squatters, but vacationists.One was by profession a hotel keeper in Index, 

living ten or fifteenmiles from his claim; another a carpenter, living and working inEverett; a 

third, a real estate man of Snohomish; the fourth, an agentfor the Singer Sewing Machine 

Company; and the fifth owned a home andoperated a laundry at Snohomish. Graves wrote, 

"There can he no clearerand more convincing evidence of the widespread effort to cure 

publictimber fraudulently by technical manipulation of the land laws than thatsuch a group 

should claim the rights of squatters on locations manymiles up in the rugged mountains." 

The Forest Service protested these claims in 1908.[87]The claimants immediately thereafter 

became more regular in their visitsand made some slight improvements; but any genuine equity 

in their claimshould have to be established, before 1908, when examination was made.They were 

given a hearing before the Land Office in 1910, and the claimscancelled in 1912. Since then, 

they had been representing themselves aspioneers, dispossessed by a bureaucratic Forest Service; 

Senator Jonesand Representative Falconer introduced private bills to clearlist theirclaims; and 

they were aided by the cries of the conservative press,raging against governmental injustice 

toward the homemaker "whose hairhas turned gray while he and his family strove against heavy 

odds towrest a livelihood from the fertile lands along the North Fork of theSkykomish." [88] 

On the lands question, then, the Service came underheavy fire. Graves, new to his position and 

under fire from severaldirections, was forced to make concessions not altogether to his liking,nor 

to that of the district personnel. In 1913, yielding to pressurefrom interested groups, he reduced 

the size of the Deschutes reserve,releasing some land that might marginally be regarded as better 

forother purposes than growing trees. It was not, he explained, a matter ofsaving the area 

concerned; it was a matter of saving the national forestprogram. The District force felt that he 

had made unnecessaryconcessions; and it is probable that this was the case. [89] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CHAPTER 8 

THE TRIPLE ALLIANCE 

 

I. Background 

The spirit of adventure, of building to the measure of the opportunity, which the Western 

movement carried into spacious and varied provinces beyond the Mississippi, has 

changed as the surges of migration have passed over these regions. It has been modified 

by a growing reliance on association instead of competition. [1] 

The story of state and private work in forest conservation during the period 1905-13 is 

considerably more difficult to evaluate than Federal efforts during the same period. The 

documents available on Federal activity are more plentiful, and more revealing, than those of the 

states or of private individuals. Lumber companies are only beginning to open their files to 

historians; and such company histories as have been written in the past are largely thin in 

substance and eulogistic in tone. [2] Not one of the studies of state politics in the period has 

shown clearly the relation of state timber owners or other resource users to state politics, nor 

clearly related conservation to the progressive movement in the states concerned. [3] In 

sketching this period, then, the broad outlines rather than minute details will be dealt with. 

A second difficulty has been that fundamental work in forest conservation has been 

overshadowed by events on the national scene. This was the era of magnificant indignation; of 

muckraking attacks against "timber barons" and their henchmen in Congress; of attacks on 

Federal forest policy by various groups who felt that it was holding up development of the 

country; of the Pinchot-Ballinger dispute, and of Woodrow Wilson's promise to give the states a 

larger share in developing their own resources. Their views, important not only for the nation but 

for the states in the Pacific Northwest; but the national political fireworks tend to obscure the 

fundamental work done on the state and regional level in forest conservation. 

The background to the period 1905-13 is complex. Under the Roosevelt administration, the 

conservation movement gathered momentum and was extended to other fields than forests, such 

as coal lands and water power. Conservation was a field in which Roosevelt was thoroughly at 

home. He had become interested in the movement early, probably originally through his work as 

a field naturalist, and his desire to protect vanishing species of game; and also through realization 

of the effect of the wilderness on the human spirit, in fostering the manly virtues and the 

democratic spirit. In his writings and in his actions, he displayed a knowledge of land 

management and resource use unequalled by any other president. He had a wide practical 

knowledge, through travel in the wilderness and work as a rancher; read widely in the field, and 

surrounded himself with associates, such as Pinchot, W. G. McGee, and James Garfield, who 

helped inform him. 

In no other field does Roosevelt show to better advantage as a reformer than in this. He showed 

here none of his habitual inclination to accept half a loaf, but hewed to the line even at the risk of 

alienating members of his own party, and brought all the weight of public opinion and of his own 



prestige to bear on the issues at stake. His letters to western senators hostile to the movement, 

such as Heyburn of Idaho and Fulton of Oregon; his actions in checking land fraud in Oregon, 

New Mexico, California, and Wyoming; and his backing of Pinchot in creating a better forest 

administration than had formerly existed, reveal Roosevelt the reformer at his best. He 

dramatized the movement by a series of conservation conferences; and on his recommendation 

state commissions were formed to aid the movement. In this, as in other movements, he was 

aided by writers. Muckrakers and publicists, like Harry Brown, S. A. D. Puter, Stewart Edward 

White, and Charles Shinn, gathered material to praise the role of workers in the movement or 

lambaste its enemies. A few novelists began to find in the activities of foresters a new 

incarnation of Leatherstocking. [4] 

Nevertheless, as Roosevelt's second term drew to aclose, there were storm clouds ahead. 

Roosevelt's party wasprodominantly a conservative one; he had managed, with 

remarkablepolitical skill, to get positive action, but in doing so antagonized theconservative wing 

of his party. Protests by the vented interests aroseagainst the program, taking the form of public 

land conferences andmoves to curtail the President's power to create more national forests.There 

was also some slipping in sentiment on the part of the lumberinterests, partly due to a slump in 

the lumber market, partly to theBureau of Corporation's investigation of the industry, partly by 

theequivocal stand both Roosevelt and Pinchot took on the lumber tariff.[5] The Forest Service 

had also steered closeto the fringes of legality in many of its actions. Many administrativesites 

were withdrawn, ostensibly for ranger stations, but many of themto save power sites from private 

exploitation. [6] Further, it maintained a publicity bureau inthe department; got free college 

training for its staff, by means of theranger short course; and planted resolutions at meetings of 

groupsconcerned with forest uses. [7] Thesepolicies aroused some opposition not only among 

members of the public,but also among some members of the Service. The hostility engendered 

wasby no means a wave of resentment; it was sporadic rather than steady,localized rather than 

universal, and influenced by the work of localinterests and pressure groups as well as by national 

policies. 

Roosevelt's view as to wilderness values are found inmany places; the prefaces to The 

Wilderness Hunter and toAfrican Game Trails contain typical statements. Arthur Carhart,Timber 

in Your Life (New York, 1954), 54, has analyzed thisfeeling. A critical appraisal of Roosevelt's 

conservation policies, thatpictures them as the root of his other reform policies, is in Whitney 

R.Gross, "Ideas in Politics: Conservation Policies of the Two Roosevelts,"Journal of the History 

of Ideas, XIV:3 (June, 1953), 421-38.Stewart Edward White's "The Fight for the Forests," 

in AmericanMagazine, LXV:3 (January, 1908), 252-261, is a good account of themuckraker's 

work on looters of the forests and their tie-up withpolitics. His book, The Cabin, gives an 

appreciation of the workof the service, and especially of Charles Shinn, ranger in the 

Sierra(North). His novel, The Rules of the Game, is probably the beston the subject; as in all his 

books, characters are wooden, butbackground and action is good. 

With the Taft administration, a new phase came to themovement. Taft, both through 

temperament and through politicalineptitude, became identified with the conservative wing of 

the party.His dismissal of James Garfield, and appointment of Richard AchillesBallinger to 

succeed him as Secretary of the Interior, aroused thesuspicion of many. Ballinger's appointment 

was a piece of senatorialcourtesy to Senator Piles, a man closely allied to the Gugenheim 



andother speculative interests in Washington. [8] Ballinger's record, while commissioner of 

theLand Office, while marked by improved clerical methods so far asexpediting business was 

concerned, was characterized by a lax policytoward the public land. [9] ThePinchot-Ballinger 

dispute revealed Ballinger as violating the spirit ifnot the letter of Roosevelt's policies, and Taft 

himself as weak andintellectually dishonest. The matter had much to do with thediscrediting of 

the Taft administration, and the election of Wilson. [10] 

II. The Timber Industry 

A. Its Structure 

Lumbermen faced two problems during this period: onewas the economic problem of operating 

at a profit; the other was thetechnical problem of managing their forests. Their business was in 

anunhealthy state; their own efficiency as speculators and loggingengineers had operated against 

them. The difficulty lay in the fact thatthere was no precedent for the situation in which the 

industry founditself shortly after the turn of the century. Lumbering in the UnitedStates had for 

two centuries been the story of converting raw materials.In the Mississippi Valley and the Lake 

states the supply was so readilyavailable and the demand so great that not only manufacturing 

costs wereassured, but the stumpage was out before the carrying charges becameprohibitive. The 

vast supply in the west had been expected to followsuit. There was no way to use the timber 

without getting title; sospeculators and locators got the timber by hook or crook, and turned 

itover to the mill men. The large purchase of Weyerhauser from theNorthern Pacific increased 

the price; national forests were remote andlimited, and legitimate operators could only get a 

supply of timber bybidding against, or buying from, the speculators. In a period of fifteenyears, 

from 1890 to 1910, the lumber industry loaded itself with a fiftyyear supply of raw material, 

much of it on borrowed money. 

After 1906 taxes on timberland rose. People reactedadversely to the profits popularly attributed 

to the timber barons,which were, in many instances, from speculative rather thanmanufacturing 

activities. They desired to recover the unearned incrementin stumpage values, and also believed 

that higher taxes would forcecutting of timber, which in turn would increase employment and 

make forgood times. On the other hand, the cost of stumpage remained as high asever; a new and 

more vigilant public land policy prevented the operatorfrom manipulating the land laws, as he 

had formerly done; and the priceof manufactured timber did not increase. Carrying costs and 

fireprotection were judged to be private functions, paid solely by theowner, without public 

assistance. As time went on, the curve of thecarrying charge approached that of sales value. 

A few figures will serve to illustrate this. In 1913there were in the Northwest 500 billion feet of 

timber privately owned.At a cost of one dollar per thousand stumpage, the investment was 

fivehundred million dollars. At six percent cost of investment, thisamounted to thirty million per 

year. In 1913 the owners paid six milliondollars in taxes and protection, making a total carrying 

charge ofthirty-six million. The total lumber production for the year was fiveand one half billion 

board feet, which at thirteen dollars per thousandwas worth $72,150,000. Cost of production in 

wages, supplies and thelike amounted to 85% of the sum, leaving $10,822,000 to cover 

rawmaterial and profit, or about one-third enough to meet the carryingcharge. Even in 1906, 

when manufacturing costs and carrying charges werelower, the industry did not pay its way. [11] 



Nor was the situation likely to get better as timewent on. The raw material could not be used up, 

in many cases, until thecarrying charge exceeded the cost of the timber's value as a 

commodity.Private stumpage, bought at a dollar per thousand, held for forty years,would have to 

be worth over sixteen dollars for the operator to breakeven. 

There were other factors which operated as well. Thelumbermen were not particularly skillful 

business men. They made littleattempt to advertise their product to make it more attractive, or 

tomake refinements in their product to meet modern needs. Nor did theyexperiment in 

economical distribution of their goods, aside from pricefixing agreements and lobbying for a 

tariff. Neither did they cultivatepublic opinion. The public had no knowledge of forest 

economies; theyhad been so impressed with the speculative side of the business thatthey had lost 

all sight of its value. The scandals in Oregon had createdsomething of a "timber baron complex" 

in that state, so that many lookedon the timber owner with much the same abhorrence that John 

Muir lookedon a sheep. There was also, in regard to Federal forest policy, somelack of harmony 

between the administrative and the legislative branchesof the government. Congress, by refusing 

to create a national forestpolicy, made it difficult to have any long range forest planning. 

Thepressure to sell national forest timber was a case in point; itcame, 

...not from anyone wanting timber, but from Congresswhich insists it return revenue to 

the treasury and from western stateswhich collect re-embursement through their percent 

of receipts, for lessof taxes. [11a] 

In regard to conservation, there were several areasof agreement between the industry and the 

conservationists. Pinchot, andothers in the Forest Service, recognized the need of prosperity for 

theindustry. Operators will not practice conservation unless it pays themto do so. From the 

standpoint of logging operations, there was need ofit; if the price of lumber was low, logs sawing 

out to a poorer gradethan No. 2 common would be left in the woods; if hemlock 

wasunmarketable, such logs would be left to rot. Pinchot realized the needof revision of the tax 

structure for forest land. 

There were other areas of agreement also.Silviculturally, the type of cutting lumbermen used on 

the westside—block clearcuts—was the best type to insure reproductionof Douglas fir. In 

making sales on National Forest lands, the mainadjustments the operator would have to make to 

Federal standards wouldbe in fire precautions and utilization of top and butt logs. [12] The more 

substantial owners realized thatthe days of speculative profits were over, and that they would 

have topay some attention to reforestation and conservation. The Bureau ofForestry, with its 

working plans, and the research work of the ForestService, met with hearty cooperation from the 

far-sighted operators,such as Weyerhauser, St. Paul & Tacoma, and the Northern Pacific.Such 

plans would not necessarily be put into effect until such time asthey could be done so with profit, 

but meantime the material wasuseful. 

On fire, also, there was a community of interest.Fire yearly devastated the timber holdings, 

private, Federal and state,of the Northwest. As time went on, the Forest Service developed its 

ownprotective organization, and the larger companies did likewise; but manyholders did not. The 

checkerboard pattern of timber ownership made suchprotection desirable; it included a network 

of Federal land, in and outof Federal forests; the O. & C. lands; state lands, and privateholders. 



Fire is no respector of boundaries; and the system ofprotection developed by one owner was 

nullified if at any time firemight creep over the boundary line. 

B. Conservation Work 

Until 1902, conservation work on the state level wascarried on largely by groups other than 

lumbermen. In Oregon, the OregonAlpine Club reorganized and changed its name to the 

Mazamas. This clubhad a large and vigorous membership, with mass trips to Mt. Hood or 

theLake Chelan country of over a hundred members, and attracting guestsfrom as far away as 

Washington, D.C. Their members were of importance inarousing public sentiment against raids 

on the Cascade Range reserve, increating an administration for Crater Lake National Park, and 

instarting the municipal park movement in Portland. Its leader, WilliamGladstone Steel, also 

organized the Oregon Forestry Association, whichnumbered in its membership such men as John 

B. Waldo, A. J. Johnson andCol. L. L. Hawkins. This group was primarily concerned with 

spreadingknowledge of forestry in the state. [13] 

In Oregon, the conservation group was somewhat morevarious in nature. Its members included 

Edmond Meany of the Universityof Washington, who had started a forestry course of sorts there 

in 1894;[14] Elias Payn of Olympia, who worked atgetting a bill for state acquisition of tax 

delinquent cut-over landthrough the legislature; Addison G. Foster of the St. Paul and 

MinnesotaLumber Company, and Judge Thomas Burke. All these men were activemembers of 

the American Forestry Association. They, like the Oregoniansformed a state Forestry 

Association, to promote knowledge of forestry.[15] 

In 1902 an event occurred that spurred the timberowners to action to protect the forests. That 

year was a disastrous onefrom the standpoint of fire, in both states. In Oregon, 2,124,000,000feet 

of timber burned, in a series of fires in Marion, Clackamas andTillamook counties; the loss, in 

timber burned and incomes, mills, barnsand saved timber destroyed was estimated at $3,910,000. 

In Washingtonthe fire was even more disastrous. The Yacolt Burn, which covered muchof 

Skamania and Clark Counties, cost sixteen lives, destroyed5,026,800,000 feet of timber, and cost 

a property loss of $8,857,000. InOregon, the loss was largely to small private owners, as the 

largecompanies had not yet begun to operate in the area; in WashingtonWeyerhauser and the 

Northern Pacific had extensive losses. [16] 

This fire awakened owners to the fact that fire canrun in green timber, and to the need for 

protection. They set to work ontwo levels; first, in trying to get better state laws to protect 

theirtimber, and second in forming organizations of private owners tocooperate in preventing and 

fighting fire. 

Both states had fire laws. It is common law doctrinethat fire trespass shall be punished and both 

states early wrote firelaws in their state laws. In addition, Oregon in 1893, in its firstdesire to 

protect its forest reserves, passed a law making sheriffs anddeputy sheriffs ex-officio game, fish 

and fire wardens to enforce allstatutes of the state against fire. To encourage vigilance by, 

thecitizens, the informer would get half of any fine levied, the other halfto go to the county in 

which the crime was committed. Washington, in thesame year, passed a comprehensive fire law. 

This law made the State LandCommissioner ex officio state fire warden, and the 



countycommissioners of each county were boards of deputy fire wardens. Statetimber cruisers 

were made special patrolmen, with power to enforce thelaws and make arrests without warrant. It 

was the duty of the state firewarden to enforce all laws for protection of forests within the 

state,and to investigate origins of all fires. The deputies could fix theclosed season for burning, in 

each county. [17] 

Lumbermen in both Oregon and Washington tried to getnew and better fire laws in 1903, 

especially to get a state force offirefighters to protect the timber. Largely through the efforts of 

theWeyerhauser interests, they had some success in Washington. The old lawwas amended, 

permitting the boards of county commissioners, as deputyfire wardens, to issue burning permits 

and hire men to fight fire.Actually, the boards failed to do so, since the counties would have 

beenunder the obligation to pay expenses and per diem for the work. As forthe slash-burning 

permits, there was no time limit in their use, and noexamination of the area by those who issued 

the permits. Countycommissioners, as a whole, were not much interested in this aspect oftheir 

work. [18] 

The year 1904 was also a bad fire year, and newlegislation was sought. At the 1905 meeting of 

the Washingtonlegislature, lumbermen again under the leadership of the Weyerhauserinterests, 

sought repeal of the former law. It was replaced by theForest Protection law of 1905, which set 

up for the first time a bodyprimarily concerned in forest protection. A State Board of 

ForestCommissioners was set up, with the State Commissioner of Public Lands asex-officio 

member. These men were to serve without compensation. Theycould appoint state fire wardens 

and deputy fire wardens for thetimbered country, and pay them wages and per diem for their 

work. Thelegislature appropriated $7,500 for the biennium. 

As often happens, however, the state legislature hadbeen niggardly; less than $500 was left by 

the end of 1905. The StateBoard of Forest Commissioners appealed to the forest owners 

fordonations of money to keep them going during the second year of thebiennium; from an 

appeal to 800 corporations and persons, onlytwenty-seven answered, and they sent in only $157. 

Finally, E. W. Ross,the Land Commissioner, offered to allocate an appropriation of $2000 

setaside for state timber lands if the Board could raise enough more forprotection. An appeal to 

George S. Long, the local manager for theWeyerhauser interests, netted $4000, and a second 

appeal to thelumbermen raised the fund to $10,000. By early 1907 this, too, had beenspent, but a 

third appeal to the lumbermen got enough money to balancethe books. [19] 

In Oregon, the case was somewhat different. Here,too, the lumber interests worked in 1903 to get 

a law through to provideprotection, and a protective force for the timber lands in the state.The 

legislature finally approved a law which set up a state forestcommission, consisting of five men 

from five different districts in thestates. County fire wardens, and county ranger system, was set 

up; thewardens to be paid by the state, the rangers by the county. The law alsoprovided for a 

closed season on burning, and recognized the duty of thestate to enforce any forest law, state or 

Federal, within itsboundaries. 

The law, however, was vetoed by Governor Chamberlain,then in the middle of his struggle with 

the lieu land men who did notfeel any too friendly to lumbermen as a group. He vetoed it on 

thegrounds that the bill might well be a burden on the taxpayer, since nodefinite appropriation 



had been made for the biennium; and that it wouldhelp protect the private owner at state expense. 

The state itself, withno more than 50,000 acres of land left, would pay the bill and get fewof the 

benefits. [20] 

Two years later the Oregon State Legislature passed abill which put the cost of enforcement on 

the timber owners. By thislaw, county courts could hire wardens, who would be paid by the 

timberowners of the county. Permits for slash burning would be issued by thecounty clerks. 

Protests rose against this law, due to the fact thatpermits for burning could be obtained only at 

the county seat, and weregood only for a limited time; a provision which was hard on people 

inremote parts of a county. In 1907 there was a move to repeal the law.The Forest Service 

intervened, sending Smith C. Bartrum, Supervisor ofthe Umpqua Forest down to advise the 

legislature; and a new measure, setup a state board of Forestry; classified the punative portions of 

thefire laws; and set up a state controlled warden force with authority tomake arrests and to issue 

burning permits. However, only $500 wasallocated to run the Board through the biennium. [21] 

Private owners not only worked to get statelegislation through, but began work on the guild 

basis. This activitystarted in the Weyerhauser subsidiaries of Idaho. There, in 1906, 

fourassociations were founded, made up of all the timberland owners innorthern Idaho, who 

cooperated in protecting their property from fire.In 1907 the state aided them, cooperating with 

them in protecting stateland interlocked with the private land, and having costs accessed on 

anacreage basis. The associations spread to Washington by the spring of1908, under the name of 

the Washington Forest Fire Association, with amembership of fifty. They, too, were accessed for 

protection accordingto acreage. A similar organization, the Oregon Forestry Association 

wasstarted in Oregon. It was headed by J. N. Teal, son of a pioneersteamboat builder in Oregon, 

and attorney for the Oregon and WashingtonLumber Manufacturers Association. In Oregon, 

however, protection was onthe county basis, including in each protective group the owners of 

agiven county. [22] 

After 1907 the relations of Federal, state andprivate conservation agencies became more 

complex. Like the BlueMountain reserve story, there was activity on two levels. 

Conservationpolicies became an issue in partisan state and national politics, andthis must be 

examined. Second, we should examine the relations betweenprivate, state and Federal groups in 

the practical work of forestconservation. 

III. Political Currents 

The situation in 1907 may be briefly recapitulated.Both Oregon and Washington had passed fire 

laws; in both theappropriation for the law was insufficient, but in Washington thelumbermen 

came to the rescue, and future appropriations were adequate.In both states associations of private 

owners had been organized, tocooperate with one another in fire fighting and patrol work. The 

ForestService during this time was also working on the fire problem. 

However, there were political differences between thetwo states, and conservation was a political 

problem. In Oregon thestate administration came under strong governors during this time. 

BothGeorge Chamberlain and Oswald West were friendly to the federalconservation movement. 

Both worked closely with the administration inclearing up the Oregon land frauds; both worked 



closely with the ForestService in conservation matters; and both were interested in clearing 

upsuch land problems as school land management and the management of theO. & C. lands. On 

the whole, the state had a responsible press. Boththe larger Portland papers, the Oregonian and 

the Journalhad fought to expose the Oregon land frauds; and though by 1909 theOregonian had 

become more conservative in its editorials thanbefore, the Journal still stood for the Pinchot 

conservationpolicies. Furthermore, the State Board of Forestry was a non-politicalboard; besides 

the Governor, the Secretary of State and the State ForestFish and Game Warden, it consisted of 

the member of the OregonAgricultural College in charge of forestry work, and three men from 

thestate, appointed by the Governor on recommendation of the LumberManufacturers 

Association of Oregon, the Oregon Forestry Association,and the Forest Service. [23] 

In Washington there was a different set ofcircumstances. Control was in the hands of a 

conservative group ofRepublicans, both in the state government and in Congress; a 

group"impervious to attacks from without, and insensitive to attacks fromwithin." [24] Members 

of Congress and of thestate legislatures, and administrative officers, had close ties 

withspeculative interests operating in the state and in Alaska. [25] The larger papers, except for 

those on theeast side, were highly conservative in their viewpoints, and had closeties with the 

speculative interests and the conservative politicalmachine. The Board of Forestry was a political 

group, the chairmanpolitically elected and the members chosen by the Governor. 

Furthermore,the Chairman of the Board, State Land Commissioner Ross, had animplacable 

hatred of the Forest Service. 

Edward W. Ross was one of the stalwarts of theRepublican Party. First manager of the Ankeny 

Senatorial campaign, andlater manager of John Wilson's campaign, in 1906, he was elected 

LandCommissioner. Ross' dislike for the Forest Service was ostensibly on thegrounds that the 

national forests had within their boundaries 500,000acres of state land, mostly Sections 16 and 

36, which were unobtainablefor sale. Doubtless there were other reasons for his enmity; the 

roleplayed by political conservatism, and possibly the fact that there wereties between the 

speculators and the State Land Office, must also beconsidered. His views came close to setting 

the tone of state politicsand policy. Moreover, he hindered the cooperation on forest 

mattersbetween state and federal government, such as had developed in Oregon.Due to his 

influence, J. R. Welty, the State Forester, refused to answercommunications addressed to him by 

the Forest Service or the WashingtonForestry Association. [26] 

The differing attitudes of the two states showed upclearly in a conference of 1907. A public 

lands conference was called atDenver, mainly a protest by grazers who desired to do away with 

federalcontrol of grazing and turn the grazing land on the public domain overto the states. The 

meeting was dominated by the stock raising states ofthe Rocky Mountain West; Colorado had 

five times as many delegates asany other single state, and Wyoming more than all the remaining 

westernstates combined. To the Oregonian, aware of the ties of SenatorMondell of Wyoming 

with the Union Pacific and with coal interests, itseemed an eastern plot to destroy Roosevelt's 

conservation policies. Thepaper's Washington dispatch read, 

It has occurred to some Eastern interests that thebest way to break down Mr. Roosevelt is 

to undermine him in the West. Aneffort inspired in the East will be made in the West 



against thePresident to arouse antagonistic sentiment among Western men on accountof 

public land and forest reserve policies. [27] 

The Oregon administration took steps to give aid tothe administration. Malcolm Moody 

informed Oswald West, the State LandAgent, that Pinchot would like a strong pro-conservation 

group at themeeting. West informed the Governor, who told West to select a groupthat would 

vote for the Roosevelt-Pinchot ideas. West "scoured the statefor ten hard-boiled conservationists 

who were willing to attend and paytheir own way," and sent a group of articulate spokesmen for 

federalpolicies. [28] The Washington delegation, onthe other hand, was headed by Ross, who 

was placed on the ResolutionsCommittee, a logical place for him since the conference had 

beenorganized to frame hostile resolutions. At least one hostile resolution,to reduce the size of 

the national forests, was sponsored by theWashington delegation, and was probably written by 

Ross. The conventionfailed to achieve its purposes. The attempt to pack the meeting was 

soflagrant that the move lost public sympathy; and Roosevelt wielded the"big stick" by publicly 

condemning the meeting as an attempt on the partof the interests to loot the public domain. [29] 

In 1908 an event occurred that was of importance forboth states. In that year Roosevelt held a 

series of meetings with thegovernors of western states in Washington and at Memphis. The 

meetingswere focused on the program of conservation. Roosevelt asked thatconservation 

commissions be formed in each state, to deal with theproblems peculiar to that state, and to work 

with the NationalConservation Commission. 

The work of the conferences, in helping to create anawareness of the conservation problem and 

broaden its scope beyond thatof timber and water to include water power, minerals and soil, is 

wellknown. [30] Its regional effects have notbeen studied. Acting on the resident's 

recommendation, the Governor ofOregon appointed a seven-man Conservation Commission. It 

was headed byJ. N. Teal, head of the Oregon Forestry Association. Teal had a greatdeal of vigor 

and organizing ability, and thoroughly believed inconservation. In the first report of the 

Commission, he recommended anew state water law; interstate cooperation in regulating water 

use andfisheries; and state action in reforestation, management of cut-overlands, and revision of 

taxes on timber land. Pointing out that Oregonlagged behind other states in fire protection, he 

urged that a largersum than the present $250 per year be appropriated. Such a sum, 

theCommission reported, amounted to one-half cent per square mile; theForest Service was 

spending $11.25. The State Board of Forestry, theyreported, was active, but needed more 

financial backing. [31] The Commission was, until 1913, the mosteffective single force for 

conservation in the state. 

In Washington, the situation was somewhat different.Earlier in the year, before the Washington 

meeting, the State RepublicanConvention had met and reflected in their resolutions the Ross 

views onstate control of lands within the states. The stock stories were told ofhome owners and 

stockmen, left in the reserves, without roads, deprivedof their land and desolate. [32] Success 

inthe elections of that year seemed to indicate a continuation of theconservative regime. 

Nevertheless, there were signs of dissent by manyfrom this point of view, though the 

conservative Republicans wereoblivious to the restlessness of the rank and file. [33] The refusal 

of the State Land Board tocooperate on conservation with the other forestry agencies 

antagonizedmany people. O. E. Westfall, Chief Forester of the Washington ForestryAssociation, 



spoke for many when he demanded that the state take moredefinite action to protect its forest 

wealth, and particularly on theneed to "appoint a fire warden who will at least take the trouble 

toanswer letters. As the matter now stands, the fire warden not onlyrefuses to answer civil 

inquiries but also shows no result from hiswork." [34] Evidence of dishonesty in theLand Office 

was publicized by a series of articles in theSpokesman-Review on the Brewster Flat sales. [35] 

In November, the Washington Forestry Association metto discuss the President's directive. The 

meeting opened with an attackby E. W. Ross on the Presidential conference. He had, he said, 

gone tothe conference to talk over matters of school land with the President;but the President had 

suppressed all news of that. He echoed the ideasrecently stated by Elihu Root, that the states 

have more responsibilityand ridiculed statements by Carnegie on mineral conservation. [36] E. 

T. Allen answered him the next day,denying that the President had suppressed any news at the 

conference,and defending the government's land policy. The government, Allen said,had control 

of the remote areas, in the reserves, which were not readilyaccessible. The state at present was 

not prepared to take over thetimber land, having no system of administration; they could do so, 

whenit could be done on a business-like basis. Meantime, he said, the landwas cared for without 

cost to the state, and the state got one fourth ofthe proceeds of federal management. [37] 

The meeting did have some tangible results, however.The matter of the Conservation 

Commission was discussed, and theWashington Forestry Association organized the Washington 

ConservationAssociation. This Association, in turn, met and made plans to organize 

aConservation Congress to be held in 1909, in connection with theAlaska-Yukon Exposition in 

Seattle. Governor Meade was asked to appointa commission to take care of the matter. He 

appointed a ConservationCommission, well loaded with conservative Republicans, including J. 

J.Donovan, the author of "Whatcom Excitement" and a delegate to the StateRepublican 

Convention which had endorsed states rights; John L. Wilson,the former Senator; S. A. Perkins, 

owner of a string of conservativePuget Sound newspapers; E. W. Ross; and J. R. Welty, the 

reticent StateForester; Frank Lamb, the timberman of Hoquiam and a host of others. [38] 

The Congress was held in Seattle August 26-28, 1909.As usual, proponents of both points of 

view tried to pack the meeting.The speeches show strong support for the federal program by 

members ofthe Oregon delegation, such as J. N. Teal, H. D. Langille, and E. T.Allen. On the 

other hand, a speech favoring increased state control ofresources was given by Governor M. E. 

Kay. There was a behind-the-scenesfight on the part of the resolutions committee, in which 

thestates-righters, led by Federal Judge C. H. Hanford, fought against anyendorsement of federal 

control of timber and water power, but werefinally defeated. Probably the most important 

decision of the conferencewas to make it an annual affair. [39] 

The period between the Seattle conference of 1909 andthe St. Paul conference of 1910 was 

marked by events of importance tothe conservation movement. On the national scene, the states-

rightsgroup in Washington was aided by statements of the new Secretary of theInterior, Richard 

Achilles Ballinger, favoring state, rather thanfederal control of natural resources. The following 

statement istypical: 

It seems to me that we should not try to impose thewhole burden of conservation on the 

general government, but leave it tothe states and to the municipalities to work it out, 



except insofar asnational interference is necessary to protect national interests, and Iwant 

to be understood as opposed to the theory that because the statehas not exercised to the 

full its power in the matter of reform, ipsofacto the national government must exercise 

them. [40] 

The divergence between the points of view of Pinchotand of Ballinger widened as the year went 

on, and by early in 1910Pinchot was dismissed. [41] Further, at thetime there were test cases 

pending before the Supreme Court, thedecisions of which would affect the whole framework of 

the conservationmovement. [42] 

Most of the State officials, and members of Congress,favored the Ballinger viewpoint, either 

because of politicalconservatism or because of close relations of politicians withspeculative 

interests States rights, then as now, offered a convenientcloak for obtaining private benefits at 

public expense. Some of the morearticulate spokesmen of this group have been mentioned. They 

include E.W. Ross, the State Land Commissioner; J. J. Donovan, who had at one timebeen an 

investor in the Cunningham coal claims, in addition to his otherspeculative activities; [43] 

CorneliusHanford, a Federal district judge famous for his liberal interpretationof the land laws, 

and a close business associate of Ballinger and Ross;[44] Sidney Perkins, owner of a string 

ofPuget Sound newspapers, the one-time private secretary of Mark Hanna,who desired to turn 

the clock back to Hanna's day; and A. P. Sawyer, awater power speculator, who also owned 

stock in the Seattle PostIntelligencer. [45] 

However, there were other groups, possibly lees noisybut just as powerful, within the state. Miles 

Poindexter swung to theinsurgent side, in defending the Pinchot policies, as early as 

December,1909. [46] Lumbermen and conservationassociations backed the Pinchot views, as did 

the Grange. [47] Furthermore, there came changes instate politics which greatly aided the 

conservationists and did much todiscredit the speculative group. Governor Cosgrove died in 

office andwas succeeded by M. E. Hay, a conservative states-rights Republican whohad the 

saving grace of being honest. 

In June, 1909, E. T. Allen wrote to Pinchot, 

The official situation in the state of Washington isvery interesting. As you know, the old 

State administration, whichpractically controls the Seattle papers, has always been very 

hostile tous. Ross dominates this faction. It is to his influence that I ascribethe fact that 

the Stats Fire Warden will not answer any communicationfrom me or from the 

Supervisors. The new governor, Hay, is carrying on afight with all the rest of the State 

officials. He has put one in jail,forced another to resign, and called a special session of 

the Statelegislature to impeach the rest of them. He and Ross are supposed to bebitter 

enemies. 

Allen went on to say that there might be a chancewith the new regime for cooperation in fire 

work, school lands, andclassification of state lands. [48] 

Hay, in cleaning house, forced the resignation of hisSecretary of State, and found his Insurance 

Commissioner guilty ofmalfeasance in office. He appointed an investigating committee to 



lookinto speculation in school lands; there was strong opposition to this,but by threatening to 

hold the Legislature in session indefinitely untilit had done its duty, he got such a committee. By 

April, 1910, thecommittee had reached the conclusion that there had been much laxity inState 

Land Office operations. 

The method of operations of the state land ring wouldrequire some explanation. The state laws 

governing sale of timber weresound ones. Lands, by law, were to be sold by bid or auction, 

ratherthan at a definite price, in tracts of not over 160 acres; and on landswith over one million 

feet of timber to the quarter section, the timberwas to be sold separately from the land. On the 

face of it, the policywas constructive, but speculators found a loophole. State cruisers, 

inpartnership with speculators, would cruise the area and report much lessthan the real volume of 

timber. The appraisal would be low, and thetimber sold at a low price. [49] 

By April, 1910 the report of the committee wascomplete, and the Spokesman-Review began a 

series of featurestories and editorials, pointing out that the State Land Commissionerknew what 

he was doing when he opposed formation of the investigationcommittee. Eighty acres of land in 

Cowlitz County, cruised at 100,000feet, had produced 3,100,000 feet of timber and still had 

110,000 feetleft. In another area, a section was sold at exactly its appraisedvalue, $5,652.60, in 

1901; two years later it was sold to the SilverLake Railroad and Lumber Company (in which 

Ross had an interest) for$59,972. A half section, sold as brush land, had on it timber worthtwelve 

to fifteen thousand dollars; another, sold at 3,200, at that timewas worth $32,480. In 1908 a half 

section had been given a state cruiseof 100,000 feet, though a county cruise had given it 

2,800,000 a yearbefore, and the present cruise gave it 3,210,000 feet. TheSpokesman-

Review called for a Heney to fight the fraud. [50] 

As the time for the Conservation Congress approached,tempers ran high. There was fear in many 

states that the St. PaulConference would be a sounding board for the progressive element of 

theRepublican Party; a fear that was justifiable, as Pinchot, in St. Paul,had attempted to get the 

state party leaders to endorse the progressivestand on conservation. [51] Because of 

this,Governor Hay called a meeting of western governors to meet at Salt LakeCity before the St. 

Paul Conference, that the West might present aunited front against "Pinchotism." The meeting 

drew up resolutions infavor of state control of resources, and demanded that these views beheard 

at the conference. [52] 

With this background, the Second ConservationCongress met in St. Paul, September 5 through 8, 

1910. The meetingpromised fireworks on several grounds. The Pinchot-Ballinger dispute 

wasfresh in everyone's minds, and partisans of both sides were there. Theorganizers of the 

convention faced the difficult problems of askingvotes of confidence for both Pinchot, Roosevelt 

and Taft, a seemingattempt to reconcile the irreconcilable. Moreover, partisans of both 

thedisposal and the conservationist points of view desired to have theconvention endorse their 

views on withholding or exploitation of forest,water, or mineral resources. 

The delegates from the Northwest were a mixed lot.From Washington, M. E. Hay and E. W. 

Ross, representing thestates-rights group, was there; but at least two of the delegates whomHay 

had appointed had other views. The Oregon delegation was, during theconvention, one of the 

strongest backers of the federal program, but hadbecome so by a bit of political maneuvering. 



The delegates in Oregonwere selected in two groups; Governor Bowerman picking state 

delegates,and the lumber associations the conservation delegates. The Bowermandelegates were 

of the conservative, or states-rights, group. The lumberassociations, on the other hand, had 

chosen a strong group who endorsedthe Roosevelt-Pinchot policies, including Malcolm Moody; 

F. W. Mulkey,chairman of the Progressive Republicans in Oregon; E. T. Allen and J. N.Teal. On 

arrival in St. Paul, the conservation group met in a rumpsession in a hotel room, organized the 

delegation, naming T. N. Strongchairman and M. A. Moody head of the resolutions committee, 

and passed aresolution favoring federal conservation control. The states-rightsgroup wrote a 

manifesto, full of "whereases" and righteous indignation,stating that they had not had a hearing 

and that they believed Oregonshould develop her own resources. [53] Thisgroup was not in 

evidence at the convention, however, and it is probablethat they went home in a huff. On the 

other hand, J. N. Teal was placedon the executive committee, and E. T. Allen on the 

forestrycommittee. 

On the whole, the convention went off fairlypeacefully. Governor Norris of Montana condemned 

the federalconservation policies, but was answered by such men as Governor Pardeeof 

California; J. J. Hill attacked the Reclamation Service, but JamesWilson, the Secretary of 

Agriculture, answered his strictures withhome-spun humor. The resolutions passed were, on the 

whole, favorable tothe federal program. it remained for the Washington delegation toprovide the 

most entertainment. 

Governor Hay, in his speech, spoke for state controlof lands within the state. He remarked on the 

school land situation, thefact that reserves bottled up the resources of the state, and the needfor 

reforestation. His speech, moderate and reasonable, was from allindications well received. [54] 

However,later on delegate Christopher G. Herr stated that Hay spoke only forhimself, and not for 

all the people in the state. The 50,000 members ofthe Grange, he said, repudiated the idea of 

states-rights. [55] The real clashes came later, however,between E. W. Ross and delegate 

William Douglas Johns. 

Ross at various times interrupted the proceedings onpoints of order, claiming that the delegates 

were ignoring vitalbusiness and hamstringing expressions of opinion. On one of theseoccasions 

Johns exclaimed, "I am from the State of Washington and gloryin it, but I do not glory in some 

of the men that the Governorappointed." Later Johns brought up a series of charges against Ross 

andHay. Stating that the administration of the state had been careless withthe resources, he 

accused Ross of letting water power sites worthmillions go for the sum of $10,000. As he stated, 

"The waters of theChelan River in the Cascades James J. Hill secured (125,000 horse power)by 

paying filing fees to the state. No wonder he favored state control."[56] He brought up the 

Olympic land frauds,where "they sold out from $600 to $800 per quarter; a few holding outuntil 

within the last few years, and the result is it has passed intothe hands of speculators." And of 

Ross' forest management: 

If the National Forests of the State of Washingtonwere turned over by the United States 

Government to the State ofWashington and its officials, and the tender mercies of 

LandCommissioner Ross, they probably would go just exactly as the OlympicForest went 

— into the hands of speculators. . . . 



Then came the open clash: 

Ross: (claiming privilege) The Gentlemen, so far asthe Delegation from the State of 

Washington is concerned, speaks forhimself, and for no one else. Mr. Jones: Thank God, 

I do not speak foryou! Ross: The Gentleman who has just spoken sounded the only 

discordantnote in a meeting of 500 citizens of Seattle where, to a man, theyendorsed 

Richard Ballinger (Hisses from the house). 

Ross then launched into a speech, rambling almost tothe point of incoherency condemning the 

conservationists and upholdinghis administration of the state lands. [57] 

The convention struggle was watched with interest bypeople within the state. J. J. Donovan, 

erstwhile author of theWhatcom Excitement wrote in the Bellingham Sun-Heraldattacking the 

action of the convention in again setting Pinchot and hispolicies on a pedestal. The effects of the 

forest policy, he wrote,were: 

An area greater than the 13 old colonies . . . isadministered at an annual deficit of 

$2,000,000 and with a waste by rotof more timber than is cut annually. 

And in a letter to Senator Wesley L. Jones, hewrote: 

I am somewhat curious to watch the development of theexisting convention struggle, 

especially as it affects the rights of thestate and nation, but Mr. Roosevelt's ideas, 

according to their logicalconclusion, mean the nation will go into the development of 

water power,opening of mines, and sawing of timber. It may be that we may yetcompete 

with Russia in the working of mines by convicts. [58] 

The period 1910-12 was comparatively quiet so far asconservation as a political issue was 

concerned. In 1910 MilesPoindexter, representing the Pinchot views of strong governmental 

actionon conservation, won the primary nomination over Judge Thomas Burke, whobacked the 

Ballinger states-rights views. The victory of Poindexter iscommonly regarded as the result of 

weakness and division in theRepublican Party; but it is reasonable to suppose that the exposure 

ofstate land frauds, in which members of the conservative wing of theparty were concerned, 

alienated many voters and awakened the public tothe fact that the cry of states-rights was being 

used as a mask forstealing public property. [59] In 1911, thecases Light vs. United 

States and United States vs.Grimaud clearly settled the question of the right of the UnitedStates 

to manage her public lands, and knocked another prop from underthe states-rights position, [60] 

The firesof 1910 tested and demonstrated the strength of the Forest Service as aworking 

organization, and made for a more favorable point of view towardthat organization. Finally Hay, 

himself, who was by no means opposed toconservation, began some constructive work in regard 

to conservation. Heappointed a commission to examine the question of timber taxation and 

torecommend a set of laws for reforestation of logged off lands and saleof state lands. J. J. 

Donovan was named as chairman of the commission;but its membership included many who 

were more friendly to the federalconservation group than Donovan. Frank G. Miller, of the 

ForestryDepartment, and two other professors from the University were included;and several 

lumbermen, including Frank H. Lamb and George S. Long, wereon the committee. The 



commission worked closely with the Forest Service,and came up with a program of tax revision, 

classification of lands, anda non-political State Forestry Board, chosen like that of Oregon. [61] 

The State Legislature also appropriated asum of $10,000 to the State Geological Survey, for soil 

and landclassification in the cut-over area. [62] 

In 1913, however, new crises loomed up. Wilson'sposition, that the states should play a more 

active part inconservation, seemed made to order for the states-rights group. A newpublic lands 

conference was called for 1913 in Salt Lake City. InWashington, old remonstrances were dusted 

off, and new ones written.From Skamania County came a memorial asking that 114,000 acres 

ofallegedly arable land in the Wind River watershed be eliminated from theNational Forest. 

From Lewis County came a petition castigating theForest Service for its administration of the 

June 11 act, and askingthat all land below 3,500 feet in elevation (including administrativesites) 

be set aside as agricultural land. [63] In Congress, Representative Lafferty ofOregon revived his 

bill to transfer the National Forests to the states,and Representative Humphrey of Washington 

introduced a resolutioncalling for an investigation of the Forest Service. [64] 

Those concerned with conservation gathered materialfor a counter offensive. On the suggestion 

of C. J. Buck, an album ofphotographs, showing fraudulent timber claims in Lewis County, 

wasgathered and sent to Henry Graves to use at the Salt Lake CityConference. The report of the 

Washington legislative investigatingcommittee was also forwarded, to illustrate Ross' 

management of statelands. [65] Charles Flory, in a long letterto The Forester reported that there 

were comparatively fewrequests for eliminating lands from the forest, and most of these 

camefrom stockmen and commercial clubs who were interested in moresettlement or in fees for 

locating settlers. In Washington, he reported,the main protests came from the Bellingham papers, 

both theHerald and the American Reveille. In these, the heavieststock-holders were J. J. 

Donovan, vice-president of the Larson LumberCompany, a chronic troublemaker; E. B. Deming 

of Pacific AmericanFisheries; E. W. Purdy, owner of the First National Bank of Bellingham;G. 

H. Hyatt, Mayor of Bellingham; the Bellingham Bay ImprovementCompany; and S. A. Perkins, 

owner of the Tacoma Herald, and apower in the local conservative wing of the Republican Party. 

All wereinterested in exploiting land, fish, lumber, and other resources.Another interested party 

was W. T. Beck of Republic, attorney forCanadian Pacific interests. Flory reported, "His attitude 

is believed tobe the result of an attempt of his company to secure certain rights ofway along the 

San Poil River in opposition to the Great Northern RailwayCompany, and having been delayed 

in the enterprise by the requirementsof the Department of the Interior." Beck believed that if the 

ColvilleNational Forest had been under state control, there would have been nodifficulty. [66] 

Graves collected a huge dossier on land frauds,concentrating on the Big Creek and St. Joe River 

claims in Idaho and theIndex claims in Washington. Pinchot worked up an account of 

theWashington claims, including information on coal land withdrawals in theBellingham area 

and reports of maladministration by Ross. [67] T. T. Munger, preferring national to statecontrol 

of the national forests, worked up what still remains one of themost lucid defenses of the 

advantages of such a management. [68] In Oregon, Governor Oswald West prepared apaper for 

the Salt Lake City Conference, defending federal control ofrivers and forests. 

The counter-offensive was successful. [69] In Washington, the memorials passed theSenate but 

died in committee in the House. Probably the desire of thestate for more Weeks Act money, and 



the propaganda barrage of the ForestService, had some influence. At Salt Lake City, the views of 

West,pointing out that the states were not prepared to go into the businessof managing forest 

lands, found support from Governor Hunt of Arizona.[70] In Congress, Representative J. W. 

Bryangave a lengthy, brilliant defense of the Forest Service, indicating theabsurdity of the 

charges Humphrey had made, and Humphrey's ownintellectual dishonesty in making them; and 

pointing out the closealliance of politics, newspapers and land looting in the Puget Soundarea. 

Both Humphrey's resolution and Lafferty's bill failed. [71] 

IV. The Triple Alliance 

On the professional and associational levels, therewere other important developments, which the 

froth and bubbles ofpolitical controversy tended to obscure. Among those interested in 

therealities of forest conservation, rather than creating a sounding boardfor partisan or private 

purposes, there was a wide area of agreement. In1909, Allen wrote to Pinchot, reviewing 

regional matters: 

The past six months have seen a really remarkablechange in the attitude of practical 

lumber men in both Oregon andWashington. . . . The more progressive and dominant 

ones are convertednot only to fire protection but to conservative holding of cut-overlands, 

and the necessary work should be directed at the public and thelegislatures, rather than at 

the land owners themselves. 

In Oregon, both the Oregon State Board of Forestryand the Oregon Conservation Association 

worked closely with him. TheOregon Conservation Association, an organization consisting of 

publicspirited citizens doing work in every sort of resource management,handled the clerical and 

educational work for the State Board ofForestry. Lumbermen in the state, Allen reported, would 

acceptpractically anything Allen set before them. In Washington, theWashington Forest Fire 

Association worked closely with the ForestService and with the Yellow Pine Associations. [72] 

Among all these organizations there was acommunity of interest in fire prevention, reforestation, 

andestablishing forestry on a sound basis in the area. Sometime during thisyear, probably on a 

vacation in Tahiti, Allen dreamed of a new superorganization, which would combine all the 

protective and conservationgroups into a single great organization. This dream he realized 

beforethe year was out. [73] 

In 1909 two meetings of the Lumbermen's protectiveAssociations in Washington, Oregon and 

Idaho were held in Spokane. Inthe course of discussing the fire protection work of the 

associations,Allen suggested that a new organization be founded, an organization inwhich 

diverse interests and management need not interfere with thesingle aim of protecting timber from 

fire. Individual owners, it wasproposed, could join their local organizations; and a league 

ofassistance of the various organizations could be formed to cooperate inprotecting forests. The 

program met with approval, as far-sighted menlike George S. Long and Frank Haines Lamb had 

been thinking along thesame lines. [74] Formed first under the nameof the Pacific Northwest 

Protection and Conservation League, theorganization changed its name by December to the 

Western Forestry andConservation Association. By December, the association decided to keepon 

the permanent staff a combination forester and publicity man. Allen'sbackground of experience 

in public relations, his competence in forestrywork, and the fact that he was respected by the 



loggers, made him amplyqualified for the job. In addition to this, he had won the confidence 

ofGeorge S. Long, the local manager of the Weyerhauser interests. Onreceiving assurances from 

Long that he would have a free hand, heaccepted the position. 

The organization had, and continues to have, awidespread effect on conservation matters in the 

Northwest. Initiallyconcerned mainly with fire protection, as the major forest problem inthe area, 

it rapidly became the clearing house for matters dealing withreforestation, tax revision, planting 

and other aspects of forestry. Itsconstitution provided for membership by federal and state 

forestryagencies. [75] as well as private owners.The organization rapidly expanded into the chief 

center or informationfor timber interests from the states of Montana, Idaho, Oregon,Washington, 

and California; the State Forest Boards of these states, aswell as other conservation groups; the 

Forest Service of Districts 1, 5and 6; and the Provincial Forests, private owners and associations 

ofBritish Columbia and Alberta. 

Its annual meetings provided a clearing house forpoints of view and constructive suggestions on 

matters of commoninterest to all connected with timber management. Here the organizingability 

of Allen, the diplomacy of C. S. Chapman, the vision and localknowledge of H. D. Langille, and 

the influence of George S. Long, couldall work for common ends. Yearly reviews of the fire 

season in eachstate and district; discussions of mistakes and favorable gambits infighting fires; 

methods of cutting down risk on logging operations;telephone, trail and patrol systems, 

enforcement of laws, andconsiderations of desirable legislation—all these and otherproblems 

were talked over fully and frankly. The give-and-take of themeetings helped break down old 

animosities. J. J. Donovan, long thesource of hostile resolution, remarked at one of the meetings: 

Two years ago I had the misfortune in the LoggingCongress in Portland to suggest in 

some slight detail that there mightbe room for improvement in the administration of the 

Forest Service. Iimmediately offended Mr. Allen, and he swore he would get even. He 

hasgotten even with me, and incidentally, is getting even with some of youwho may be 

good friends of him, because I have come to consider Mr.Allen about the most efficient 

man on that job in the United States. [76] 

The chief immediate need for fire protection in thearea was to get more state appropriations for 

Oregon. Fire damage in thestate had amounted to 61,037 acres of timber burned, worth 

$2,485,776,in addition to damage in second growth mon-merchantable timber. Theaction of the 

state on this was next to nothing; they had appropriated$500 for the biennium, in contrast to 

$75,000 for fish protection,$34,000 for game protection and $13,000 for horticulture for 

thebiennium. The reason for this was that the people felt that the ownersof the timber had stolen 

it, and should protect it at their own expense.They ignored the role the timber industry played in 

wages and labor. Bycontrast with Oregon's frugality, Washington had appropriated $35,000for 

the biennium; the Washington Forest Fire Association spent $40,000for protection, the Oregon 

owners a similar sum, and the Idaho owners$51,000. The Forest Service spent $35,000 that year 

for protection. inaddition to $241,538 for improvements such as trails and telephoneswhich could 

be used for fire fighting. There was need for concerted workby all these agencies. [77] 

The protective program was aided by a bad fire year.The year 1910 was the worst fire year since 

1902 in the Northwest. Idahoand Montana were hard hit; Washington less so, but in Oregon a 



series ofbad lightning storms made this the worst fire year thus far recorded. InWashington, A. 

L. Llewelling, President of the Western Forestry andConservation Association, persuaded 

President Taft to send Federaltroops to fight the flames. Troops were then sent to the aid of 

theForest Service in the Crater fire, in southern Oregon, where a handfulof Forest Service men 

under C. J. Buck had to hold 26 miles of fireline. The value of the permanent improvements of 

the Forest Service, inthe way of telephone lines and trails, was demonstrated in that fire;and 

people as never before became aware of the need for protecting theforest resources of the region. 

As one writer put it, 

The success with which the affiliated private forestprotective associations of the Pacific 

Northwest met the difficultsituation thrust upon them by the menacing fires throughout 

the regionmakes a remarkable showing. Scarcely less noteworthy is the fact thatthis 

success was due, first to the example of the Forest Service, whosemethods were closely 

followed by the associations, and second, to aliberal policy of spending money in order to 

get results. The privatecooperators spend from one to ten times as much on fire protection 

aloneas the government spends for the entire administration of the nationalforests. [78] 

The lumbermen's associations, the Forest Service andothers interested in conserving the forest 

set to work to get moreprotective measures. They were aided by passage of the Weeks Act, 

inFebruary, 1911. The bill, to "enable any state to cooperate with anyother state or states or with 

the United States, for protection ofwatersheds of navigable streams," [79] heldout the bait of 

federal funds for protection of watersheds to thosestates which could qualify, which meant 

whether in the judgment of theForest Service they had taken steps toward getting a protective 

systemof their own. It was obviously to Oregon's advantage to qualify. C. S.Chapman, the 

District Forester, resigned from the Forest Service earlyin 1911 to head the Oregon Forest Fire 

Association, an organizationseparate from, but affiliated with, the Washington Forest 

FireAssociation, and made up of owners in Oregon. He began at once to pressfor better fire 

legislation. [80] Throughunited efforts of that organization, the Forest Service, the 

WesternForestry and Conservation Association, the Oregon ConservationCommission and the 

Oregon Conservation Association, a bill was passedthrough the Oregon Legislature that 

materially strengthened the fireorganization of the state. It provided for the appointment of 

aprofessional State Forester, to administer the state forests, and anappropriation of $60,000 for 

the biennium, for fire protection andinvestigative work. The State Forestry Board was not only 

anon-political board with a trained man as administrator, but had moneyenough to run on. In 

addition, the State got $5,000 Weeks Act money. [81] 

The results of the program began to show by 1911. Farless fire damage occurred during that 

year, partly due to the fact thatit was not so bad a fire year, partly to increased interest in 

spottingand putting out fire. More convictions were obtained against illegalburners; the 

Washington Forest Fire Association alone obtained thirtyconvictions. In Oregon, 423 men were 

in the field in addition to ForestService personnel; 32 men paid by the Weeks Act, 23 county 

supervisorwardens, 3 selected and paid by the counties at the request of privateowners, 192 

private land patrolmen and 173 public spirited citizens.More patrols were organized on a county 

basis, in Klamath, Lake, Coos,Jackson, and Linn Counties. In Washington, 80 patrolmen of 

theWashington Forest Fire Association worked with 30 wardens and 33patrolmen hired by the 



State under the Weeks Act, cooperating with oneanother in the checkerboard areas to avoid 

duplication of effort. [82] 

The work continued along the same lines in 1912. InOregon the county associations reached ten 

in number, patroling land atan average cost of one and one-half cents an acre. Again, each 

statereceived Weeks Act money, this time to the amount of $10,000. TheWestern Forestry and 

Conservation Association since its formation hadcarried on a campaign against fire, supplying 

newspapers with bulletinsand news items, issuing hundreds of circulars and folders to 

schoolchildren, state officials, local associations, railroads, and civicgroups on fire protection. 

The program of education of this and otherconservation groups began to have results, in decrease 

of the number ofman-caused fires. In 1909, 94 per cent of all fires in the region werecaused by 

human agencies; this had dropped to 87 per cent in 1910, to 70per cent by 1911, and to 61 per 

cent in 1912. [83] 

In 1913 the system of protection was brought tocompletion. In that year Oregon passed the most 

advanced fire law to befound in any state of the Union. Associations, the Forest Service andthe 

state protective agencies cared for most of the forest land in thestate; but there remained areas, 

particularly in southern Oregon,belonging to absentee owners, who were not in any of the 

associations.The law provided that every forest owner should provide an adequate firepatrol for 

his timber and that, in case he should neglect this, theState Forester should provide one, at a cost 

of not over five cents peracre. This fee would amount to a lien on the property, to be reported 

tothe county courts and levied and collected as a land tax, in the sameway that other property 

taxes were collected. The law resulted in fullcoverage of timber land within the state. [84] 

V. Conclusion 

The year 1911 is commonly considered a landmark inthe history of forest conservation in the 

United States as a whole. Inthat year was passed the third great legislative act, having to do 

withforest conservation. The Act of 1891 had established National Forests,and that of 1897 had 

opened them for use. The Weeks Act of 1911established the principle of cooperation by state and 

federal governmentin protection of the forests, and foreshadowed the extension of thatwork in 

the Clarke-McNary Act of 1924. 

The year 1911 is a landmark also, in that the nextdecade witnessed new problems, and new 

approaches, in forestconservation. It was a period in which leadership in the 

conservationmovement passed to Congress, and where congressmen like Chamberlain ofOregon 

and La Follette of Wisconsin kept the gains made by Rooseveltagainst a hostile or indifferent 

executive branch. These progressiveswere greatly aided by the fact that between 1911 and 1921 

a series often Supreme Court decisions upheld the Roosevelt conservation policies.The new 

generation of congressmen showed a greater interest in, and agreater grasp of, the problems of 

forest conservation, and passed muchconstructive legislation. 

On the part of the Forest Service, the period markedthe professionalization of the bureau. By 

1920, most of the Land Officeappointees with an interest in forest conservation had been 

replaced bymen with college training in forestry. The Service was strengthened bythe new and 



competent staff; and for that period at least, the membersstill retained the crusading spirit of 

Pinchot. 

This was the period, too, in which the industry cameof age. During the period 1911-24, a series 

of searching studies of theindustry, technical and economic, were made by such bodies as 

theFederal Trade Commission, the United States Chamber of Commerce, and theBureau of 

Corporations. Problems relating to the lumber industry, suchas taxation, monopoly, waste and 

reforestation, came under closescrutiny. The sick industry took much of the initiative in 

curingitself, though it was aided by state and federal studies. Not the factof federal forest control, 

but the extent of federal control overprivate cutting, was the large question of the 20's; and in this 

theloudest opposition came from California, and the most constructivesuggestions from the 

Northwest. [85] 

For the Pacific Northwest, however, the year 1913 mayserve as a better milestone for several 

reasons. The Oregon compulsorypatrol law was the final touch to a protective system unequaled 

anywherein the United States. [86] It involved atriple alliance of federal, state, and private 

owners, over a forestacreage of forty million acres. Leadership and purposes were well agreedon. 

E. T. Allen, who along with his Forest Service background, had anunderstanding of the 

lumbermen's point of view, was able to reconciledifferences of opinion with skill and diplomacy. 

The industry had also aleavening of other men from the Forest Service, such as C. S. 

Chapmanand H. D. Langille, who aided in mutual understanding. The unity wasalso aided by the 

purpose of the Western Forestry and ConservationAssociation in seeking no end except the 

general good; "equally withoutsympathy for the propagandist who locates all forest evils in the 

greedof the lumberman and seeks remedy by resent-breeding compulsion, or forthe essentially 

individualistic lumberman who does equal harm by his ownbad methods and the retribution he 

draws on the industry." [87] 

The principle of cooperation was deep-rooted in thearea, as many of the former movements were 

indigenous in nature. Suchwas Waldo's memorial of 1889, calling for a forest reserve to 

beadministered equally by state and federal government; such was thegeneral acceptance of the 

Coville plan, and the cooperation of HarveyScott and Governor Chamberlain in halting land 

frauds; such was theaction of E. T. Allen in forming the triple alliance, and that of J. N.Teal, of 

the lumber interests, in the work of the Oregon ConservationCommission. And in the twenties 

the most influential proponent of thispoint of view was another man from the area, Charles 

McNary. 

The unity of sentiment of the three groups, and thestrength of the federal administration in the 

region, was well expressedin 1913, at the time of the "states-rights" agitation. The fact 

hasalready been mentioned that T. T. Munger, J. W. Bryan, and GovernorOswald West all spoke 

strongly against the "states-rights" movement as acloak for the predatory interests. It is also 

significant that there wasa third strong defense of the federal administration, this time from 

thelumber associations. 

At the fifth Conservation Congress, held inWashington, D. C., J. N. Teal, attorney for the 

Oregon and WashingtonLumber Manufacturers Association, and head of the Oregon 

ConservationCommission, delivered a ringing defense of federal control of forestresources. 



Since, as he pointed out, federal forest control had beenheld constitutional by the courts (U. S. 

vs. Grimaud, 220U. S. 506 and Light vs. U. S., 220 U. S. 523), he assumedthat the matter could 

be discussed primarily in terms of public policy.The question resolved itself into whether the 

state or the federalgovernment was better suited to carry out the policy. In Teal's opinion,the 

federal government was the better suited. 

We have all read, doubtless, many resolutions andaddresses issued by congresses, 

legislatures and publicists advocatingturning over the public forests to the respective 

states. As yetthere have appeared absolutely no concrete suggestions of a proposed State 

policy. Much less has there been discussion what the stateshave done with their public 

lands in the past. There run through all thearguments, appeals not only to prejudice but 

also to that sentiment ofselfishness and personal gain implanted in us all. Conceded as it 

mustbe that the national forests are now legally the property of the nation,it would seem 

that those seeking to change the present status foralleged public welfare would have the 

burden of showing, first, thatthey have some plan under which they propose to control 

and dispose ofthem; second, that such a plan will produce better results than we arenow 

securing; and third, that actual experience shows the states to havedeveloped their 

superior competence to execute such a plan in theinterest of the public. None of these 

fundamental requirements is everdiscussed by the State Control advocates. We can 

therefore turn only topast performance to ascertain, if possible, what the test of 

experienceshows the results of State control to be. 

Pointing out that the states had been given largegrants of land, he showed how they had 

squandered their heritage. Oregonhad disposed of practically all her timber land at $1.25 per 

acre, andWashington, while still in possession of much state timber land, had sofar done nothing 

in forestry work save appropriate money forprotection. 

Not even at this late time has a single State awell-defined policy expressed in the law and 

adequately supported,looking to the properly co-ordinated care, disposal, and 

conservation ofits natural resources. There is hardly a public land State in whichthere 

have not been charges of graft and fraud in connection with thedisposal of public lands. 

Scandals of great and small proportions havebeen so numerous as to be commonplace . . . 

When earnest, sincere mensought to remedy abuses, they were sneered at as dreamers 

and reformers,and where policies were sought to be established by the State they wereas 

vacillating as the swinging pendulum. [88] 
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NOTES 

 
 
Chapter 1 

 

1. Jeannie S. Payton, "ForestryMovement of the Seventies in the Interior Department, Under 

Schurz," in Forestry Quarterly, XVII:4 (April, 1920), p. 406. 

2. A few examples of such distortionsmay be cited. John Ise and Jenks Cameron in their 

excellent booksconcentrate on congressional and administrative action. Andrew DennyRodgers, 

in his biography of Bernhard Edouward Fernow, gives him muchcredit for the success of the 

movement and makes only one mention ofJohn Muir; while Linnie Wolfe Marsh, in her 

biography of John Muir,hails Muir as the father of forest conservation and makes only 

onemention of Fernow. Roy Robbins, Richard C. Lilliard, and E. LouisePeffer picture the 

movement as an eastern one with almost everyone westof the hundredth meridian hostile to it. 

The most balanced accounts areHerbert A. Smith, "The Early Forestry Movement in the United 

States"Agricultural History, XII:4 (October, 1938), 326-46; and W. N.Sparhawk, "The History 

of Forestry in America," in The Yearbook ofAgriculture, 1949 (Washington, 1949), pp. 702-15. 

3. The clearest brief account, withvaluable statistical tables, of the public domain and its disposal 

isStephen S. Visher, "The Public Domain and its Disposal" in Guy-HaroldSmith 

(ed.), Conservation of Natural Resources (New York, 1952),pp. 13-24. More detailed standard 

accounts are Benjamin Horace Hibbard,A History of Public Land Policies (New York, 1939), 

and RoyRobbins, Our Landed Heritage (New York, 1950). 

4. Hibbard, op. cit., pp.462-65. 

5. Andrew Denny Rodgers, BernhardEduard Fernow (Princeton, 1951), pp. 9-11, gives a good 

account ofthe laws as applied to forest lands. John Ise, The United StatesForest Policy (New 

Haven, 1920), pp. 41-72, gives a scholar analysisof timber and laws. Surveys of the effects of the 

laws are found inHibbard, op cit., pp. 228-472. and Robbins, op. cit., pp.119-285. There are a 

large number of articles in The Forester,Forestry, and Irrigation, and The Journal of 

Forestry dealingwith particular cases. 

6. Henry David Thoreau, The MaineWoods (Boston, 1893), pp. 212-13. The essay was first 

published inthe Atlantic Monthly in 1858. Chittenden, in his history ofYellowstone National 

Park, quotes the statements of Catlin desiring tohave a "Nation's Park," containing man and beast 

in all the wildernessand freshness of their nature's beauty. 

7. The best known standard account ofthese changes wrought by urbanization is Arthur Meier 

Schlesinger,The Rise of the City (New York, 1933), pp. 314-16. However, thebest analysis of 
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should be owned en bloc by thefederal government. They also got support from some cattlemen. 



Sheepwere excluded about the time the reserve was created; pressure fromstockmen forced 

Hitchcock to rescind his order, and in the meantime astudy was made by Pinchot, Coville and a 

sheepman, Albert Potter. Theyreported that grazing under regulation was not injurious to forests 

inthis, as in the humid areas. However, Hitchcock again rescinded hisorder; once more stockmen 

went east and protested, and Pinchot succeededin persuading Secretary Hitchcock to rescind his 

order. Grazingprivileges were assumed on most of the forest reserves thereafter. Thebest account 

of this episode is found in Wentworth, op. cit., pp.502-03. 

36. Charles McKinley, Uncle Samin the Pacific Northwest (Berkeley, 1952), p. 266. 

37. Muir's biographer states thatin 1897 Muir, while in Seattle, read a statement by Pinchot, then 

in thecity, stating that sheep grazing on the reserves did little harm. Muirmet Pinchot, found that 

he was quoted correctly, and angrily stated thatthey were through with each other. (Wolfe, Son 

of the Wilderness,pp. 275-76) The specific incident related is not based on primaryevidence, and 

there are some reasons for doubting that the incident was as dramatic,or the break as complete, as 

is indicated; that point may be cleared upwhen the complete journals of Pinchot and Muir are 

open to the public.However, the incident did mark the beginning of the break between thetwo 

groups. 

38. John Minto, "Sheep Husbandry inOregon," Oregon Historical Quarterly, III:3 (September, 

1902),pp. 219-47. 

39. Oregonian, February 10,1904. 
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1. "Olympic Forest Reserve,Washington," Twenty-First Annual Report of the U. S. 

GeologicalSurvey (Washington, 1900), 153-56; Gifford Pinchot, Surveys ofthe Forest 

Reserves (Washington, 1898), pp. 87-91. 

2. Edwin T. Coman and Helen M.Gibbs, Time, Tide and Timber: A Century of Pope and 

Talbot(Stanford 1949), pp. 1112-13. 
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7. Charles D. Walcott to BingerHermann, September 26, 1899. ibid. 
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9. Report of D. B. Sheller (n.d.,1899), ibid. 

10. Report of Rixon and Dodwell toHenry Gannett, November 22, 1899, ibid. The reports of 
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12. "Olympic Reserve,"Twenty-First Annual Report of the Geological Survey, p. 152;Annual 
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Vacant public lands 
3,262.24 
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 679,972.89 100 

Ownership, 1912, of area eliminated from OlympicNational Forest 

 Acres % 

Original homestead entries 57,958.07 9 

Railroad land 6,430.69 1 

State lands 133,150.72 19 

Small owners (160 A. or under) 93,804.55 14 

Speculative owners (Over 160 A) 256,133.57 37 



Timber & Logging companies 129,253.05 19 

Vacant public lands 
3,262.24 
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 679,972.89 100 

N.A., D.A., F.S., Timber claimfrauds, dr. 40. 

15. Annual Report of theCommissioner of the General Land Office, 1901 (Washington,1901). 
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Reserve,"Nineteenth Annual Report of the U. S. Geological Survey, 1897-98(Washington, 
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1897; "AFavorable Report on the Proposed Addition to the Washington ForestReserve, 

Washington," by M. G. Gowsell, 1903; and "Report on theProposed Addition to the Washington 

Forest Reserve, Washington," by W.T. Cox. These reports are in N.A., D.A., F.S.,Research 

Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 137. The petitions, letters,protests, and remonstrances are 

in N.A., D.I.,N.F., Mt. Baker, boxes 105 and 106. 
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of theSociety of American Foresters I, 2 (Nov., 1905), p. 52. 

18. E. T. Allen to Gifford Pinchot,February 23, 1907; Pinchot to Allen, March 2, 

1907, N.A.,D.A., F.S., Insp. Corr., District 6, 1906-08, dr. 94/777.Pinchot to Allen, March 7, 

1907, ibid., Insp.Corr., Allen. E. T., 1907, dr. 27. 

19. Some information on the road isfound in The Columbia River and Oregon Timberman, I:7 

(May,1900), p. 19. See Map 2. 

20. The documents cited are inN.A., D.I., N.F., Gifford Pinchot, box 55. 

21. Ibid. 

22. J. W. Cloes to Commissioner ofLand Office, November 7, 1898; D. B. Sheller to 

Commissioner, December30, 1899, ibid. 

23. Oregonian, September 21,1899. 

24. Oregonian, July 3 and27, 1901. 

25. U. S. Bureau of Corporations,The Lumber Industry (Washington, 1913-14), II, pp. 39, 44. 

26. N.A., D.I.,N.F., Gifford Pinchot, box 55. 

27. Report of the Commissionerof the General Land Office, 1901 (Washington, 1901), pp. 108-
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28. "The Proposed Snoqualmie ForestReserve in Washington," by R. B. Wilson, July, 

1904, N.A.,D.A., F.S., Research Compilation Files, Mt. Hood-Umpqua,Dr. 138. The following 

tables of land status are of interest. 

Railroad land 571,746 acres 35.80% 

Unsurveyed land 4,220  .26 

 34,600  2.17 

Patented 46,960  2.94 

Homestead entry 3,120  .20 

Timber & Stone entry 6,120  .38 

Lieu selection pending 600  .04 

State selection, approved 1,160  .07 

School land 15,120  .95 

School land unsurveyed 76,480  4.79 

Mineral land 1,280  .08 

Squatter's claims 32,000  2.00 

Public land 803,340 

 
 

50.32 

 

 1,596,960  100.00 

29. "Ashford Addition to the Mt.Rainier Reserve," by John Leibig, 1905; "Proposed Addition to 

theEastern Boundary of the Washington National Forest," by E. T. Allen,1905; "A Favorable 

Report on the Proposed Additions to the NationalForest in Chelan and Okanogan Counties," by 

Lee A. Harris, 1906;"Proposed Colville National Forest," (n.d.), N.A., D.A.,F.S., Research 

Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 137 and 138. 
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1. Puter and Stevens, op.cit., pp. 347-50, is the standard study. A more valuable study, sofar 

unexploited, is the series of articles by Harry Brown in theOregonian, October and November, 

1903. Brown had access to LandOffice material, and used it well. There is, however, still much 

work tobe done, in studying the lieu land frauds from both the disposal andconservation points of 

view. 

2. Report of the Secretary of theInterior 1904, p. 387. 

3. The Oregon Central Military WagonRoad grant extended from Eugene to the eastern border of 

the state, andcovered odd sections for three miles in width on each side of the road,with 

indemnity limits to six miles on each side of the road. Thegovernment brought suit against the 

road in 1889, alleging failure toconstruct the road, but were unsuccessful. Bureau of 

Corporation, TheLumber Industry, III, pp. 57-8 and 78. 



4. Ibid., map 2 facing p. 80;also map 3 of this thesis. 

 
MAP 3 

PROPOSED PENGRA ELIMINATION 

5. G. G. Allardt, The Commissionerof the General Land Office, October 2, 1899, N.A., D.I.,N.F., 

Willamette, part II, box 175. 

6. S. B. Ormsby to Binger Hermann,October 25 and 26, 1899, ibid. Steel brought both the weight 
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7. John B. Waldo to S. B. Ormsby,October 16, 1899, ibid. Steel forwarded a copy to Thomas 

Ryan,Acting Secretary of the Interior. The quotation from Geike is fromGeological Sketches at 

Home and Abroad (New York, 1892), pp.305-06. Geike was of the erosionist school of 

geologists, believing thatmost of the features of the earth are due to the action of air, rain,frost, 

rivers, and other areas of subaerial erosion, as opposed to theconvulsionists, such as Clarence 

King, who believed subterraneanmovements were the main causes of physical features. He 

traveled in thiscountry in 1879, on a trip arranged by the American geologist Hayden,going 

through Wyoming, Montana and Idaho, and finding there confirmationof his ideas. He was also 

the first to observe the effects of fissureflows of lava, as opposed to crater flows, on his trip 

through the lavafields of the Snake River country, and the first to study similarfissure flows in 

Iceland, northwestern Europe and the Deccan. Waldo'scitation of Geike is another example of 

the wide familiarity ofwesterners with the scientific literature of the time. 



8. Letter of transmittal to BingerHermann, October 9, 1899, by M. J. Anderson and other 

stockmen. GeorgeSorenson to Senator John H. Mitchell, March 6, 1901. H. J. Dufur to JohnH. 

Mitchell, n.d., 1901. Malcolm Moody to Binger Hermann, March 9, 1901,N.A., D.I., N.F., 

Willamette Part II, box 175.Sorenson, the timber broker, along with Ormsby, the 

ForestSuperintendent, were hand in glove with the speculators; the others werehonest in their 

intent. 

9. The correspondent was wrong insuspecting that the area was in the O. & C. grant; but he 

wasprobably right in thinking someone would profit by the withdrawal.Ownership maps in The 

Lumber Industry III, p. 80, show extensiveholdings by the Southern Pacific, Hill and 

Weyerhauser, and the C. A.Smith interests. Of these the C. A. Smith interests were those 

whocustomarily manipulated the land laws, and it was likely Ormsby wasworking for this group. 

10. T. Leonard Charman, Secretaryof the Board of Water Commissioners, to John H. Mitchell. 

February 18,1902. 

Similar letters were sent to the other delegates toCongress. N.A., D.I., N. F., Willamette, part 

II,box 175. 

11. "Proposed Santiam Addition tothe Cascade Range Reserve," L A. Braniff, 1904; "Proposed 

RoseburgAddition to the Cascade Range Reserve," W. H. B. Kent, N.A.,D.A., F.S., Research 

Compilation Files,Wenatchee-Willamette dr. 139. 

12. The official reports on thereserve are in N.A., D.I., N.F., Siskiyou, Part Iand II, box 145. 

Harry Brown, the Oregonian's Washingtoncorrespondent, utilized the documents in one of a 

series of articles on"The Forest Reserves in Oregon," of which the issue of theOregonian for 

October 13, 1903, is significant. 

13. The remonstrances were on theusual grounds that the reserve had agricultural lands locked 

up in it;that it was unnecessary, since the Cascade Range existed; that brushland in the reserve 

was a fire hazard; that the reserve was not neededfor watershed protection; and that many settlers 

were waiting to proveup their claims. 

14. H. D. Langille and W. T. Cox,"A Report on the proposed Siskiyou Forest Reserve, 

Oregon," N.A.,D.A., F.S., Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr.138. 

15. "Report on the Proposed BlueMountain Reserve, 1906," R. D. Langille, N.A., D.A.,F.S., 

Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 139, gives agood picture of the region. 

The Oregonian carried numerousstories of the range wars; for example, the issues of September 

19,1902, and October 31, 1903. Wentworth, op. cit., pp. 260-65,gives a good account of the 

migratory herds in Oregon. He finds exactstatistics on the number of sheep hard to arrive at. 

Figures on the number of sheep grazed in the area(from the Oregonian, September 19, 1902) are: 

 



 
Sheep Cattle Horses 

Morrow County 150,000 60,000 3,500 

Umatilla 145,000 16,000 15,000 

Union 40,000 18,000 10,000 

Wasco 105,000 5,000 5,000 

Wheeler 80,000 10,000 4,000 

Crook 175,000 20,000 15,000 

Grant 100,000 16,000 5,000 

16. Oregonian July 31, 1901;Citizens of Baker City to Moody, September 27, 1901, and L. 

Gabrill toGifford Pinchot, December 7, 1901, N.A., D.I.,N.F., Blue Mountains, box 17. 

17. Puter, op. cit., pp.347-50. 

18. Ibid. The rank and filemembers of the Wool Grower's Association were probably sincere in 

theirdesire to have a reserve to stop range wars. However, J. N. Williamson,one of their 

members, had more dishonest motives, as he was in leaguewith the Puter group. 

19. The Journal played animportant part, as well as the Oregonian, in breaking the storyof the 

land frauds. Like the Oregonian, once it was aware thatfrauds were involved, it attacked the land 

looters; in addition, as aDemocratic paper, it attacked the officials involved even more 

severelythan did the Oregonian. The Oregonian however, because ofits wider circulation, its 

Washington correspondent, and its influenceboth in the region and in the nation, played a more 

important part inthe national movement. The Journal however, did play asignificant role in the 

state, by its support of Governor Chamberlainfor the governorship. An evaluation of the role of 

the Journal isfound in Marshall N. Dana, The First Fifty Years of the OregonJournal (Portland, 

1951), pp. 79-82, 86-88. 

20. The presumption is that theAssociation had already obtained title to the areas around 

waterholesand springs, and by their control of private land in the reserve couldcontrol the 

grazing. 

21. The pertinent papers are inN.A., D.I., N.F., Blue Mountains, box 17. HarryBrown's story, 

based on the Land Office files are in theOregonian October 5 and 7. Brown's evaluations are 

sound, thoughhe is somewhat harsh in his evaluation of Langille. 

22. Report of the Secretary ofthe Interior. 1904, pp. 21-4; Report of the Commissioner of 

theLand Office, 1908, pp. 25-27. 

23. Elting Mormon (ed.), TheLetters of Theodore Roosevelt (Cambridge, 1950-53), III, p. 477. 

24. See Map 4. 



 
MAP 4 

TEMPORARY WITHDRAWALS IN OREGON, 1903 

(From The Oregonian, Sept. 7, 1903) 

Legend for Map 4 

1. Proposed Joseph River Reserve 

2. Proposed Wallowa Reserve 

3. Proposed La Grande Reserve 

4. Proposed Morrow Reserve 

5. Proposed Blue Mountain Reserve 

6. Proposed Maury Mountain Reserve 

7. Proposed Warner Mountain Reserve 

8. Proposed Rogue River Reserve 

9. Ashland Reserve 

10. Cascade Range Reserve 

25. The articles were severe intheir criticism of public officials as well as the land sharks, 

butprobably their value in exciting the public against the land looters wasthought to outweigh 

this. H. D. Langille, who came in for some harshcriticism from Brown, prepared an article for 

the Oregonian inhis own defense, and submitted it to the Bureau of Forestry forclearance. As he 

said, "They are roasting me pretty hard in the state,and I would like to get back at them but of 

course will not do so at thesacrifice of the Bureau's interests." (H. D. Langille to O. W. 

Price,October 22, 1903, N.A., D.A., F. S., Chief'sCorr.). The article was not published. 



26. No more permanent reserves werecreated until the repeal of the lieu provision in 1905. 

TheOregonian took credit for this policy, which left the landlooters holding the bag; but more 

likely, the Land Office and Bureau ofForestry arrived at it independently. 

27. Morrison, op. cit., III,pp. 572-73, 594-5; IV, pp. 1176-77, 1302; Theodore 

Roosevelt, AnAutobiography (New York, 1913), pp. 359-60; Oswald West,"Remniscences and 
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Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 139; interviewwith T. T. Munger. 

29. Ibid.; "SupplementalReport on the Blue Mountain Reserve, Oregon," H. D. Langille, 

1904,N.A., D.I., N.F., Blue Mountains, Box 17. 

30. H. D. Langille to Secretary ofAgriculture Wilson, N.A., D.I., N.F., BlueMountains, box 
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suppliedwith funds to purchase land under the Timber and Stone Act, and it is amatter of record 
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patent." "Report on the ProposedBlue Mountain Reserve," H. D. Langille, N.A., D.A.,F.S., 

Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 139. 

32. Oregonian, September 19,1902. 

33. "The Proposed Heppner ForestReserve, Oregon," H. D. Langille, 1903, N.A., D.A.,F.S., 

Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 135. 

34. H. D. Langille to Land OfficeCommissioner, April 20, 1902, N.A., D.I., N.F.,Blue 

Mountains, box 17. 
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Braniff, 1903,N.A., D.A., N.F., Research Compilation Files,Region VI, dr. 137. 

36. "The Wallowa Reserve," A.Gaskill, 1903; "The Proposed Wallowa Forest Reserve," Frank 

A. Clarkeand H. D. Langille, 1904; "The Proposed Chesnimmus Forest Reserve,Oregon," H. D. 

Langille, 1904, N.A., D.A., F.S.,Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 135. 

37. Oregonian October 8,1903. 

38 The petitions and lettersmentioned are in N.A., D.I., N.F., Umatilla toUmpqua, box 164. 



39 "The Proposed Walla Walla ForestReserve, Washington and Oregon," W. H. B. Kent, Survey 

andRecommendation, Bureau of Forestry, ibid.; "The Proposed WenahaForest Reserve," W. H. 

B. Kent, 1904, N.A., D.A.,F.S., Research Compilation Files, Region VI, dr. 139. 

40. Oregonian October 8,1903. 
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Oregon," W. H. B.Kent, 1904, in N.A., D.A., F.S., ResearchCompilation Files, Region VI, dr. 
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circulated thepetition. 

42. Columbia River and OregonTimberman, I:12 (October, 1900), p. 9; Oregonian, August 
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Company, the C. A. Smith interests, and theWeyerhauser subsidiaries. The Booth-Kelly 
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43. "The Proposed Sprague RiverAddition to the Goose Lake Forest Reserve," by Franklin W. 

Redd, 1904,N.A., D.A., F.S., Research Compilation Files,Region VI, Deschutes-Mt. Baker, dr. 

137. 

44. Pinchot, Breaking NewGround, p. 300; Robbins, op. cit., pp. 348-49; Cameron,op. cit., pp. 

244-45; Roosevelt, Autobiography, pp.459-60. 

45. Robbins, op. cit., hasquoted at length from such attacks. 
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47. Oregonian March 6,1907. 

48. E. T. Allen to Gifford Pinchot,February 25, 1907, N. A., D.A., F.S., Insp. Corr.,Allen, E. T., 
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1. Cameron, op. cit., 255, n. l. 

2. A brief biographical sketch ofAllen appears in Shirley W. Allen, "E. T. Allen, Journal 

ofForestry. 43:3 (March, 1945), 222-3. 

3. Pinchot to Allen, December 10,1898, in N.A., D.A.. , F.S., Gen. Corr., A-L Letterbook. 

4. Foster's speech is in TheForester, VII:3 (March, 1901), 88-91. Allen's letters andreports are 

in N.A., D.A., F.S., Gen. Corr., E. T.Allen, and Allen, E. T., Miss.. Corr., dr. 58/420. 

5. Allen's reports and correspondenceare in N.A., D.A., F.S., Insp. Corr., Allen, E. T.1906-07, dr. 

26/209, and Insp. Corr., Dist. 6, 1907, dr. 23/706. Hewrote a brief account of his work in 

"California's Forest Policy,"Forest and Irrigation, XI:7 (July, 1905), 370-371. TheFirst Biennial 

Report of the State Forester of California(Sacremento, 1906), has some information on Allen's 

work. The LosAngeles Times, June 28, 1906, has information on Luken'sremonstrance. 

6. Practically speaking, Allen's workwas concentrated in Washington and Oregon. Alaska was 

pretty well leftto local supervisors and rangers. 

7. Memorandum April 25 1908, inN.A., D.A., F.S., Insp. Corr., 1908, Dist. 6, dr.211/70. 

8. Gifford Pinchot to Fred Ames, inibid., Insp. Corr., Ames, F. E., Feb. 18, 1907. 

9. E. T. Allen to James Adams inibid., Insp. Corr., Allen, E. T., 1906-07, dr 26/709. 

10. Described by John Kirkpatrick, aranger who worked under him for many years, as "an 

eccentric man, but anamiable, kindly disposed gentleman, absolutely honest and loyal to 

thosewhom he felt were honest and deserving" (The Six-Twenty-Six,VIII:1 November, 1924). 

11. E. T. Allen to the Forester,September 14, 1907, in N.A., D.A., N.F., Insp. Corr., Allen, E. 

T.,1906-07, dr. 26/709. Fred Ames in his inspection report praisesAnderson's work, (ibid., Insp. 

Corr., District 6, Cascade-Whitman,1908); and T. T. Munger has confirmed these statements in 

aninterview. 

12. W. T. Cox, Insp. Report, Olympic,March, 1906, in N.A., D.A., N.F., District 6, Olympic-

Washington,1905-1908, dr. 93/776. The Ranger, VII:1 (April, 1932),6. 

13. The Ranger, II:1 (April,1926). 

14. The Ranger VII:1 (April,1932). 



15. E. T. Allen to the Forester,November 15, 1907, in N.A., D.A., N.F., Insp. Corr., Allen E. 

T.,1906-07, dr. 26/709. 

16. Ibid., Allen Corr., 1908, dr.25. 

17. Although Pinchot in hisautobiography takes credit for the idea, the real originator of theplan 

was apparently F. E. Olmsted. Allen traveled with Secretary ofAgriculture James E. Wilson on 

his tour of the West in 1907. Writing toAssistant Forester Overton Price, be said, "In short, his 

[Wilson's] ownidea seemed, as I said before, without my suggestion, almost exactly thedistrict 

forester scheme proposed by Olmsted long ago. He says it isunreasonable to pay me $2700 and 

then have important matters go toWashington, where since the Forester is too busy to go into 

detail, theyare controlled by men paid less and therefore not so competent. If theyare more 

competent than the Chief Inspector he says they ought to be outhere in our places. He says it is 

absurd to have us here at all if wecannot give direct orders to the supervisors when orders are 

needed."Gifford Pinchot papers, Pers. Subj., Forest Service, 01-07, box1920, Library of 

Congress. 

18. N.A., D.A., F.S., Allen Corr.,1908, dr. 25. 

19. Reprinted in The Ranger,VI:3 (April, 1929). 

20. The Ranger, VII:3 (April1929). The Office of Information an Education, Region 6 

(Portland,Oregon) has a file of biographical information on most of the men.Scattered references 

are also found in the regional newsletters, TheRanger and The Six-Twenty-Six. 

21. Ibid. 

22. One example of such ingenuity,shown by a ranger in the Cascade forest, deserves special 

mention. Ithas to do with whiskey. 

"Your expense account Certificate 112 is returned.Item 1, quart of whiskey, is rather unusual, 

and your explanation isnoted. Please submit on a separate expense account the items 

potassiumpermanganate and 1 quart of whiskey, together with the explanation givenin the 

returned voucher. I would also support this account containingthe above items by letter stating 

that the whiskey will be kept in theSupervisor's office for future medicinal use with fire fighters 

ortemporary laborers. I desire these items to be submitted separately sothat the account may be 

forwarded the Washington Office for advice. Thepurchase of whiskey as medicine establishes a 

precedent which theWashington office must rule on before payment. The remainder of theitems 

may be submitted in some future account." 

Now for the reason: 

"There was a fire in arattle-snake-infested part of the district. Word was broughtto me about 

12:00 p.m. I needed a few men and the only ones in evidencein the village were the few still with 

their feet on the rail and theirelbows on the bar. They steadfastly and profanely refused to help 

mewith my fire unless I carried along a supply of snake bite medicine. Ithink I could have gotten 



by with the account but for onething—after the fire, there was no whiskey to be "kept in 

theSupervisor's office for future medicinal" or any ether use. (It wasgood stuff, and only cost 

$1.50 per quart.) Nobody was snake bit.We got the fire out." (P. A. Thimpson, Cascade.) 

23. E. T. Allen, "Ranger Young WildOn the Fire Line, or Lariat Laura's Fatal Form," 

in AmericanForestry XX:7 (July, 1914), 496-8. 

24. E. T. Allen to theForester, November 15, 1909, in N.A., D.A.,F.S., Chief's Corr. 

25. The case on which Allen spentmost of his attention is mentioned in a letter of Lee Harris to 

Allen,in ibid., Correspondence, E. T. Allen, dr. 25. On at least two occasionsPinchot issued 

letters reprimanding technical foresters in the districtwho had been undiplomatic in their 

relations with field men. 

26. There is much correspondence onthe subject in Ibid., Insp. Corr., Allen, E. T. 1906-07, dr. 

26/709and Insp. Corr., Dist. 6, dr. 23/70. 

27. No information has been found onthe background of the action. Pinchot did have permission 

of the legaldivision of the Department of Agriculture, though the action was ofdoubtful legality. 

28. E. T. Allen to the Forester,(n.d.) 1908, in N.A., D.A., F.S. Allen, 1908 Corr.,dr. 25. 

29. Francis G. Miller, "How theCollege of Forestry was established at the University of 

Washington," inUniversity of Washington Forest Club Quarterly, IV:3 ( November,1925), 27-33. 

30. Similar short courses werestarted in Montana, Colorado, and other Western states. 

31. Allen to the Forester, October 16and 29, 1908; Allen to F. G. Miller, October 29, 1908; A. H. 

Potter toAllen, November 4, 1908, in N.A., D.A., F.S., Insp.Corr., District 6, 1908, dr. 24/70. 

32. Memorandum, (n.d.) 1908, inibid., Insp. Corr., dr. 25. 

33. C. S. Chapman to DistrictForester, December 10, 1910, in ibid., Silviculture-Supervision, 

R.6, 1908-16, dr. 3/291. 

34. Francis G. Miller, op.cit., 29; Pinchot, op. cit., 458. 

35. Thomas Kane to Secretary Wilson,January 5, 1911; E. T. Allen to Wilson, January 7, 1911; 

Wilson to Kane,January 27, 1911, in N.A., D. A., F.S.,Silviculture-Cooperation, 1908-16, dr. 

3/291. 

36. A. Potter to District Forester,November 10, 1911, in ibid. 

37. W. T. Andrews, "Introduction ofthe Practical Teaching of Logging, Engineering, and 

Lumber Manufactureat the University of Washington, in University of Washington Forest 

ClubQuarterly, IV:3 (Nov., 1925), 34-7. 



38. Iso., op. cit., 169,172-4; Cameron, op. cit., 332-5; Pinchot, op.cit., 268-73. 

39. The situation is still true. Charles McKinleywrote in 1952, "Interestingly enough the state 

associations are notalways in full harmony with the actions of the national conventions andtheir 

officials. Yet the voice heard in Congress concerning the fee andthe subsequent appropriation 

controversy was the voice of the two bignational groups." He goes on to remark on the 

opposition to givingfederal range land to the states by stockmen in the Pacific Northwest.Charles 

McKinley, Uncle Sam in the Pacific Northwest (New York,1952), 264, 266. 

40. Report of M. L. Erickson, 1906,in N.A., D.A., F.S., Insp. Corr., Dist. 6, Cascade(W)—

Imnaha, dr. 92/775. 

41. Ulrich E. Fries, FromCopenhagen to Okanagan (Caldwell, 1949), 391. 

42. Report of Howard O'Brien, 1907,in N.A., D.A., F.S., Grazing Allowances, Reg. 6.,1908-12, 

dr. 2/106. 

43. Ibid., Grazing Corr., Region 6,1907-12, 1/149. 

44. M. L. Erickson to CorneliusFinacune, March, 1907; C. W. Fulton to Gifford Pinchot, August 

17, 1907,in bid., Insp. Corr., Allen, 1907, dr. 27. 

45. H. A. Sylvester, Report, inibid., Grazing Allowances, Region 6, 1908-12, dr. 5/109. 

46. Fred Ames to the Forester, March29, 1912; Albert Potter to Ames, April 8, 1912, in ibid., 

Reg.G-15. 

47. Guy Ingram, "Grazing Report"1908, in ibid., Grazing Allowances, Region 6, 1908-12, dr. 

2/106;M. L. Erickson, "Grazing Report," in ibid., Insp. Corr., 1908, dr.778/95. 

48. Cy Bingham, "Annual GrazingReport, 1909, Malheur," in ibid., Grazing Allowances, D6, 

1908-12,dr. 3/107. 

49. George Cecil to the Forester,August 15, 1912, in ibid., Grazing-Supervision, Region 6, 1908-

12,dr. 1/238. 

50. Fred Ames to the Forester,November 3, 1911; L. F. Kneipp to Ames, November 9, 1911, 

in ibid.There are many examples of such requests scattered through the grazingcorrespondence. 

51. E. T. Allen to the Forester,January 30, 1908, in ibid., Allen Corr., dr, 25. 

52. Rodgers, op. cit., 408. 

53. Oregonian, January 4 and5, 1911. 



54. Oregonian, January 6, 7,8 and 9, 1911. C. S. Chapman to the Forester, January 11, 1911; 

HenryGraves to C. S. Chapman, January 17, 1911 in N.A., D.A.,F.S., Grazing Supervision, 

Region 6, dr. 1/238. 

55. Washington Hatchet, I:4April, 1912. 

56. Minutes of Dist. CommitteeMeeting, April 2, 1912, in N.A., D.A., F.S.,Operations File, 

Region 6, dr. 183. 

57. The Six-Twenty-Six,VI:1 (November, 1922). 

58. The Crater Ranger, April,1911; The Deschutes Ranger, I:4 (August, 1914). 

59. N.A., D.A.,F.S., Operations File, District 6, dr. 183/172. 

60. Diary of John Kirkpatrick, inibid., Ranger's Diaries. 

61. N A., D.A.,F.S., Fire Control Correspondence, 1909-35; F—Cooperation;Acc, 1124, dr 35. 

The agreements with Railroads, to judge from inspectionreports, were well kept. 

62. The Six-Twenty-Six, III:10(August, 1917); American Forestry, XX:7 (July, 1914), 498. 

63. N.A., D A.,F.S., Fire Control Corr., 1909-17; Co-operation, Reg. 5-6,Acc1124, dr. 41. 

64. Ibid., E. T. Allen, Box 25. 

65. Ibid., F. S. Timber Sales1908-30, Gen., R. 6. 

66. Ibid. 

67. "The Conduct of Timber Sales," byF. E. Ames, in ibid., Research Compilation Files, 

National Forests, Reg.5 and 6, dr. 135, 

68. Ibid. 

69. N.A., D.A.,F.S., I—Information, Hist. Info., box 44. 

70. Overton Price to E. T. Allen,Aug. 18, 1908, in ibid., E. T. Allen Corr., dr. 25; interview with 

T. T.Munger. 

71. Rodgers, op. cit., 471. 

72. N.A., D.AF.S., Res. Compilation Files, dr. 378. 

73. T. T. Munger, "Report on theProposed Wind River Experiment Station, March 4, 1912," 

inibid. 



74. Munger interviev. 

75. Cameron, op. cit., 249. 

76. John B. Waldo to Gifford Pinchot,May 26, 1906, in N.A., D.A., F.S., Pinchot Records,Agri. 

Lands-Conservation Charges. 

77. John B. Waldo to GiffordPinchot, March 27, 1906, in ibid.; Oregonian, March 25,1906. 

78. Darrel H. Smith, The ForestService: Its History, Activities and Organization, 

(Washington,1930), 40. 

79. N.A., D.A.,F.S., Insp. Corr., Allen E. T., 1907, dr. 27/710. 

80. N.A., D A., F.S.,Research Compilation Files, National Forests, Reg. 5 and 6, dr135. 

81. Report of E. T. Allen, February14, 1907, in ibid., Insp. Corr., Allen, E. T., Olympic-

Washington,1905-08, dr. 93; Allen to the Forester, June 15 and August 14,1907, and Report of 

George Milham, November 5, 1907, in ibid., Insp.Corr., Allen, E. T., 1907, dr. 27/710. 

82. R. E. Benedict to Overton Price,Sept. 9, 1909, in ibid., Chief's Corr., 14-W-3, Row 7, dr. 

121. 

83. Ibid., Operations File, District6, Supervision, 1912-13, ace, 766, dr. 330/419. 

84. Cameron, op. cit., 282. By the1906 ruling the rvisor was generally accepted. 

85. Solicitor's memorandum to theSecretary of Agriculture, in N.A., D.A.,F.S., Lands, Timber 

Fraud Claims, dr. 40. 

86. Ibid. 

87. There were a large number ofother claims protested in this area, and invalidated during this 

time.Some of the examiners had exciting experiences; one, for example, wasinvited to dinner by 

a timber locator, and had "Rough-On-Rats"given him in his coffee. See Alford L. Thayer, "The 

FraudulentHomesteader," in Forestry and Irrigation, XIV:11 (November,1908), 579-84. 

88. Henry Graves, "Timber Frauds inthe National Forests," in N.A., D.A., F.S., TimberFraud 

Claims, dr. 40. In the same collection Public Land Papers, dr 42and 44, and Homestead Claims, 

dr. 27, contain much material, including acollection of extremely convincing photographs of 

homestead claim takenup for timber. 

89. Interview with T. T. Munger. 

 



 

Chapter 8 
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